
 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday, 7 July 2015 
3.00 pm 
Civic Suite, Committee room 2 
Lewisham Town Hall 
London SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact:  Andy Thomas (Tel: 020 8314 9996) 
 
This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio recorded 
and/or filmed. 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of last meeting and matters arising / Action Tracker 

 
1 - 6 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

7 - 9 

3.   South East London Consolidated Strategy: Our Healthier South East 
London 
 

10 - 33 

4.   Adult Integrated Care Programme, Better Care Fund and Joint 
Commissioning 
 

34 - 43 

5.   Behaviour Change through Brief Interventions 
 

44 - 51 

6.   Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme 
 

52 - 58 

7.   Information items 
 
A. Health and Wellbeing Strategy Performance Dashboard Update 
B. Healthwatch Annual Report 2014/15 
C. Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 
Report 
D. An update on the NHS Health Checks Programme in Lewisham 
E. Lewisham’s Approach to tackling Female Genital Mutilation 
F. The Lewisham Dementia Action Plan and Integrated Care Pathway 
 

59 - 162 

8.   Any other business 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

Members 
 
 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Tuesday, 7 July 2015.   
 
Barry Quirk, Chief Executive 
Monday, 29 June 2015 
 
  

Mayor Sir Steve Bullock (Chair) London Borough of Lewisham 

Councillor Chris Best Community Services, London Borough of 
Lewisham 

Aileen Buckton Directorate for Community Services, 
London Borough of Lewisham 

Elizabeth Butler Lewisham & Greenwich Healthcare NHS 
Trust 

Jane Clegg NHS England South London Area 

Tony Nickson Voluntary Action Lewisham 

Dr Simon Parton Lewisham Local Medical Committee 

Peter Ramrayka Voluntary and Community Sector 

Marc Rowland (Vice-Chair) Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group 

Dr Danny Ruta Public Health, London Borough of 
Lewisham 

Brendan Sarsfield Family Mosaic 

Frankie Sulke Directorate for Children and Young People 

  



MINUTES OF THE  

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
Tuesday, 19 May 2015 at 3.00 pm 

 
ATTENDANCE 
 
PRESENT: Dr Marc Rowland (Chair of Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Vice-Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board, and Acting Chair for the meeting), Cllr 
Chris Best (Cabinet Member for Community Services), Aileen Buckton (Executive 
Director for Community Services, LBL), Elizabeth Butler (Chair, Lewisham and 
Greenwich NHS Trust), Jane Clegg (Director of Nursing, South London, NHS 
England), Dr Simon Parton (Chair of Lewisham Local Medical Committee), 
Rosemarie Ramsay (Healthwatch Lewisham), Dr Danny Ruta (Director of Public 
Health, LBL), Tony Nickson (Director, Voluntary Action Lewisham), Peter Ramrayka 
(Voluntary and Community Sector representative).  

 
IN ATTENDANCE: Carmel Langstaff (Service Manager, Strategy and Policy, 
Community Services, LBL), Catherine Bunten (Policy Manager, Commissioning, 
Performance & Strategy, Children and Young People, LBL), Warwick Tomsett (Head 
of Commissioning, Performance & Strategy Resources, Children and Young People), 
Sarah Wainer (Head of Service, Strategy, Improvement and Partnerships, 
Community Services, LBL), Martin Wilkinson (Chief Officer, CCG), and Kalyan 
DasGupta (Clerk to the Board, LBL). 
 
APOLOGIES: Apologies were received from Mayor Sir Steve Bullock (Chair), 
Brendan Sarsfield (Family Mosaic), and Frankie Sulke (Executive Director for 
Children and Young People, LBL). 
 
 
Welcome and Introductions 
 
The Acting Chair, Dr Marc Rowland,   welcomed everyone and conveyed the Chair’s 
apologies for being unable to attend because of a prior engagement. 
 
 
1. Minutes of the last meeting and matters arising 

 
1.1 The minutes of the last meeting (24 March 2015) were agreed as an 
 accurate record. 

 
1.2 There were no matters arising. 
 
1.3 Action Tracker 

 
  The following actions were agreed: 

•  No 6 (Primary Care Development Strategy): Martin Wilkinson will discuss with 
Marc Rowland about the proposed model for Primary Care and feed back at 7 
July HWB. 

 

• No 7 (Board’s vision/blueprint for whole health and care system): Closed. 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



 

• No 9 (HWB Work Programme – JSNA priorities): Closed. 
 

• Nos 10 and 11 (technical actions for Kalyan DasGupta--draft agenda 
circulation and links into PDFs): Closed. 

 
 

2. Declarations of Interest 
 

 There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 
3. Adult  Integrated Care Programme, Better Care Fund and Draft Joint 

Commissioning Intentions (Sarah Wainer) 
 
3.1 Sarah Wainer (Head of Service, Strategy, Improvement and Partnerships, 

Community Services, LBL) provided members with an update on Lewisham’s 
Adult Integrated Care Programme, the Better Care Fund and the Joint 
Commissioning Intentions for Integrated Care. 

 
3.2 With respect to “Patient Experience” (Sections 6.2-6.4 of the submitted report), 

Dr Simon Parton stressed the importance of encouraging the public to regard 
GPs as a valuable asset and resort rather than as a default option. 

 
3.3 The Board: 
 

• Noted the update provided on the Adult Integration Care Programme; 
 

• Approved the process for approving the Better Care Fund quarterly return and 
noted the progress on the establishment of pooled budget arrangements 
(Section 75) for the Better Care Fund plan; 

 

• Noted the findings of the joint public engagement exercise and the draft 
Commissioners response on the impact on the joint commissioning plans for 
integrated care. 

 

• Agreed that the draft template should be circulated to the full Board 
concurrently with the Chair and Vice-Chair, for possible comments from 
members. 

 

• Agreed that the final version should be signed by the Chair and Vice-Chair 
and circulated to the Board later. 

 

• Agreed that Martin Wilkinson should feed back to the 7 July 2015 HWB a 
progress report, focusing on some key messages from the planned 
engagement exercise. (The Board also noted that the co-ordination of data is 
already underway under the direction of the AICPB and that CYP’s work is 
progressing via Customer Services.) 

 

• Agreed that the HWB should publish the data in the interests of transparency. 
 

Page 2



• Agreed to consider the CCG Operating Plan as an Information item. Charles 
Malcolm-Smith to confirm whether the item will feature in July or in September 
2015. 

 
 
4. Key Messages from  the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and 

Engagement Process for Selection of Topics for 2015-16 (Dr Danny Ruta) 
 
4.1 Dr Danny Ruta (Director of Public Health, LBL) provided an overview of the 

health of the population of Lewisham and key challenges to inform the Health 
and Wellbeing Board and the Strategy. Additionally, he described the process 
for engaging stakeholders and the wider community in the selection and 
production of needs assessment topics for the JSNA. 

 
4.2 The following points were highlighted: 
 

• Lewisham continues to face notable health challenges. With a fast-growing 
population, these issues need to continue to be addressed through the Health 
and Wellbeing Board and its Strategy. 

 

• The proposed process for engaging stakeholders and the wider community in 
selecting and prioritising JSNA topics for future needs assessments will 
ensure that the process is systematic and improved and overseen by the 
Health And Wellbeing Implementation Group, which is accountable to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. 

  
4.3 The following issues were raised or highlighted in the discussion: 
 

• Radical action may be needed to address the inequality and needs, linked to 
poverty, of Lewisham’s Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) population, 
especially regarding their mental health needs. 

 

• Communication, through community engagement at neighbourhood level (e.g. 
through the Neighbourhood Care Network), is key to addressing the 
community’s health and wellbeing needs. 

 

• In key areas of risk, preventive measures should be implemented, especially 
targeted at children vulnerable to toxic stress, smoking, etc. Low birthweight 
among BAME babies is also an important area to address. 

 

• Tony Nickson raised the issue of addressing the potential impact of impending 
service cuts on patients with long-term conditions. 

 
4.4 The Board: 
 

• Agreed the proposed process for engaging stakeholders and the wider 
community in the selection and production of needs assessment topics for the 
JSNA. 

 

Page 3



• Agreed to refer the data on the impact of impending cuts to patients with Long-
Term Conditions to the Advice Consortium, which has already started to 
collect data. 

 

• Thanked the writer and presenter for the report. 
 
 
5. Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-18: Engagement Process 

Progress Update (Warwick Tomsett/Catherine Bunten) 
 
5.1 Warwick Tomsett (Head of Commissioning, Performance & Strategy 

Resources, Children and Young People) and Catherine Bunten (Policy 
Manager, Commissioning, Performance & Strategy, Children and Young 
People, LBL) provided the Board with an update on the development of the 
Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-2018 (CYPP) and informed the Board 
of the timetable for publication. 

 
5.2 The following points were highlighted: 
 

• Children’s carers should be encouraged to take responsibility for the health 
of the children and to access GPs in a correspondingly responsible way. 

 

• Pre-birth early intervention should be used for babies at risk of low birth-
weight. 

 

• Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) should also be 
used as an early intervention tool. Headstart is designed for such 
interventions. 

 
5.3 The Board noted the contents of the report. 
 
 
6. Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme (Carmel Langstaff) 
 
6.1 Carmel Langstaff (Service Manager, Strategy and Policy, Community 
 Services, LBL) presented the draft work programme for discussion and 
 approval. 
 
6.2  The following issues were raised or highlighted in the discussion: 
 

• Elizabeth Butler proposed that the Greenwich and Lewisham NHS Trust 
should feed into the planned collaborative reports rather than producing 
separate ones of its own. 

 

• There was a request to defer the CCG operating plan to September. 
 
 
6.4 The Board: 
 

Page 4



• Agreed that the frequency of exception reporting on the HWB Strategy 
performance dashboard should be considered when the HWB Strategy is 
refreshed. 

 

• Agreed to a CCG update on plans developed in response to the 
engagement activity re: the joint commissioning intentions. 

 

• Agreed that the AICP update in September should focus on the 
neighbourhood community care model. 

 

• Agreed to consider a paper on approaches to tackling FGM as an 
information item. 

 

• Agreed that the Action Plan following the dementia event should be 
presented to the Board. 

 

• Agreed that the following items could be included in the work programme: 

- The South East London Strategy 
- Healthwatch update (this could be an information item) 
- Feedback from the second Quality Summit. 

 
7. Information items 
 
7.1 The items were noted. 
 
8. Any Other Business 
 
8.1 There was no other business. 
  
 
The meeting ended at 16:00 hrs. 

Page 5



 

 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD ACTION TRACKER                                      7 July 2015 Update 
 

# MEETING 

REF 

ACTION LEAD/OWNER ASSIGNED 

TO 

DUE DATE 

 

STATUS 

1 3 July 2014 Housing and Health in Lewisham 
 
Martin Wilkinson to explore the case for 
investment further with Genevieve 
Macklin.  
 

Martin Wilkinson Martin Wilkinson 
/ Genevieve 
Macklin 

TBC CLOSED: 
Agreed that this area  
should be considered as 
part of the Adult 
Integrated Care 
Programme and the 
allocation of Winter 
Pressures resources. 
 

2 20 January 
2015 

Primary Care Development Strategy 
 
The Chair, on behalf of the Board, to 
write to GPs in support of the proposed 
model for Primary Care. 
 

The Chair TBC TBC Martin Wilkinson to 
discuss with Marc 
Rowland and feedback 
at 7 July HWB meeting. 

3 20 January 
2015 

Whole System 
 
The Board to develop a vision / blueprint 
for the whole health and care system. 
 

TBC TBC TBC CLOSED: 
Following the completion 
of the Adult Integrated 
Care Programme refresh 
in July, the programme 
board will consider this 
as a priority.  
 

4 24 March 
2015 

St Mungo’s Broadway’s Charter for 
Homeless Health 
 
Lewisham should aspire to creating a 
bespoke joint strategic needs 
assessment model for Homelessness.  

Danny Ruta Danny Ruta  CLOSED: 
The suggestion of 
including homelessness 
in the JSNA will be 
considered alongside the 
other priorities that are 
proposed.  
 

 

P
age 6



Health and Wellbeing Board 

Title Declarations of interest 

Contributor Chief Executive – London Borough of Lewisham Item 2 

Class Part 1 (open) 7 July 2015 

 
Declaration of interests 
 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda. 
 
1 Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member Code 
of Conduct:-  

 
(1)  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2)  Other registerable interests 
(3)  Non-registerable interests 

 
2 Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 
(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or gain 
 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than by the 

Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the register in 
respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member or towards 
your election expenses (including payment or financial benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c)  Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they are a 

partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which 
they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, services or works. 

 
(d)  Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 
(e)  Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f)   Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the Council 

is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a partner, a body 
corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which they have a 
beneficial interest.   

 
(g)   Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:- 
 

(a)  that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in the 
borough; and  

 
 (b)  either 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 

 

Agenda Item 2

Page 7



 (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person* 
has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued share capital of 
that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom 
they live as spouse or civil partner.  

 
(3)  Other registerable interests 

 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 

were appointed or nominated by the Council 
 

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 
purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion 
or policy, including any political party 

 
(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 

estimated value of at least £25 
 
(4) Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely to 
affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more than it 
would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is not 
required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

 
(5)  Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation 

 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 

present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any event 
before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest the 
member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw from 
the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to influence 
the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest which has not 
already been entered in the Register of Members’ Interests, or 
participation where such an interest exists, is liable to prosecution and 
on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the interest to the 
meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is 
considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in consideration of the 
matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below applies. 
 

Page 8



(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a reasonable member 
of the public in possession of the facts would think that their interest is so 
significant that it would be likely to impair the member’s judgement of the 
public interest. If so, the member must withdraw and take no part in 
consideration of the matter nor seek to influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a member, 

their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect those in the 
local area generally, then the provisions relating to the declarations of 
interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s personal 

judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
(6)   Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not be 
registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and advised to 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

  
(7) Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. 
These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 

relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 
(b)  School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 

or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the 
matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are 
a governor;  

(c)   Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d)   Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e)  Ceremonial honours for members 
(f)   Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 

 
 

Page 9



 

 
 
1. Purpose 
 
Our Healthier South East London is the five year commissioning strategy 
which aims to improve health, reduce health inequalities and ensure all health 
services in south east London meet safety and quality standards consistently 
whilst being sustainable in the longer term.  
 
The Board received an early draft of the strategy in July 2014 and a progress 
report at its January meeting. The Board will receive a presentation on the 
consolidated strategy, which builds on the earlier draft and reflects the work 
undertaken since then. While this is still a work in progress: 

• There is a case for change, which has been widely tested;  

• Clinical models and a whole system model have been developed with 
wide clinical engagement, but will continue to be developed and refined; 

• There has been work to identify the outcomes which the strategy will 
deliver, but there  is more to do to establish the indicators, baselines and 
the scale of ambition; 

• There is a first assessment of the impact on activity and finance, 
developed through the Clinical Leadership Groups. This is currently 
being tested with providers and other partners and stakeholders and will 
be amended through that process, but provides a good foundation for 
further work. 

 
2. Recommendation/s 
 
Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are invited to: 
 
2.1 Review and comment on the direction of travel set out in the 

consolidated strategy as the appropriate basis for progressing to 
implementation 

 
2.2 Review and comment on the next steps for implementing the strategy 
 
2.3  Note that the consolidated strategy is a work in progress and will 

continue to be developed throughout the duration of the programme 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Report Title 
 

Our Healthier South East London Consolidated Strategy 

Contributors 
 

Chief Officer, Corporate Director, & 
Deputy Director (Strategy & 
Organisational Development), NHS 
Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group 

Item No. 3 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date:  7 July 2015 

Agenda Item 3

Page 10



3. Policy Context 
 
The NHS England strategic and operational planning guidance. ‘Everyone 
Counts: Planning for Patients: 2014/15-2018/19’ sets out a framework within 
which commissioners will need to work with providers and partners in local 
government to develop strong, robust and ambitious five year plans to secure 
the continuity of sustainable high quality care for all. 
 
While each CCG is accountable for developing a Strategic, Operational and 
Financial plan, they may also choose to join with neighbouring CCGs in a 
larger ‘Unit of Planning’ to aggregate plans, ensure that the strategies align in 
a holistic way and maximise the value for money from the planning resources 
and support at their disposal.  
 
The NHS ‘Five Year Forward View’ was published in October 2014.  It 
includes a vision for a better NHS (‘a new relationship with patients and 
communities’), the steps to be taken to get there (‘new models of care’), and 
the actions needed. 
 
4.   The Purpose of the Consolidated Strategy 
 
In order to progress towards implementation it is necessary to produce, and 
agree, a single strategy that clearly articulates a shared vision for health and 
care in south east London and the impact that the strategy will have in 
meeting our challenges. An agreed strategy will:  
 

• Set out the case for change and challenges facing south east London 

• Establish a single, agreed, version of our shared vision and plans in 
south east London 

• Provide the care model designs that we want to implement and the 
impacts we expect them to have on 

o the health and care outcomes of the people in south east 
London and  

o the sustainability of the whole health and care economy of south 
east London  

 
The consolidated strategy will bring together the work completed to date. It 
has developed significantly since July 2014 and brings together the proposed 
initiatives for each clinical model and their potential impact, but it remains a 
work in progress and is under review by a wide range of stakeholders, so will 
be revised over the next few months as each model continues to mature.  

Page 11



 
5. How the consolidated strategy has been developed 
 
The consolidated strategy has been developed by the six Clinical 
Commissioning Groups across South East London, working with 
commissioning colleagues from NHS England and in partnership with local 
authorities, NHS providers, patients, local people and other key stakeholders.  
 
Previous updates that the Board have received have demonstrated that the 
strategic priorities are aligned with the Lewisham CCG strategy, based on the 
needs of our population identified in joint strategic needs assessment.  The 
strategy complements and builds on local work with the particular focus on 
those areas where improvement can only be delivered by collective action or 
where there is added value from working together. 
 
Background to developing the clinical models 
 
Our approach to addressing health issues and the way health services are 
delivered has to change in order to meet the emerging needs of an ageing 
population in which many more people live with long term conditions and the 
key health challenges, including smoking alcohol and obesity. This means 
that more resources must be directed towards prevention, early intervention 
and services based in the community, keeping people out of hospital unless 
they really need to be there. 
 
Commissioners have already made progress on improving care outside the 
hospital in south east London, and the strategy aims to build on that by 
delivering better integrated care.  
 
Six priorities for local healthcare were identified for improvement: 

• Community based care 
• Planned care 
• Urgent and emergency care 
• Maternity 
• Children and young people 
• Cancer 

 
For each priority a Clinical Leadership Group (CLG) was established. Each of 
these groups includes clinicians, commissioners, social care leads and other 
experts, Healthwatch representatives and other patient and public voices from 
across south east London. Each of these groups has identified potential ways 
we can change the system in order to improve health outcomes and the 
potential impact that these new models can have.  
 
Programme governance and decision-making 
 
The development of the document has been overseen by the Clinical 
Commissioning Board (CCB), reporting to the Clinical Strategy Committee of 
the six CCGs. The CCB has in turn been supported by a Partnership Group, 
bringing together local authorities, NHS providers and other partners including 

Page 12



public and patient voices. Clinical leadership from CCGs, providers and local 
authorities has been provided by the Clinical Executive Group and Clinical 
Leadership Groups. 
 
6. Who has been involved in shaping the strategy 
 
Our approach to developing the strategy has been strongly focused around 
communicating and engaging and commissioners have designed and 
developed the strategy with partners, patients and local people and key 
stakeholders, with thinking and planning being developed and amended 
through the engagement process.  
 
The development of the strategy is clinically-led and developed, with over 300 
clinicians, nurses, allied health professionals, social care staff, commissioners 
and others developing ideas through the six CLGs.  
 
7. How the consolidated strategy document is structured 
 
The strategy is set out over a number of sections, which are summarised 
below:  
 

• Background and introduction: sets out the purpose of the strategy, 
background to health and care services in south east London and a 
summary of how stakeholders have been involved in developing the 
strategy 

• Case for change: a summary of the detailed case for change setting 
out the challenges facing health and care services in SEL 

• Vision and proposed model of care: This is the main section of the 
strategy and sets out the work of the CLGs in addressing the case for 
change in each of the priority areas set out above.   

• Benefits and impacts: The outcomes that the strategy aims to deliver 
and the activity and finance impacts of the new models of care 
developed by CLGs.  

• Delivering our vision: Overview of the supporting strategies that will 
enable delivery of the future vision for health and care services in south 
east London  

 
8. Approval process and mechanisms for incorporating feedback 
 
The approval process for the strategy is summarised below. The aim is for it 
to be approved in August by the Clinical Strategy Committee or, if established, 
the proposed Committee In Common (CIC). Feedback will be collected 
throughout the process from each group with two main iterations:  
 

• To incorporate feedback from the programme governance groups 
before submission to Governing Bodies, Trust Boards and other 
stakeholder groups  

• Comments from Governing Bodies and others to be incorporated and, 
subject to no major changes being required 

• Final approval by the CSC/CIC in August  

Page 13



 
9. Financial implications 

 
The strategic plans reflects the financial plan and savings required to deliver a 
financially balanced position for health over the five year period. 
 
10. Legal implications 

 
Members of the Board are reminded that under Section 195 Health and Social 
Care Act 2012, health and wellbeing boards are under a duty to encourage 
integrated working between the persons who arrange for health and social 
care services in the area.  This is recognised in the strategic priorities 
identified in the development process. 
 
11. Crime and Disorder Implications 

 
There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 

 
12. Equalities Implications 

 
In order to ensure that the strategy is informed by the diverse population in 
south east London and to enable full understanding of the potential impact on 
communities with protected characteristics (as well as complying with the 
Equalities act 2010), carers and, the socially and economically deprived, 
equalities analyses will be conducted throughout the programme.  
 
An initial equalities impact assessment was carried out at the beginning of the 
programme. Building on this, the programme has commissioned a second 
equalities analysis to be conducted in June 2015 and to influence the focus of 
pre-consultation engagement work (if consultation goes ahead). 
  
14. Environmental Implications 

 
There are no environmental implications arising from this report. 
 
Background Documents 
 
Our Healthier South East London www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk  including an 
overview of the challenges and initial ideas contained in the programme’s 
issues paper: http://www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk/about-us/issues-paper.htm  
 
If there are any queries on this report please contact Charles Malcolm-Smith, 
Deputy Director (Strategy & Organisational Development), NHS Lewisham 
Clinical Commissioning Group at: charles.malcolm-smith@nhs.net  
 
Appendix 1: Our Healthier South East London Strategy 

Page 14



Help us improve 
your local NHS

This paper sets out a range of issues facing the NHS in south east 
London. It is not a public consultation document, but shares some 
of our initial ideas to improve the local NHS. We are encouraging 
local people to share their thoughts and consider the questions we 
have set out.

Issues Paper

Tell us  
YOUR 
views

Page 15



This paper sets out a range of issues faced by the NHS in south east London. 

We are developing plans to tackle these issues over the next five years. 

Some of the improvements can be made locally in each borough; some 

need us to work together across south east London. This ‘Issues Paper’ sets 

out the challenges and some of our initial ideas. We would welcome your 

views on it.

What are the challenges? P4

What are we trying to achieve? P16

What changes might be made by the local NHS? P20

How can we best reach you? P35

What happens next and how can you get involved? P35

We have some very good health services in 

south east London. People are living longer and 

many people are healthier than ever before. But 

there are some things we need to improve on. 

access. Some people do not get the help they 

need to keep themselves and their families in 

good health.

So the six south east London NHS clinical 

commissioning groups (CCGs) – Bexley, Bromley, 

Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark 

– and the health commissioners from NHS 

England (London) are working together with 

local councils, hospitals, mental health, primary 

and community care services, the six borough 

Healthwatch organisations, local people and 

for the local NHS is now called “Our Healthier 

South East London”. We are seeking to address 

a number of challenges, many of them common 

London. 

This is likely to mean that the way in which 

some health services are delivered will change, 

with more care delivered in community settings 

outside hospital and a greater focus on helping 

people to stay well, making services more joined 

up and making sure that everyone gets the care 

and outcomes they expect from their NHS.

Our thinking is very much in line with the 

NHS Five Year Forward View, published by 

NHS England in October, which starts the 

move towards a different NHS and is covered 

in section 2 of this paper. We are also fully 

supportive of the London Health Commission, 

also covered in section 2 of this paper, and its 

recommendations to improve the health of 

Londoners.

This discussion paper sets out some of the 

challenges we are facing and why we think 

we need to change things. It is not a public 

consultation document, but we would welcome 

your views on the questions we have raised and 

any feedback you have on our current thinking. 

You do not have to respond to all of the questions 

– and if you have questions or comments you 

would like to raise, please do so. You can use 

the contact details on page 35 to respond to this 

paper. Your feedback will be used to shape our 

strategy as it continues to develop. 

3

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

2

P
age 16



Premature death and differences in life expectancy 

is a difference in life expectancy between the wards 

of 11.8 years for women and 11.4 years for men 

(data for years 2008-2012). Serious mental illness also 

reduces a person’s life expectancy by 15-20 years.

About 11,000 people died prematurely across south 

east London between 2009 and 2011, with four of 

our boroughs being classed in the worst category for 

premature death in England. The biggest causes of 

early death are heart disease, cancer and respiratory 

diseases. 

While the mortality rates for these illnesses have 

are still considerably higher than the London average. 

To address this problem, we need to improve the 

health of people who live in south east London. 

Keeping well is critically important for people of all 

ages. Although the UK’s health delivery system – the 

NHS and social care services – is widely regarded 

as among the best in the world, the health of our 

population is poor and worse than comparable 

countries. 

 

The case for change

11.4 11.8

1
What are the
challenges? 

Before we set out the challenges, we should be clear that we have some excellent 

health services in south east London. Many of our services compare favourably to 

other areas, many of our patients tell us they are very happy with the NHS and overall, 

improvements in healthcare mean that people are living much longer lives than they 

used to. 

We would like to hear your views about which services are working well currently, and 

which we can build upon, as well as what needs to change.

Context: let’s build on what works

Too many people live with preventable ill health  

or die too early

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

5

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

4

P
age 17



Our poor health is a major factor in generating 

the demand for care which is putting the NHS and 

social care under such well-publicised pressure.

The way in which health services are provided today 

does not take account of changes in the population 

since the NHS was created. People are living longer 

than ever before. This is good news; it means that 

the NHS is successfully treating many more people 

than ever before. But many more people are also 

living with long term conditions such as diabetes, 

high blood pressure and mental illnesses. 

The NHS in south east London urgently needs to 

change the way it delivers services to support its 

1.7 million people. 

The task we face is well illustrated by the diagram 

opposite. A major goal of our work is to change 

the shape of this diagram – we need to support 

people so that they do not move up the diagram 

and help them to become healthier, like the 16% 

at the bottom. We must support the 50% of the 

population who are affected by inequalities and 

who are at risk of developing long term conditions 

due to inequalities or lifestyle factors. The key 

issues are smoking, excess alcohol and drug use, 

not enough exercise and obesity, and poor mental 

health. These problems are the major causes of 

‘health inequalities’ between people in south east 

London and elsewhere in the UK.

broad groups: people known to be nearing the 

end of life (1%), people with three or more long 

term conditions (LTCs, 9%), people in the early 

stages of a long term condition (25%), people 

long term conditions (50%) and people who are 

healthy and well. The higher up the ‘tree’ a group 

is, the more money is spent on them. Our aim is to 

the tree, in the healthy and well group. 

The diagram is a helpful way for us to think 

about our communities. It tells us that only about 

one in six people are healthy and well without 

being at risk of poor health. Half of all people 

disability or an illness like diabetes, a heart 

condition or a long term mental illness). As 

people get older, they are often more likely to 

AUS CAN FRA GER NETH NZ NOR SWE SWIZ UK US 

OVERALL RANKING (2013)  4 10 9 5 5 7 7 3 2 1 11 

Quality Care  2 9 8 7 5 4 11 10 3 1 5 

Effective Care  4 7 9 6 5 2 11 10 8 1 3 

Safe Care  3 10 2 6 7 9 11 5 4 1 7 

Coordinated Care  4 8 9 10 5 2 7 11 3 1 6 

Patient-Centered Care 
 

5 8 10 7 3 6 11 9 2 1 4 

Access  8 9 11 2 4 7 6 4 2 1 9 

Cost-Related Problem 9 5 10 4 8 6 3 1 7 1 11 

Timeliness of Care 6 11 10 4 2 7 8 9 1 3 5 

 4 10 8 9 7 3 4 2 6 1 11 

Equity

Efficiency

 5 9 7 4 8 10 6 1 2 2 11 

Healthy Lives
 

4 8 1 7 5 9 6 2 3 10 11 

Health Expenditures/Capita 
2011**

$3,800 $4,522 $4,118 $4,495 $5,099 $3,182 $5,669 $3,925 $5,643 $3,405 $8,508 

COUNTRY RANKINGS

Top 2*

Middle 

Bottom 2* 

EXHIBIT ES-1. OVERALL RANKING

United Kingdom is ranked
out 
 of10th 11

for people living healthy lives

Healthy and well group

7

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

6

P
age 18



The NHS usually pays most attention to the people 

who already have a long term condition, but we 

want to help everyone to stay as healthy as possible 

and to be independent, so we have to think about 

all the parts of the ‘tree’ on page 7. 

In addition, we must further improve the way our 

services work to reduce the numbers of patients 

being admitted to hospital. This means we need 

to address the problems of the people towards 

the top of the diagram much more effectively. 

We need to deliver more of their care outside of 

hospital, in GP surgeries, community health settings 

and, where appropriate, in people’s homes. 

We must also focus much more on preventing 

people becoming ill and needing to be admitted to 

hospital. We need effective ways to monitor those 

who live with long term illnesses, giving them and 

as possible, to look after themselves and know 

what to do when issues arise. 

This means that we need to ensure much closer 

working between the NHS and the social care 

services provided by local councils. It also means 

that the various parts of the NHS – GPs, district 

nurses, community services, hospitals and 

mental health services – need to be much more 

coordinated, with the patient at the centre of any 

plans and all that the professionals working in 

health and social care do.

The outcomes from care 

in our health services vary 

significantly and high quality 

care is not available all the 

time

Too often, the quality of care that patients receive 

and the outcome of their treatment depend on 

when and where they access health services. 

For example, we do not always provide the 

recommended level of cover by senior doctors in 

services dealing with emergency care, maternity 

or children. People taken ill at weekends or in the 

evenings are less likely to see a senior doctor in 

hospital. The London Quality Standards, developed 

by senior clinicians in partnership with patients, 

have set out minimum safety guidelines which we 

want all of our hospitals to meet. However, we also 

need to bear in mind that there is a shortage of 

meet these standards across all our hospitals.

We don’t always treat people 

early enough to have the best 

results

Our services are often not set up to detect 

problems soon enough, meaning that people with 

long term conditions or mental illness often have 

to be admitted to hospital in crisis. Earlier diagnosis 

and support could have helped them to get better 

sooner or prevented their illness becoming so 

serious. 

In this respect, we are not putting enough 

emphasis or resources into services based in 

the community, to prevent people becoming 

ill or encourage them to take responsibilities in 

managing their own health. This is why some 

clinicians feel we have become an ‘illness service’ 

rather than a health service, as we too often treat 

illness rather than preventing it. 

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

9

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

8

P
age 19



People’s experience of care is very 

variable and can be much better

While patients are very happy with some services, 

surveys tell us that their experience of the NHS is 

inconsistent and that they do not always receive 

the care they want. Patient satisfaction in south 

east London is generally low compared to national 

benchmarks. Four of our boroughs scored in the 

bottom 25% for patient satisfaction in hospital 

care and three of four trusts were in the bottom 

25% for the ‘Friends and Family Test’, which tests 

whether patients would recommend the trust to 

friends and family.

This does not mean that it is all doom and gloom: 

many patients express satisfaction with NHS 

services and highlight excellent care. The issue is 

that patient experience of care is too variable. We 

need to provide consistent, high quality services for 

everyone in south east London.

Patients tell us that their 

care is not joined up between 

different services

to continually provide the same information to 

different people. It is disappointing that different 

parts of the NHS do not always communicate 

effectively with each other or with social services. 

Patients with complex conditions are often passed 

from one service to another while the services do 

not always communicate with each other. Patients’ 

treatment is often not joined up. In particular, 

patients sometimes stay longer in hospital because 

joined up arrangements for their care in the 

community on and after discharge have not been 

put in place. 

Many local councils face unprecedented pressures 

on their resources and in some instances are 

looking to save over 30% of their current 

expenditure over the next 3-4 years.

Adult social care forms a large percentage of 

any local authority budget and these services are 

effective ways of working, while maintaining safe, 

high quality services. Demand is growing in some 

areas, with increasing numbers of older residents, 

residents living much longer with complex care and 

health needs, increased mental health needs and 

the continued need to support people with lifelong 

health and care needs to live as independently and 

as full a life as possible.

The new Care Act places new duties on local 

authorities and partners to promote wellbeing and 

public health within communities, to help reduce or 

delay the need for care. 

From April 2016, there will be a cap in place to limit 

the amount people have to pay towards their care. 

This is welcome, but it comes without any certainty 

on the costs to local councils associated with these 

new duties, nor of the increased demands from 

people who use services and their carers. 

It is clear that the NHS and the social care system 

need to work better together if we are to deliver 

the high quality services people need.

 

The social care system is under 

increasing pressure

Examples of the problems that 
patients have raised with us are: 

• 

GP appointment.

• Many people feel that they have not 

been told or do not have enough 

information about their condition. 

• Too often, planned operations are 

cancelled.

• Waiting times for tests and treatment are 

sometimes far too long; and patients are not 

always treated with respect and dignity.

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

11

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

10

P
age 20



NHS funding currently increases with the cost of 

providing care are rising much faster because the 

NHS is now treating more people with more complex 

conditions than ever before and people are living 

longer. There have been huge technical advances 

in diagnostic medicine and in treatments for a wide 

range of conditions, but these new medicines and 

treatments are often expensive. People also have 

higher expectations of health services these days. 

substantial increases in NHS funding are unlikely for 

the foreseeable future, which means that we need 

to do things differently if we are to continue to 

deliver the best possible care for patients in the years 

ahead. 

government has committed to meeting the request 

in the NHS Five Year Forward View for £8billion of 

extra funding nationwide by 2020. This will improve 

costs of healthcare are rising much faster than NHS 

funding, we know that if we continue in the current 

way, then we will not have enough money to pay 

for the services we currently provide by 2019/20.  

The NHS England Five Year Forward View is 

consequently based on the assumption that the way 

in which services are being delivered will change, 

with more focus on community-based services and 

supporting people to stay well. 

The NHS in south east London faces these same 

challenges and organisational plans indicate that the 

forecast gross cost, if we do nothing by 2019/20, 

would be about £6bn compared to income totaling 

around £5bn. As a consequence, if we do nothing, 

then the affordability gap facing the health services 

across south east London would be about £1bn by 

2019/20. 

The money to pay for the NHS is limited and need is 

continually increasing

There have been huge technical advances 
in diagnostic medicine and in treatments 
for a wide range of conditions.

NHS providers of between 2% and 3% this would 

reduce the remaining challenge to between 

£400m and £600m.  However, hospitals in south 

east London, as elsewhere across the country, are 

to do things differently all the more pressing.

To add to this, local councils, who are responsible 

for social care services, are also experiencing 

pressures from an ageing population, increased 

demand for social care and reductions  in funding, 

resulting in them looking to save over 30% of their 

current expenditure over the next three to four 

years.

From now on, we need to explore all opportunities 

and get better value for money for all that is done 

in the NHS and social care services, in order to 

operate within the available resources. We need 

to get the best possible outcomes for patients 

for every pound available, making the most of 

resources that are under increasing pressure. 

This means we need a more integrated approach 

between different services. Each pound that we 

spend is spent as part of the whole NHS and social 

care system.

The chart shows how this 

challenge is forecast to build up 

over time through to 2019/20 

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

20
18

/1
9

20
19

/2
0

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

5,500

6,000

5,903

4,812

S
ys

te
m

 w
id

e
 i
n

co
m

e
/ 

e
xp

e
n

d
it
u

re
 (

£
m

ill
io

n
s)

Gross expenditure (Central) Revenue

Absolute challenge 

Over the period from 2014/15 to 

2019/20, the south east London 

will grow to £1bn more than 

the projected budget of £4.8bn. 

This is comparable with the 

national challenge set out in 

NHS England’s Five Year Forward 

View.

Annual challenge 

On average, the south east 

London healthcare system will 

£218m each year (from a budget 

which will grow to £4.8 bn) 

between 2014/15 and 2019/20.

An esimated breakdown is 

shown below.

Pecentage challenge 

On average, the south east 

London healthcare system 

of 4.2% each year between 

2014/15 and 2019/20.

An estimated annual breakdown 

is shown below.

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

£251 £228 £154 £162 £141 £156

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

6.0% 5.3% 3.4% 3.5% 3.0% 3.2%

(millions)

13

Our Healthier South East London

www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

12

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

P
age 21



We face major challenges. We know that 

by providing services in a different way, it is 

possible to improve outcomes, to help people 

to live healthier lives, to deliver services which 

are consistently of high quality and get more 

for our money. Changes have been made in 

the acute treatment of stroke, major trauma 

and heart attacks in London: services now 

provided in a small number of specialist centres 

rather than in every hospital have transformed 

outcomes. More people survive strokes, major 

trauma injuries and heart attacks in London 

than ever before. In bypassing their local 

hospitals to these centres, the care they receive 

is much better. These changes have saved 

money for the NHS so we know that such cost-

effective changes are possible. 

For example, a study showed that the changes 

to stroke services saved 12% more lives (around 

400 lives a year) and £811 per patient, in spite 

of the costs of setting up the new system. 

Further change is needed: nationally 16 million 

people attend A&E each year, but 40% needed 

no treatment or could have been managed by 

their GP; 2012-13 saw 5.2 million emergency 

hospital admissions, 1.2 million of which could 

have been avoided. They add unnecessary 

costs and create delays in planned hospital 

care. There are problems of access to GP 

appointments which can put added pressure on 

hospitals; in producing meaningful discharge 

and care plans; and in producing better 

outcomes after surgery and cancer treatments. 

Every one of us pays for the NHS; we have a 

responsibility to spend this money well

South east London has a diverse and mobile 

population, with extremes of deprivation and 

wealth. A high proportion of our 1.67 million 

people live in areas that are among the most 

the six boroughs (Lambeth, Southwark, Lewisham 

and Greenwich) rank amongst the 15% most 

deprived local authority areas in the country. 

The other two boroughs (Bexley and Bromley) 

of deprivation in particular geographical areas. 

The population is very ethnically mixed; ranging 

from 15.7% of the population of Bromley being 

from black and minority ethic groups to 46.5% in 

Lewisham. 

relatively high proportion of younger people, 

especially 0-9 years, and a slowly increasing older 

population, with more females than males living 

into older age. 

The local population is highly mobile. In Southwark 

and Lambeth, the equivalent of roughly 9% and 

10% respectively of the current population moved 

in and out over a 12 month period mid-2011 to 

mid-2012. Even in Bexley, the borough which has 

was around 5%, compared with approximately 3% 

in London as a whole.

All of these factors need to be taken into account 

when we plan health and social care services. The 

six CCGs in south east London also each carry 

out an annual assessment of how effectively 

the services they commission engage with and 

meet the needs of nine groups with ‘protected 

characteristics’ outlined in the Equality Act 2010. 

The protected groups are: age, disability, gender 

reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 

pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief, 

sex (gender) and sexual orientation.

About our population

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

14 15

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

P
age 22



2What are  
we trying  

to achieve?
The Our Healthier South East London 

programme is led by six clinical 

commissioning groups (CCGs) Bexley, 

Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth, 

Lewisham and Southwark. The six 

CCGs are working with NHS England 

on a future strategy to meet the 

health needs of the area.

The CCGs have agreed that some of 

the issues we face cut across borough 

boundaries and that they need to 

work together to address them. 

CCGs continue to be individually 

responsible for the health of their 

local populations; their agreement 

is to work together on those issues 

where they need to collaborate to 

improve the health and care system, 

while continuing to develop their 

own local borough plans.

We have been discussing with local 

people and our partner organisations 

the best way of tackling the 

challenges set out above and we will 

continue to do so. 

Our outline strategy puts forward a 

vision for south east London which 

we hope to build on further with 

local people. Spending our 
money wisely, 
to deliver better 
outcomes that 
matter to patients, 
avoid waste and 
increase value

Giving our 
CHILDREN 
the best 
start in life

Over the next five years 
we aim to achieve much 
better outcomes than 
we do now by:

SUPPORTING PEOPLE TO 
LIVE HEALTHIER LIVES 
– reducing smoking, stress and 

alcohol consumption, promoting 

exercise and healthy weight loss, 

early identification and treatment 

of mental ill health

Helping people
to live independently
and know what to do

when things go wrong

Making sure primary care 
services are consistently 
excellent and with an  
increased focus on prevention

REDUCING VARIATION IN HEALTHCARE 

OUTCOMES AND ADDRESSING INEQUALITIES 

BY RAISING THE STANDARDS IN OUR HEALTH 

SERVICES TO MATCH THE BEST

Delivering services that 
meet the same  

high quality
standards whenever and 
wherever care is provided

Supporting people
to be more in control of 
their health and have a

in their own care

17

IN THE NHS IN SOUTH EAST LONDON, WE SPEND

PER 
 YEAR

Developing joined 
up care so that 

people receive the 
support they need 
when they need it

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

171616

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

P
age 23



A new national plan  

for the NHS

The NHS Five Year Forward View was published 

in October 2014. It sets out a vision for the future 

of the NHS. It has been developed by the bodies 

that deliver and oversee health and care services 

nationally, including NHS England, Public Health 

England, Monitor, Health Education England, 

the Care Quality Commission and the NHS Trust 

Development Authority. 

Patient groups, clinicians and independent 

experts have also provided their advice to create 

a collective view of how the health service needs 

the widening gaps in the health of the population, 

quality of care and the funding of services. 

The Five Year Forward View starts the move 

towards a different NHS, recognising the 

challenges and outlining potential solutions to the 

big questions facing health and care services in 

England. Some of the key points are:

• The NHS has dramatically improved over 

Cancer and cardiac 

outcomes are better; waits are shorter; 

patient satisfaction much higher. But quality 

of care can be variable, preventable illness is 

widespread, health inequalities deep-rooted. 

•  new 

treatment options are emerging, and we face 

particular challenges in areas such as mental 

health, cancer and support for frail older patients. 

• 

 The Forward View 

sets out a clear direction for the NHS – showing 

why change is needed and what it will look 

like. Some of what is needed can be brought 

about by the NHS itself. Other actions require 

new partnerships with local communities, 

local authorities and employers. Some critical 

decisions will need explicit support from the 

next government.

• The future health of millions of children, 

the NHS and the economic prosperity of the 

country all depend on a 

The NHS will 

back hard-hitting national action on obesity, 

smoking, alcohol and other major health risks.

• 

including the option of 

shared budgets combining health and social 

care. The 1.4 million full time unpaid carers in 

England will get new support, and the NHS 

will become a better partner with voluntary 

organisations and local communities.

• 

 

between family doctors and hospitals, between 

physical and mental health, between health and 

social care. The future will see far more care 

delivered locally but with some services in specialist 

centres, organised to support people with multiple 

health conditions, not just single diseases.

not work for the NHS and we are responding to 

local needs, our vision for the future is in line with 

the key points set out in the Five year Forward View.

Community-based care covers services that are 

What is the London Health 

Commission? 

In December 2013, the Mayor of London launched 

an independent London Health Commission to 

look at how healthcare could be improved for 

Londoners. The Commission reported in November 

2014 and set out 10 aspirations for the capital:

• Give all London’s children a healthy, happy start to life

• 

exercise and healthier living

• Make work a healthy place to be in London

• Help Londoners to kick unhealthy habits

• Care for the most mentally ill in London so they 

live longer, healthier lives

• Enable Londoners to do more to look after 

themselves 

• Ensure that every Londoner is able to see a GP 

when they need to and at a time that suits them

• Create the best health and care services of any 

world city, throughout London and on every day

• Fully engage and involve Londoners in the 

future health of their city

• Put London at the centre of the global 

revolution in digital health

The Commission engaged widely across London, 

including over 50 events, polls, roadshows 

and focus groups, involving more than 15,000 

Londoners. A report, Better Health for London, was 

published in October 2014. 

The report made a series of recommendations, 

including measures to tackle childhood obesity,  

get people living healthier lives, better support  

for people with mental illness, improving GP access 

and more support in the community for people 

with long term conditions. 

All of the recommendations and aspirations in the 

London Health Commission report are in line with 

those set out in our strategy and in the NHS Five 

Year Forward View. 

Transforming London’s Health 

and Care Together

Our six CCGs, in common with the 32 CCGs across 

London, working with NHS England, have developed 

local plans to support the recommendations of 

the London Health Commission. This is set out 

in a joint report, Transforming London’s Health 

and Care Together. Links to this and other useful 

documents are available on our website at 

This includes the launch of 13 transformation 

programmes, including the development of a 

commissioning model for primary care, that will 

help achieve the vision set out in both the NHS Five 

Year Forward View and Better Health for London.

 

Childhood obesity
levels in children aged 10/11 (Year 6) are 

significantly above

in 5 of our 6 boroughs
the England average

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

18 19

P
age 24



3
areas of healthcare that we need to address. 

• Community-based care

• Maternity

• Children’s and young people’s services

• Cancer

• Planned care (treatment that is arranged in 

advance)

• Urgent and emergency care

Six clinical leadership groups, made up of doctors, 

nurses and therapists from the local NHS, health 

service managers, social care leaders working for 

local councils, patients and members of the public, 

have been set up to come up with possible solutions 

in these areas. Mental health is covered by all six 

groups, as we are taking an integrated approach to 

mental health so it is relevant to all of the groups.

These clinical leadership groups have met several 

times and discussed the issues in detail. We have 

also started to discuss some of the emerging issues 

strategy was published in June 2014, and the 

strategy is continuing to be developed as we talk 

to all those involved about the issues. We need 

to work out how each part of the local NHS can 

contribute to shaping our plan and what changes 

it might mean for local services. We are publishing 

this paper so that we can further discuss these 

issues with NHS staff, patients and local people.

We have set out below why we think changes are 

needed and what sort of changes we are thinking 

about, under each of our clinical headings.

What changes 
might be made 

by the local 
NHS?

Community-Based Care covers services that 

are already provided outside hospital. There 

will also be new services established in the 

patients’ health and their experience. The 

services will include those provided by:

• All General Practices 

• District and community nursing

• Community health services ( delivering 

care to those with both physical and 

mental health needs)

• Voluntary sector services

• Social care

• Community pharmacy 

• Community-based diagnostics

• Community services supporting those 

with long term conditions

These services impact on all areas of health 

and care, so getting them right is important 

– without getting community-based care 

right, it would not be possible to deliver 

the improvements needed elsewhere in the 

system. 

Community-based care

21

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

20

P
age 25



What we think works well

and all six CCGs have plans to increase the number 

and quality of services based in the community, so 

that people only go to hospital when they really 

need to.

All boroughs are already driving forward integrated 

care programmes for people with long term 

conditions. For instance:

• Greenwich: The national ‘Pioneer Project’ will 

build upon the existing integrated care system 

which is delivering coordinated services for older 

people and people with physical disabilities in 

Greenwich. 

• Lambeth and Southwark: Integrated Care 

(SLIC) is a well established partnership between 

local GPs, King’s College Hospital, Guy’s and 

St Thomas’ Hospitals, the South London and 

Maudsley Mental Health Trust, social care in 

both local councils, and Lambeth and Southwark 

CCGs. The partnership is already focusing on 

improving community care.

• Lewisham: A population-based programme 

integrates services to create a single service to 

reduce unnecessary hospital admissions. 

• Bexley: A case management approach is being 

taken forward to identify patients with complex 

needs, in combination with integrated care 

services for older people across health and social 

care. 

• Bromley: A local pilot is underway with community 

service providers and GP practices identifying 

complex patients in order to support them to get 

the best possible, well managed care.

Some of the ideas we are 

considering:

• Prevention of illness and supporting people to 

live healthier lives should be much more central 

to future health services. 

• We need to make sure everyone has equal 

access to consistently high quality, joined up 

care, addressing the concerns patients have 

expressed about services not working closely 

enough together and the variation in quality 

between different services.

• Community-based care should be more 

coordinated, with improved communication 

between services that inter-link or are 

integrated. We are currently developing future 

joined up services in each borough that we are 

calling ‘Local Care Networks’ to support this.

• New (or improved) Local Care Networks are 

intended to bring together general practice, 

primary, community (physical and mental 

health), social care and voluntary sector 

colleagues to provide holistic, patient-centred 

care in each area.

• Local Care Networks will need to be proactive, 

supporting people to live healthier lives and 

focusing on prevention, as well as advice and 

treatment, to empower people to look after 

their own health and reduce the possible onset 

of future health conditions. 

• The services available need to respond to 

the varied needs and characteristics of the 

meet the needs of individuals.

• We would like access to GP services and other 

community-based services to be available 8am-

8pm in each area, with additional local access 

to more specialised care and expertise outside 

of hospital. To support this, we would need GP 

surgeries and other community services to work 

closely together in their Local Care Networks.

• Services should be more proactive, accessible, 

coordinated and provide continuity of care; 

that every contact a member of the public 

makes with NHS or social care services is made 

to count.

• We should have a more rehabilitation-based 

approach to supporting people with long term 

conditions, enabling people to take control 

of their own care, avoiding deterioration and 

episodes of crisis, with a focus on getting 

better.

• We should improve communication with 

patients so that they know where to go for 

help when they need it – our draft strategy 

suggests that we employ more ‘care navigators’ 

to guide and support people through the 

various services.

Questions to consider on community-based care:

• How might this new system work for you? What might stop it from working properly?

• What do you need from services based in your community, such as GPs, pharmacists, 

community health services (mental and physical) and district nurses? 

• What works well now that we could build on? What needs to get better?

• How can we support you and your family to live healthier lives?

?

The case for change:

• Patients and carers often tell us that care is 

not joined up between different services. 

• Older people often have more than one 

health problem and need support and 

treatment from a number of different 

services and professions.

• Barriers exist between the current 

arrangement of service providers in health 

and social care which can lead to disjointed 

service provision for those who need it.

• Many people would like to have greater 

involvement and control of their own care 

and be supported to do more to care for 

themselves.

• 

appointment when needed, reverting to 

accessing other urgent and emergency 

services or deterioration in their health.

• Patients do not always understand where 

to get help when or how the system works. 

This includes people who are new to the 

UK and its health and social care system.

rate their overall experience of their GP surgery as 

good or very good. (GP Patient Survey, July 2014)

We can improve this, but it is a good starting point.

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

22 23

P
age 26



Maternity 
services
Maternity services support women and their families in a 

variety of settings (in the community, in children’s centres, 

in midwife-led birth centres and in hospital maternity wards) 

before, during and after they give birth. 

What we think works well
Most hospitals have a midwife-led birth unit and these are 

very popular with women who have low risk pregnancies. 

• Each maternity service has a Maternity Services Liaison 

Committee - which is made up of service users who 

undertake spot checks, raise issues on behalf of other 

users and routinely talk to women about their experience 

of maternity services. 

• 

its community teams into premises in local communities 

- children’s centres and other facilities. This move means 

that these teams will be rooted in local communities. 

• Kings College Hospital have two midwifery teams 

based in the local community who provide continuity of 

midwifery care. This is very popular with local women.

• Guys and St Thomas’s Hospital have very effective team 

based midwives in health centres and other community 

settings, providing continuity of midwifery care before 

and after birth.

• All maternity services have specialist midwifery teams 

providing support to women at high risk (such as women 

with mental health problems or teenage mums).

• The appointment of Consultant Midwives has helped to 

improve the quality of midwifery care. These midwives 

provide leadership to the midwives in their units.

• The recently developed South East London Maternity 

Network is working to develop collaborative working 

across all units, to drive up quality and make sure  

that women have the same high quality experience  

at whichever maternity service they access.

The case for change:

• Not all maternity services meet the needs of our 

population. The employment and retention of 

the highly skilled workforce required to deliver 

a service across all health settings is a challenge.

• There are increasing numbers of women with 

more complicated health and social care needs 

who require more support.

• Our maternity services are not meeting all 

of the standards agreed by the 32 London 

CCGs and the London Clinical Senate - the 

London Quality Standards. These include 24/7 

consultant presence in labour wards.

• Although maternity service users are mostly 

highlighted areas for improvement in areas 

such as postnatal care and the provision of 

information and advice once they are at home 

after the birth – for example breastfeeding 

advice and support.

Some of the ideas we are 

considering:

• We want to ensure that all women will have 

a safe and positive experience from antenatal 

care through to postnatal support, delivered by 

a committed and dedicated workforce.

• Mums to be should receive a more personalised 

service, with better continuity of midwife 

support and care with the right information to 

enable them to make an informed choice for 

their birthing options. This may include home 

birth or birth in a maternity unit.

• We want to provide better support for women 

to have a healthy straight forward birth in a 

setting of their choice where possible. 

• We should encourage women to book earlier 

and they should have better, more consistent 

support throughout their pregnancy.

• We need to get better at addressing any mental 

or physical health issues faced by women 

before, during or after childbirth.

• We want all our services to meet the London 

Quality Standards, which are the minimum 

safety standards set by senior clinicians and 

patient representatives for maternity services in 

London, to help improve the overall quality of 

maternity services in south east London.

Questions to consider on maternity services:

• How might this new system work for you? What might stop it from working properly?

• What support would you expect if you were giving birth (1) in hospital or (2) at home?

• What works well in maternity services now that we could build on? What needs to improve?

• What support would you need before and after giving birth?

?

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

25

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

2424

P
age 27



Children 
and young 
people
Services provided for children include specialist 

services in hospital and in the community. 

Children and young people access all services, 

not just those provided by specialist children’s 

doctors, so it is important to remember their 

needs when considering other services, such as 

community-based care, planned care, mental 

health or urgent and emergency care.

What we think works well
• South east London has some of the best 

specialist children’s hospitals in the country.

• There are strong community children’s 

health models in place around south east 

London.

• 

asthma, sickle cell, epilepsy, and diabetes.

• There are good examples of teams working 

together across different disciplines to help 

support children.

• There are also good examples of the use of 

technology to promote independence and 

improve service delivery.

• South east London has some innovative 

health promotion and prevention services 

to support children, young people and  

their families.

The case for change:

• The population of young people is increasing, 

economically deprived families.

• South east London has a higher than average 

rate of childhood obesity, undiagnosed mental 

health issues and teenage pregnancies.

• Our paediatric services do not meet the 

minimum safety standards agreed by all 32 

CCGs and the London Clinical Senate – the 

London Quality Standards. These include 

consultants being present on children’s wards 

14 hours a day, 7 days a week.

Some of the ideas we are 

considering:

• We should get better at supporting families to 

keep children and young people physically and 

mentally well.

• Children and young people should be able to access 

more joined up care in the community, through 

new children’s integrated community teams. 

• We should make sure children and their 

parents can access the right services in the right 

place, rather than being passed from one place 

to another as sometimes happens now.

• We would like to develop a paediatric 

assessment and short stay unit, working closely 

with community services to support children 

and young people back to home/school, 

reducing lengthier hospital stays.

• All our services should meet the London Quality 

Standards.

• When specialist support is needed, the support 

should be there more quickly and effectively 

than is always the case now.

• There must be less variation when transitioning 

into adult services for young people with long 

term conditions.

?Questions to consider on services for children  

and young people:

• How might this new system work for you? What might stop it from working properly?

• What works well in children and young people’s services now that we could build on? What 

needs to improve?

• What support do you as a child, young person or parent need from services based in the 

community? And in hospital?

• How do we encourage children and young people to adopt a healthy lifestyle?

aged 5 - 16 suffer from a diagnosable mental health 
disorder - that is around three children in every class.

children and young people 

1 10

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

26 27

P
age 28



Cancer
Cancer services across south east London are 

extensive and involve a wide range of specialist 

health care professionals.

What we think works well
There are a number of excellent services, in both 

the NHS and voluntary sector, already providing 

cutting edge care to people in London who receive 

a diagnosis of cancer. Across the board there is 

passion and drive to improve patient experience 

and outcomes supported by rigorous and on-going 

research. The cancer clinical leadership group is 

working collaboratively with such services to bring 

in best practice and a broad evidence base to 

proposed interventions, ensuring local, national and 

international innovation drive the work taking place.

The case for change:

• Cancer is the biggest cause of premature and 

avoidable deaths in London.

• Some people with cancer wait longer than they 

• We do not always diagnose cancer early 

enough.

• There are differences in patient outcomes and 

experiences, depending on where and when 

they access care.

Some of the ideas we are 

considering:

• We should improve patient outcomes through 

better prevention and earlier detection and 

diagnosis of cancer.

• We need better coordinated specialist cancer 

treatment services.

• We need to provide better support for carers.

• We should strengthen support available for 

people living with and beyond cancer.

• We must enable people nearing the end of 

their life to die with dignity, to have more 

control over where they wish to die and 

improve the experience of patients and their 

families during end of life care.

• We should do much more to promote healthy 

lifestyle choices, including making sure that health 

services take a holistic approach every time a 

patient comes into contact with them – including, 

for example, supporting people to stop smoking 

and to have a healthy, balanced diet.

Questions to consider on cancer services:

• How might this new system work for you? What might stop it from working properly?

• What works well in cancer services now that we could build on? What needs to improve?

• When we know people are nearing the end of their lives, how can we best support them 

and their families/carers?

?

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

28 2928

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

P
age 29



Planned 
care
Planned care is treatment that is planned in 

advance, such as an operation that is booked on a 

certain date.

What we think works well
There are already a number of examples of 

excellence and best practice within London, 

nationally and internationally which we can build 

on. Quality improvement programmes are in place 

to standardise how planned care works from 

beginning to end, leading to better outcomes and  

The case for change:

• There are differences in patient outcomes and 

experiences, depending on where and when 

they access care.

• 

to getting results could be quicker and more 

outcomes for patients.

• Patients should be better informed about what 

will happen, empowering them to have more 

choice and control over their own care.

• Patients should be better prepared for their 

operation/procedure. 

• Early supported discharge and a stronger focus 

on rehabilitation could help patients return 

home more quickly and safely, preventing 

unnecessary delays. 

• There is unnecessary duplication of paperwork 

and diagnostic tests causing delays in patient 

care because different services use different IT 

systems that are not compatible.

Some of the ideas we are 

considering:

• We want to put in place high level standards 

of care for the whole process from referral 

to treatment and discharge which have been 

developed with patients and the public through 

engagement workshops.

• We should ensure that all patients who need 

planned care across south east London receive 

the same quality and outcomes, regardless of 

where they are treated.

• We should improve direct access to diagnostics 

experience by standardising the journey from 

diagnosis to treatment.

• We should improve information for patients 

before hospital admission.

• We should get better at planning hospital 

discharge before admission; early discharge 

should be supported by local care network 

teams, with a focus on rehabilitation and 

helping people to return fully to their lives.

Questions to consider on planned care services  

(care that is planned in advance):

• How might this new system work for you? What might stop it from working properly?

• What works well in planned care now that we could build on? What needs to improve?

• Would you be prepared to travel further for an operation in a specialist centre if you knew it 

was more likely to be successful and less likely to be cancelled? 

?

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

30 3130 31

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

P
age 30



Urgent and 
emergency 
care
Emergency care is for people who have a condition 

that is life-threatening or presents an immediate 

risk to long term health. Urgent care services are for 

people who have a problem that needs attention the 

same day, but is not life-threatening or life-changing. 

Emergency care is usually provided by a hospital 

emergency department or in an ambulance; urgent 

care is provided by various health professionals, 

including GPs, hospital doctors and nurses in various 

locations, including hospitals and health centres. 

If you are unsure whether you need urgent or 

emergency care, you should contact your GP or dial 

the 111 helpline out of hours. 

What we think works well

There are a number of good examples in south 

east London where community teams work closely 

with their local Emergency Department to prevent 

unnecessary hospital attendances and help people 

to get out of hospital quicker.

You may have heard of some of these local 

initiatives, which are listed below.

• The ‘@home’ home ward in Lambeth and 

Southwark

• Bromley Medical Response Team

• Joint Emergency Team (JET) Greenwich 

• Rapid Response Team Bexley

• Bromley rehab home pathway and rehab beds

• Greenwich and Bexley Hospital Intergrated 

Discharge Team (HIDT) and Bromley Intergrated 

Discharge Team (IDT)

• Integrated teams (six each in Bexley, 

Greenwich, Bromley)

• Southwark and Lambeth Integrated Care team 

(SLIC)

• Specialist Long Term Condition teams in each 

area

The case for change:

• No hospital in south east London fully meets 

the minimum standards for safety and quality in 

emergency care set out by the London Quality 

Standards. These include the requirement that 

senior doctors (consultants) are present on 

emergency wards a minimum of 16 hours a 

day, 7 days a week. Not all our hospitals have 

their most senior doctors working at night and 

weekends.

• Many people are going to A&E unnecessarily 

when other more suitable care is available.

• Patients with mental ill health often have long 

waits to see a psychiatric liaison nurse, which 

can lead to patients absconding. 

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

32 3332

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

P
age 31



?
• We should set up a community-based rapid 

response team in each area, which would make 

sure patients who need urgent and emergency 

care receive the treatment they need in the 

right place at the right time (including in their 

own homes if appropriate). This would support 

the rapid return of patients to their homes, 

moving back to local health and care services 

outside hospital.

• When patients go to hospital needing urgent or 

emergency care, we would like both services to 

be located together. Patients could be directed 

to the right department for their needs by an 

• Local Care Networks, with extended opening 

hours, should link in to rapid access services to 

support frail, elderly people and patients with 

long term conditions.

• Mental health liaison services should work 

within the Local Care Networks to support 

patients in crisis - for example, patients using 

or requiring: perinatal; drugs and alcohol; 

children’s and young people’s; and older 

peoples and dementia services. Mental health 

patients should be seen more quickly in 

hospital Emergency Departments.

Some of the ideas we are considering:

?Questions to consider on urgent and emergency  

care services:

• How might this new system work for you? What might stop it from working properly?

• What works well in urgent and emergency care services now that we could build on? What 

needs to improve?

• How can we better support you and your family and keep you out of hospital unless you 

really need to be there?

We are very keen for local people and organisations to have 

their say as our strategy develops. You can use the contact 

details at the end of this paper to get in touch with us. 

How would you like us to communicate with you? (For 

example, we will be sending out regular email updates and 

we will have a mailing list for meetings in your area, to which 

we can add you or your organisation - or there may be other 

ways which are best to reach you? Please let us know.)

How can we best reach you?

This Issues Paper is being circulated across south 

east London from May 2015 for comment and 

feedback. A summary and Easy Read version are 

also available. A series of events will be organised 

at which people can discuss the issues raised. These 

will be publicised locally and via our website.

We are continuing to develop a detailed plan to 

improve local health services, making sure that 

everyone in south east London has access to the 

same high quality services, wherever they access 

care. We think this will mean spending our money 

differently, with more money spent on community-

based services while hospitals provide specialist 

care for those who need it. 

We have already started work in each borough, 

improving and increasing the care available in 

community settings and supporting these services 

to work more closely together. 

We are still considering what our strategy means 

for each of our local hospitals. If we come to the 

conclusion that we need to develop proposals for 

major service change in any of our local hospital 

services, we would put these forward for public 

consultation. 

Local clinicians, councils, hospitals, Healthwatch 

organisations and members of the public have 

helped us to develop our thinking. 

What happens next and how can you get involved?

We would like you to get involved. 

 

If you have any questions, comments or 

observations on this discussion paper, please 

contact  

To respond to any of the questions, or all of 

them, please also email  

If you want to keep in touch with our plans as 

they develop, please email your contact details 

to the above address.

You can also write to us at:

Our Healthier South East London, 160 Tooley 

Street, London, SE1 2HZ

Our Healthier South East London
www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk

Issues Paper
Help us improve your local NHS

34 35

P
age 32



To request this document in other formats or languages email 

Page 33



 
1. Purpose  
 
1.1 This report provides members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with 

an update on Lewisham’s Adult Integrated Care Programme, the 
Better Care Fund and the Adult Joint Strategic Commissioning Group.  

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to: 
 

• Note the progress made on the refresh of the Adult Integration Care 
Programme and are invited to agree who should be the Health and 
Wellbeing Board representative on the Primary Care Joint Committee;  

• Note the progress on the establishment of pooled budget 
arrangements (section 75) for the Better Care Fund plan; 

• Note the proposed process to develop the joint commissioning 
intentions for 2016/17 

 
3. Strategic Context 
 
3.1 The activity of the Health and Wellbeing Board is focused on delivering 

the strategic vision for Lewisham as established in Shaping our Future 
– Lewisham’s Sustainable Community Strategy and in Lewisham’s 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 
3.2 The work of the Board directly contributes to Shaping our Future’s 

priority outcome that communities in Lewisham should be Healthy, 
active and enjoyable - where people can actively participate in 
maintaining and improving their health and wellbeing. 

 
3.3 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 placed a duty on Health and 

Wellbeing Boards to prepare and publish joint health and wellbeing 
strategies to meet the needs identified in their joint strategic needs 
assessments.  Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy was 
published in 2013.  

 

                             HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Report Title 
 

Adult Integrated Care Programme, Better Care Fund and Joint 
Commissioning  

Contributors 
 

Executive Director for Community Services 
and Chief Officer, Lewisham Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Item No. 4 

Class 
 

Part 1   Date:  7 July 2015 

Strategic 
Context  

Please see body of report 
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 34



3.4 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 also places a specific duty on 
the CCG to include the relevant Health and Wellbeing Board in the 
preparation of their commissioning plans and when making significant 
revisions to those plans.   

 
3.5 The Health and Wellbeing Board must be provided with a draft 

commissioning plan and the CCG must consult the Board as to 
whether it considers the plan takes proper account of the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.  The Health and Wellbeing Board’s opinion on the 
final plan must be published within the operating plan.  Health and 
Wellbeing Boards can refer plans to NHS England if they do not think 
the joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy has been taken into proper 
account. 

 
3.6 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 also requires Health and 

Wellbeing Boards to encourage persons who arrange for the provision 
of any health or social services in the area to work in an integrated 
manner, for the purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of the 
area. 

 
4. Adult Integrated Care Programme (AICP)  
 
4.1 Lewisham’s Health and Care Partners continue to be supported by 

Optimity Advisors 1 to refresh the Adult Integrated Care Programme 
(AICP), taking into account the recommendations from the Readiness 
Assessment Report.  

 
4.2 As part of this refresh a review of the scope and activity within each of 

the four key workstreams -  Prevention and Early Intervention; General 
Practice and Primary Care; Neighbourhood Care Networks and 
Enhanced Care and Support -  has taken place.   A summary of the 
activity that has taken place over the past two months is set out below. 

 
Refresh of overall programme  
 
4.3 Lewisham’s Health and Care Partners came together in April 2015 to 

agree the vision and accompanying narrative for a whole system 
model of care.  As part of this process,  a reconstituted AICP board is 
being established to oversee the refresh of the programme.   

 
4.4 Meanwhile operational leads from across the system have been asked 

to review the schemes within the programme and a series of working 
sessions were held in May/June 2015 to agree how the programme 
could operate differently in the future to improve engagement, 
accountability, pace and scale.  A number of recommendations will be 
presented to initial members of the reconstituted Programme Board on 

                                                 
1
 Optimity Advisors are an advisory and consultancy firm with over 25 years’ experience in the health 
and care, working with providers, commissioners, and national bodies. Optimity Advisors supported 
Lewisham’s bid to be part of the New Models of Care Vangurd Programme (piolot sites selected to 
support the improvement and integration of services  

Page 35



1 July which include: a proposal to set up an operational and oversight 
group; a more structured and consistent approach to ways of working 
including scoping, prioritisation, planning; clearly assigning scheme 
roles, responsibilities and clarity around accountabilities; immediate 
action to review and reach consensus on the scope of schemes and 
interdependencies between them.   

 
4.5 The refresh of the programme will not affect those developments 

already underway as it is happening in parallel.  Once the new 
approach has been endorsed by the Programme Board, the schemes 
will actively start transitioning into the new ways of working.  

  
Prevention and Early Intervention 
 
4.6 The Information, Advice and Autonomy Project Board continues 

support the delivery of integrated information and advice across health 
and social care.   This includes securing fresh content and improved 
functionality of the new Adult Health and Social Care WebPages to 
meet the requirements of the 2014 Care Act.  Service user testing 
continues with groups of service users, family and carers testing the 
pages to establish what needs fine tuning.   

 
4.7 A new directory of services has also been created, search fields have 

been tested and amended so that information is more accessible.  
There are currently over 3000 entries that are being reviewed and 
amended as part of an audit. 

 
4.8 As part of the Website Project Lewisham is participating in a pilot to 

test an online Deferred Payment Calculator Assessment. The 
calculator was tested on approximately seventy service users, across 
seven councils including Lewisham and was changed according to 
service user views. The calculator was launched early in June.  

 
4.9 Further development of the Single Point of Access for Health and 

Social Care remains a key focus.  In May a workshop took place to 
map current activity, technical systems, and identify key functions 
across the existing services within the Single Point of Access (SCAIT 
and District Nursing call centre) and the out of hours services, Linkline 
and Enablement. Two sessions are planned to define in more detail 
what further integration is possible and to draw up the implementation 
plan by September. 

 
4.10 The Falls Prevention Delivery Group which is made up of key 

stakeholders from across health and social care was established in 
2014.  The group has been working together to develop an integrated 
approach to thee prevention, treatment and rehabilitation for people 
who have fallen or who are considered to be at risk of falls.  

 
4.11 In developing an integrated approach, the existing gaps in services 

have been highlighted; establishing a community based falls team and 

Page 36



providing a comprehensive programme of exercise in the community 
are two key elements of a new approach and are supported by a 
strong body of evidence. 

 
4.12 In May a business case to develop a community falls team and falls 

exercise programme was presented to and agreed in principle by the 
Adult Integrated Care Programme Board.  The next step will be to 
develop the proposal into a more detailed service specification.  
Progress has also been made in developing partnerships with Care 
Home providers and later this month falls prevention training will be 
delivered in Care Homes.  A new falls dashboard has been created 
and will allow improved monitoring of activity and performance, this will 
include the fields set out in the Public Health England, Falls and 
Fragility Fractures  audit tool.  Falls and Fragility Fractures has now 
been confirmed as one of the seven priority areas that Public Health 
England will be working on with the NHS and supporting  it around 
prevention.   

 
4.13 Other milestones this month have included the agreement of the 

approach to falls and standardised assessment tools and referral 
forms.  Postural Stability Instructor  (PSI) training is taking place this 
month to boost the number of fully qualified PSI instructors in the 
borough.  Finally, additional funding has been secured to purchase the 
ReferAll tool that will allow online referrals to appropriate falls 
prevention community exercise programmes. 

 
General Practice and Primary Care 
 
4.14 In January 2015, the Health and Wellbeing Board received a briefing 

paper which provided an overview of the developments taking place 
both nationally and locally with regard to primary care.  Specifically the 
paper focused on Lewisham CCG’s Primary Care Development 
Strategy and progress made towards implementation and the national 
developments which are having an impact on how local primary care 
services (GP practice services) are commissioned and delivered to 
improve the quality of services - (i) primary care co-commissioning; 
and (ii) Strategic Commissioning Framework for Primary Care 
Transformation in London. 

 
4.15 It was noted in January 2015, that Lewisham’s CCG intention was to 

submit an expression of interest for ‘joint commissioning 
arrangements’ (level 2) with NHS England for general practice services 
under new proposed co-commissioning developments for 2015/1616 
and a trajectory for delegated (level 3) in 2016/17. 

 
4.16 Since then the six CCGs in South East London -  Lewisham, Bexley, 

Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth and Southwark  - have all received 
approval from NHS England for these co-commissioning arrangements 
at level 2 (Joint Commissioning) and these arrangements took effect 

Page 37



on 1 April 2015 with the establishment of Primary Care Joint 
Committees (PCJC) in south east London.  

 
4.17 The benefits of the CCGs meeting together and working in ollaboration 

is they will ensure that primary care developments, initiatives, 
contacting and investment for out of hospital care within general 
practice and primary care is aligned with the CCGs’ strategic plans, 
including the development and delivery of Our Healthier South East 
London.  Also it will enhance the CCGs’ abilities to manage potential 
risks such as conflicts of interest and resource pressures, as well as 
actually learning from one another and collaborating at a scale greater 
than one borough, when it is in the best interests of patients and 
residents to do so. 

 
4.18 The Primary Care Joint Committees will be responsible for the 

selected functions for commissioning primary medical services for their 
population, including functions such as practice mergers, discretionary 
and contract payments. More detail is available on the CCG website.    

 
4.19 Each borough based committee will take decisions or make 

recommendations in accordance with their particular remit.   Where 
committees are considering the same issue, these relevant 
committees may consider the issue together but will make their own 
decisions.  

 
4.20 The PCJC will consist of:  
 
Voting Members:  
 

• The Lay Member for PPI of the CCG  

• The lay member who has qualifications, expertise or experience such 
as to enable the person to express informed views about Governance;  

• The secondary care specialist OR the Registered Nurse who is also a 
member of the Governing Body of the CCG.  

• The Accountable Officer of the CCG  

• The Chair of the CCG  

• Another GP who sits on the governing body from a member practice of 
the CCG (this should be a different practice to the CCG Chair)  

• Three representatives (two of whom will be non-voting) from NHS 
England London Regional Team, as follows: the South London 
Medical Director, the Director of Commissioning Operations and Head 
of Primary Care (or a named deputy of appropriate seniority for any of 
these representatives)  

 
Non-voting attendees:  

• A representative from Healthwatch  

• A representative from the local Health and Wellbeing Board  

• A representative from the local medical committee  
 

Page 38



4.21 Recommendation 
 
Board Members are asked to nominate a member of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board as the board’s representative on the PCJC. 
 
Neighbourhood Community Care  
 
4.22 As part of the refresh of the programme, the roles and responsibilities 

in relation to the Neighbourhood Community Care scheme have been 
reviewed. Aileen Buckton has been identified as the scheme sponsor 
supported by a designated scheme lead and an interim scheme 
manager.  The refresh of the programme has also involved key 
stakeholders in a scoping exercise to develop a shared understanding 
of the scheme.   

 
4.23 Building on the neighbourhood launch events in March and April, a 

series of workshops will take place between July and September 
involving staff members in designing key processes such as care 
planning and case management. Work is also being undertaken to 
map the pathways in and out of the Neighbourhood Community Teams 
(NCTs), define the wider care network and develop the mental health 
presence in the NCTs. 

 
4.24 Next steps include developing more detailed plans in relation to key 

enablers such as estates and IT.   
 
Enhanced Care and Support 
 
4.25 As part of the refresh of the programme, the roles and responsibilities 

in relation to the Enhanced Care and Support scheme have been 
reviewed and Martin Wilkinson, Chief Officer, Lewisham CCG,  has 
been identified as scheme sponsor supported by a designated scheme 
lead and scheme manager.   

 
4.26 In June 2015, key stakeholders from across Lewisham Health and 

Care partners participated in a workshop to reach consensus across 
the system on the definition and scope of the Enhanced Care and 
Support scheme; understanding how the range of services operating 
across the borough could be more coordinated and interface more 
effectively with the Single Point of Access and Neighbourhood 
Community Teams.  The next step will be for the scheme to develop 
more detailed plans. 

 
5. Better Care Fund 
 
Section 75 update 
 
5.1 The Better Care Fund (BCF) was announced by the Government in the 

June 2013 spending round to ensure a transformation in integrated 
health and social care. It created a local single pooled budget to 

Page 39



incentivise the NHS and local government to work more closely 
together around people, placing their wellbeing as the focus of health 
and care services. 

 
5.2 Section 121 of the Care Act 2014 requires the BCF arrangements to 

be underpinned by pooled funding arrangements with a section 75 
agreement. (A section 75 agreement is an agreement made under 
section 75 of the National Health Services Act 2006 between a local 
authority and an NHS body in England. It can include arrangements for 
pooling resources and delegating certain NHS and local authority 
health related functions to the other partner). 

 
5.3 In order to secure the BCF funding allocation of £21.114m, the Council 

and the Lewisham NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) 
must enter into an agreement under s75 of the National Health Service 
Act 2006.  

 
5.4 Lewisham’s draft s75 agreement was presented to the Council’s Mayor 

and Cabinet on June 2015.  The Mayor agreed :   
 

• To approve the Better Care Fund s75 agreement to govern the 
delivery of the Lewisham Better Care Fund Plan 2015/16 and for an 
agreed period thereafter.  

 

• To approve the establishment of a pooled fund as part of this  
BCF agreement. 

 

• To delegate to the Council’s Executive Director for Community 
Services on the advice of the Council’s Executive Director for 
Resources and Regeneration and Head of Law, authority to agree any 
final amendments to the s75 agreement for the Better Care Fund.  

 
5.5 The Mayor was also asked to note that these agreements also require 

approval by the CCG.   The draft s75 agreement is to be presented to 
the CCG board for approval on 9 July 2015.  

 
5.6 The integration programme, which is predominantly though not 

exclusively funded through the BCF, is wide ranging and complex. In 
some areas, such as the neighbourhood community model, structures 
are already in place and plans for spending the allocated portion of the 
fund are established. However in other cases, plans are still being 
developed. For such developments business cases are required and 
will need to be jointly agreed by the CCG and the Council before 
funding is agreed from the fund.  

 
5.7 A s75 Agreement Management Group will oversee the agreement for 

the Better Care Funding. Membership includes the Chief Officer, 
Lewisham CCG; the Chief Financial Officer, Lewisham CCG; the 
Executive Director for Community Services, Lewisham Council; and 
the Head of Financial Services, Lewisham Council.  

Page 40



 
5.8 This Group will provide financial reports showing use of BCF funding 

against planned activity to the Adult Integrated Care Programme Board 
and the Health and Wellbeing Board. The group will be responsible for 
the monitoring of spend against the BCF schemes, identifying any 
under or overspends.  The detail of these financial governance 
arrangements is set out in Schedule 1, section 7 of the BCF s75 
agreement. 

 
5.9 The Council and CCG will seek to minimise overspends against BCF 

schemes both by careful planning and development of business cases 
and by robust financial control.  Where, despite this, overspends do 
occur the proposal for dealing with these is for the overspending to be 
absorbed where possible within the pooled fund, either from 
underspends or by rescheduling or reprioritising other activity. Risk 
shares will be agreed for each scheme as part of the business case. 
These will usually mirror the expected benefits to each partner.  

 
5.10 Specific arrangements are proposed to address the largest risk for the 

pooled fund - the performance element.  The BCF requires a 3% 
reduction in emergency admissions.  If this reduction is not delivered 
the CCG's contribution to the BCF reduces by up to £1500k.  There is 
a high risk that the planned reduction will not be delivered across 
2014/15 and 2015/16.  The triggering planning period is Q4 activity in 
2014/15. The Council and CCG have therefore created a risk reserve 
for BCF income shortfall in 2015/16.  

 
6. Adult Joint Strategic Commissioning Group  

6.1 It is proposed that the AJSCG will oversee the development of the joint 
commissioning intentions for 2016/17 on behalf of adult social care, 
public health and CCG commissioners.  The AJSCG will oversee a 
similar process as was undertaken last year for the joint integrated 
commissioning intentions.  This will include the development and 
implementation of a public engagement programme. 

6.2 A public engagement event is being planned - 'Your Voice Counts'- on 
4 July 2015, at the Civic Suite, Catford, following on from the success 
of the Quality Summit, which was hosted in March 2014 by Lewisham 
Clinical Commissioning Group and partner organisations. 

6.3 `Treated as people’ and `knowing facts` have been identified as two 
emerging themes from the Quality Summit and analysis of public 
feedback to the joint commissioning intentions, which were carried out 
early this year.  The `Your Voice Counts` event will be an opportunity 
to explore these two themes in more depth as they relate to the 
development of the four neighbourhood care networks and inform 
future service redesign. This public event also will ensure engagement 
remains a continuous stream of conversations with the public and is 
embedded throughout the commissioning functions. 

Page 41



6.4 Based upon a partnership approach the event will be overseen by the 
Joint Partnership Engagement Group (JPEG), which is a sub group of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board and supports the delivery of its 
strategic intentions and will facilitate the learning from the day to be 
shared between partners to take forward as appropriate. 

6.5 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to provide an opinion on whether the CCG’s 
Operating Plan has taken proper account of the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. The Board’s opinion on this issue is required to be published 
within the CCG’s Operating Plan. 

6.6 It was planned that the Health and Wellbeing Board would review the 
CCG’s Operating Plan for 2015/16 to consider whether the plan has 
taken proper account of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.   Officers 
at the CCG are currently awaiting feedback from NHS England on the 
draft operating plan before the plan is presented to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. Officers expect this feedback imminently.  So 
consideration of the plan has been deferred to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board meeting in September 2015. 

7. Financial Implications 
 
7.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.   Any 

proposed activity or commitments arising from the Adult Integration 
Programme or the Joint Commissioning Intentions and Operating Plan 
will need to be agreed by the delivery organisation concerned and be 
subject to confirmation of resources.  The funding available in future 
years will of course need to take account of any required savings or 
any other reduction in overall budgets  and national NHS planning 
guidance which can be found at http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2014/12/forward-view-plning.pdf 

 
8. Legal implications  
 
8.1 As part of their statutory functions, members are required to encourage 

persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social services 
in the area to work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of 
advancing the health and wellbeing of the area, and to encourage 
persons who arrange for the provision of health-related services in its 
area to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 
8.2 Where there is an integration of services and/or joint funding, then this 

is dealt with under an agreement under Section 75 NHS Act 2006 
which sets out the governance arrangements for the delivery of 
services, and where relevant any delegation of functions from one 
party to another and the respective budget contributions of the local 
authority and the CCG in relation to the services. 

 
8.3 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places a specific duty on the 

CCG to include the relevant Health and Wellbeing Board in the 

Page 42



preparation of their commissioning plans and when making significant 
revisions to those plans.  The Health and Wellbeing Board must be 
provided with a draft plan and consult the Board as to whether it 
considers the plan takes proper account of the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.  The Health and Wellbeing Board’s opinion on the final plan 
must be published within the commissioning plan.  Health and 
Wellbeing Boards can refer plans to NHS England if they do not think 
the joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is being taken into proper 
account. 

 
9. Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
9.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this 

report or its recommendations. 
 
10. Equalities Implications  
 
10.1 Although there are no specific equalities implications arising from this 

report, an Equalities Analysis is being undertaken of the Joint 
Commissioning for Integrated Care to be considered by the Adult Joint 
Commissioning Group.   

 
11. Environmental Implications 
 
11.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this 

report or its recommendations. 
 
12. Conclusion 
 
12.1 This report provides an update on the Adult Integration Care 

Programme; the Better Care Fund and the Adult Joint Strategic 
Commissioning Group to date and invites members to note this 
information. The report also asks members to agree the Health and 
Wellbeing Board representative on the Primary Care Joint Committee. 

 
 
 
If you have problems opening or printing any embedded links in this document, 
please contact Carmel Langstaff on 020 8314 9579 or by email on  
carmel.langstaff@lewisham.gov.uk  
 
If there are any queries on this report please contact:  
  
Sarah Wainer, Head of Strategy, Improvement and Partnerships, Community Services 
Directorate, Lewisham Council, on 020 8314 9611 or by email 
sarah.wainer@lewisham.gov.uk  
 
or 
   
Susanna Masters, Corporate Director, NHS Lewisham Clinical Commissioning 
Group, on 020 3049 3216 or by email on susanna.masters@nhs.net 

Page 43



 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 To describe how ‘Brief Interventions’ achieve behaviour change in 

alcohol consumption, smoking, healthy eating, physical activity and 
sexual health, and encourage the Board to deliver them to scale using 
a whole system approach.  

 
2. Recommendation/s 
 

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended: 
 
2.1 To acknowledge the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of a 

systematic approach to brief interventions 
2.2 To agree to work towards a culture whereby all health and social care 

professionals can, as a minimum, deliver a very brief intervention. 
2.3 To consider how each member organisation can contribute to this 

through identifying the numbers and areas of their workforce which will 
receive brief intervention training  

2.4 To review progress in 12 months time. 
 
3. Policy Context 
 
3.1 Many policy documents over the past few years have highlighted the 

need to focus on brief interventions to scale as part of an overall 
systematic and strategic approach to improving health and well being.   

 

• The Wanless report (2004) Securing good health for the whole 
population set out the need for individuals to be fully engaged in their 
own health and health care 

 

• The Darzi Review (2008), High quality care for all set out the need to 
put prevention first 

 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Report Title 
 

Behaviour Change through Brief Interventions 

Contributors 
 

Jane Miller, Deputy Director of Public 
Health 

Item No. 5 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date:  7th July 2015 

Strategic 
Context 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Adult Integrated Care 
Programme 

Pathway Brief interventions for smoking, alcohol and obesity were 
discussed  at several meetings of the Shadow Board in 2012 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 44



• Marmot Review on health inequalities in England (2010), one of six 
objectives to tackle health inequalities was to strengthen the role and 
impact of ill health prevention 

 

• NHS Future Forum (2012) made the recommendation that every 
healthcare organisation should deliver Making Every Contact Count 
and ‘build the prevention of poor health and promotion of healthy living 
into their day-to-day business 

 
• NHS England’s Five Year Forward View 2014 emphasises the need 

to tackle prevention and make every contact count 
 
3.2  Local strategies listed below also support behaviour change through 

the delivery of brief interventions. 
 

• Shaping the Future – Lewisham Sustainable Communities 
Strategy Healthy Active and Enjoyable is a key priority for the strategy 
whereby people can actively participate in maintaining, improving their 
health and wellbeing. 
 

• Health & Well Being Strategy  - a programme of brief interventions is 
integral to the implementation of the strategy 

 

• Lewisham CCG Five year Strategy 2013-18 Healthy Lifestyles and 
Choice is a strategic theme and health and wellbeing is a strategic 
priority including  smoking cessation, alcohol abuse, obesity and 
cancer.  

 

• Our Healthier South East London – a developing strategy with 
prevention as a key theme 

 

• Adult Integrated Care Programme – a key objective is to make 
choosing healthy living easier 

 
4. Background   
 
4.1 Below is a brief description of what brief interventions entail. 
 

A very brief intervention  

• can take from 30 seconds to a couple of minutes 

• mainly about giving people information or directing them where to 
go for further help 

• may also include other activities such as raising awareness of risks, 
or providing encouragement and support for change 

• follows an 'ask, advise, assist' structure 
 
A brief intervention 

• involves oral discussion, negotiation or encouragement, with or 
without written or other support or follow-up 

Page 45



• may also involve a referral for further interventions, directing people 
to other options, or more intensive support 

• can be delivered by anyone who is trained in the necessary skills 
and knowledge 

• often carried out when the opportunity arises, typically taking no 
more than a few minutes for basic advice 

 
An extended brief intervention  
An extended brief intervention is similar in content to a brief 
intervention but usually lasts more than 30 minutes and consists of an 
individually-focused discussion. It can involve a single session or 
multiple brief sessions.  

 
5.    Evidence of effectiveness 
 
5.1 The evidence and arguments for undertaking brief interventions as part 

of an integrated programme to improve health and well being are very 
strong.  Numerous systematic reviews and meta-analyses have 
reported beneficial outcomes of brief intervention, compared with 
control conditions.  The question of whether brief interventions can 
work is not really in doubt.  The NICE Guidance on Behaviour Changei.  
makes recommendations on individual-level interventions aimed at 
changing health-damaging behaviours among people aged 16 or over 
including  very brief, brief, and extended brief behaviour change 
interventions.  The behaviours covered relate to: alcohol, diet, physical 
activity, sex and smoking.  Interventions aimed at changing people's 
alcohol use, eating patterns, physical activity, sexual behaviour and 
smoking are effective and cost effective.   
 
It recommends that: 
 

• Health, wellbeing and social care staff in direct contact with the 
general public - to use a very brief intervention to motivate 
people to change behaviours that may damage their health. The 
interventions should also be used to inform people about services 
or interventions that can help them improve their general health 
and wellbeing.  

 

• Staff who regularly come into contact with people whose health and 
wellbeing could be at risk - to provide them with a brief 
intervention (The risk could be due to current behaviours, socio-
demographic characteristics or family history.)  

 
• Health and social care staff and specialist providers - to provide an 

extended brief intervention to people they regularly see for 
30 minutes or more who are: involved in risky behaviours (for 
example: higher risk drinkers;  people with a number of health 
problems; people who have been assessed as being at increased 
or higher risk of harm; people who have been successfully making 

Page 46



changes to their behaviour but need more support to maintain that 
change; have found it difficult to change or have not benefited from 
a very brief or brief intervention. 

 
5.2 Interventions aimed at changing people's alcohol use, eating patterns, 

physical activity, sexual behaviour and smoking are effective and cost 
effective.  For example: 

  
5.3 Alcohol 
 

There have been many reviews establishing strong evidence for alcohol 
screening and brief interventionsii,iii, iv,v,vi It has been established that 
hazardous or harmful drinkers may benefit from brief interventions given 
by generic workers in almost any settingvii.viii,ix, x NICE recommends that 
commissioners ensure that their plans include screening and brief 
interventions for all people at risk of an alcohol-related problem, which 
includes people from disadvantaged groupsxi  .  

 
‘Drinkers receiving a brief intervention were twice as likely to reduce 
their drinking over 6 to 12 months than those who received no 
intervention’xii  

 
5.4 Smoking 
 

The evidence for the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of brief 
interventions in smoking is also very strongxiii. The number of smoking 
quitters needed to reduce one premature death is between 16 and 
40xiv

 . 

 
5.5 Healthy eating and physical activity 
 

More recently it has been established that, ‘People given weight loss 
advice by a doctor or other health professional are 3 times more likely 
to try to lose weight’. 

 

Health professional advice to lose weight appears to increase 
motivation to lose weight and weight loss behaviour, but only a 
minority of overweight or obese adults receive such advice. Better 
training for health professionals in delivering brief weight counselling 
could offer an opportunity to improve obese patients’ motivation to lose 
weight xv. 

 
6. Where are we now in Lewisham? 
  
6.1 In recognition of the effectiveness of brief interventions in bringing 

about behaviour change, training the workforce to deliver brief 
interventions has been integral to the delivery plans for the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy in smoking, alcohol, physical activity and  healthy 
eating.  Many front line staff from a range of organisations and 
disciplines have been trained including GPs and practice nurses, 

Page 47



hospital ward staff, health visitors, midwives, probation officers, police, 
Job Centre staff, Children Centre staff, the Community Connections 
team, community workers and youth workers, staff from voluntary and 
community sector organisations. 

 
6.2    In the first three years of the strategy, 750 staff have been trained in 

the ‘Identification and Brief Advice on Alcohol’; at least 1200  staff have 
gained the skills and confidence to raise the issue of smoking and refer 
for support through ‘Very Brief Advice’; 350 staff and volunteers have 
received ‘Let’s Get Moving’ training to increase physical activity and 
100 staff have been trained in health eating, with an additional 50 staff 
trained to provide support in breastfeedingxvi, xvii.  

 
6.3    There has been some follow up to this training and it is clear that many    

of those trained are now confidently delivering brief interventions, 
however some of those trained are not in a position to put their training 
into practice due to lack of capacity or support from their organisation.  
Local evaluation of the ‘Identification and Brief Advice on Alcohol’ 
training demonstrated that where managers had also attended briefings, 
the implementation of the training was far more successful and likely to 
be embedded into practice. 

 
6.4   Very few social care staff have been trained in delivering brief 

interventions although recently the neighbourhood community teams 
have requested training and expressed an interest in undertaking brief 
interventions and delivering brief interventions has been recognised as 
a key role by managers of the social care staff within the integrated 
teams. 

.   
7. Implementation of the recommendations 
 
7.1 Recommendation 2.2 

To agree to work towards a culture whereby all health and social care 
professionals can, as a minimum, deliver a very brief intervention. 

 
7.2 A programme of training, commissioned by the Public Health Team is 

being planned for the neighbourhood community team staff (social 
workers, occupational therapists and district nurses) by the end of 
March 2016.   
 

7.3 The challenge will be to ensure that delivery is embedded in practice  
following the training.  This will require management support. 
 

7.4 Member organisations identify staff trained and whether they are 
delivering brief interventions. 
 

7.5 Encourage active staff to continue to deliver brief interventions 
 

7.6 If trained staff are not delivering brief interventions, identify the reasons 
for this and address them.  

Page 48



 
7.7 Recommendation 2.3 

To consider how each member organisation can contribute to this 
through identifying the numbers and areas of their workforce which will 
receive brief intervention training  

 
7.8 Member organisations commit to training both managers and front line 

staff in brief interventions.  
 
7.9 Once the numbers of staff have been identified then a plan for 

implementation of training will be developed by Public Health in 
conjunction with member organisations.  

 
7.10 In order to reach people to scale a suggested target is to train a 

minimum of 1000 staff per annum across the system over the next five 
years. 
 

7.11 Public Health leads to consider potential targets with member 
organisations. 

 
8. Financial implications 

 
8.1 There is capacity within the Public Health training programme to 

provide some training before March 2016 across and within 
organisations.  Brief intervention training has been prioritised within the 
training programme for 2015/16 within a reduced budget.   

 
8.2 After April 2016, consideration will need to be given about how member 

organisations of the Health and Well-Being Board will fund this training 
from their own budgets (potentially a joint approach).  The cost of 
training would be approximately £50 per training participant. 

 
8.3  Whilst there is no direct cost to providing brief interventions by existing 

staff it will present a small pressure on staff time.   
 
8.4 Providers are not usually paid an additional sum to deliver brief 

interventions as the delivery is usually embedded in routine service 
delivery. 

 
8.5 A range of research studies and recent public health guidance on 

behaviour change have demonstrated the cost effectiveness of brief 
interventions aimed at changing people's alcohol use, eating patterns, 
physical activity, sexual behaviour and smoking.   

 
9. Legal implications 

 
9.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 

Page 49



 
10. Crime and Disorder Implications 

 
10.1 There are no Crime and Disorder implications arising from this report. 

 
11. Equalities Implications 

 
11.1 As brief interventions are targeted at those whose health and wellbeing 

could be at risk (the risk could be due to current behaviours, socio-
demographic characteristics or family history) and has a strong 
evidence base, this programme is likely to reduce health inequalities. 

 
12. Environmental Implications 

 
12.1 There are no environmental Implications arising from this report. 
 
13. Conclusion 
 
13.1 Progress has been made in skilling the work force to deliver brief 

interventions in a number of areas, across a range of organisations.  
However delivery remains patchy and is not to scale.   
 

13.2 There is an appetite from front line workers and managers to increase 
skills in this area, a budget to fund training this year and a strategic 
framework within which to take this work forward over the next five 
years Our Healthier SE London Strategy and the Adult Integration 
Programme.  

 

13.3 Given the current constraints on resources and the need to optimise 
these, and the evidence about both the effectiveness and the cost 
effectiveness of brief interventions, introducing a systematic 
programme on brief interventions, within a supportive culture across 
the whole health and social care economy in Lewisham this year 
makes sense. 
 

 
If there are any queries on this report please contact Jane Miller, Public 
Health, Lewisham Council, on 0208 314 9058, or by email at: 
jane.miller@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
References 
                                                 

i
 NICE PH Guidance - Behaviour Change: individual approaches - PH guidance 49, Jan 2014 

 
ii
 Purshouse RC, Brennan A, Rafia R et al. (2012) Modelling the cost-effectiveness of alcohol screening and brief 
interventions in primary care in England. Alcohol and Alcoholism 48: 180–8 

 
iii
 McQueen J, Howe TE, Allan L et al. (2011) Brief interventions for heavy alcohol users admitted to general hospital 
wards. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews issue 8: CD005191  

 

iv
 Mdege ND, Fayter D, Watson JM et al. (2013) Interventions for reducing alcohol consumption among general 
hospital inpatient heavy alcohol users: a systematic review. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 131: 1–22 

Page 50



                                                                                                                                            

v
 Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF et al. (1993) Development of the alcohol use disorders identification test 
(AUDIT): WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption II. Addiction 88 
(6): 791–804 

 

vi
 A summary of the Review of the Effectiveness of Treatment for Alcohol Problems, NTA, Nick Heather, Raistrick and 
Christine Godfrey (November 2006). 

 
vii
 NTA, Nick Heather, Raistrick and Christine Godfrey (November 2006),  A summary of the Review of the 

Effectiveness of Treatment for Alcohol Problems 

viii
 Kaner and Colin Drummond et al (2012) Pragmatic cluster randomised controlled trial of the effectiveness and 

cost-effectiveness of screening and brief alcohol intervention in probation services in England. British Journal or 
Psychiatry. 

ix
Drummond, C., Deluca, P., Kaner, E. et al. (2012) Screening and brief intervention for hazardous and harmful 
alcohol consumption in emergency departments: results of a pragmatic multicentre randomised controlled trial. 
Lancet in preparation 

 

x
 Colin Drummond et al (2012) Screening and brief intervention for hazardous and harmful alcohol consumption in 
emergency departments in England: factors promoting and inhibiting implementation in the typical practice setting. 
Lancet in preparation. 

 

xi
 ‘Alcohol-use disorders: preventing the development of hazardous and harmful drinking’ NICE public health 
guidance 24 (2010 
xii
 
xii
 Drug and Alcohol Review (November 2010), 29, 589–595, DOI: 10.1111/j.1465-3362.2010.00236.© 2010 

Australasian Professional Society on Alcohol and other Drugs 

xiii Brief interventions and referral for smoking cessation, NICE guidelines [PH1] Published date: March 2006  

 
xiv
 Aveyard P. et al, Brief opportunistic smoking cessation interventions: a systematic review and meta-analysis to 

compare advice to quit and offer of assistance, Addiction © 2011 Society for the Study of Addiction 
 

 
xv
 Jackson SE, Wardle J, Johnson F, et al. The impact of a health professional recommendation on weight loss 

attempts in overweight and obese British adults: a cross-sectional analysis. BMJ Open 2013;3: e003693. 
doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003693 

 

xvi
 Health and Well Being Implementation Report  HWBB May 2015 

 

 

Page 51



 

 
1.  Purpose 
 
1.1  This report presents the Health and Wellbeing Board with a draft work 

programme (included as Appendix 1) for discussion and approval. 
 
2.  Recommendations 
 
2.1  Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are invited to: 
 

• Approve the draft work programme  
• Consider additional items proposed  
• Propose additional items to be included in the work programme 
 

3.  Strategic Context 
 
3.1  The activity of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is focussed on delivering 

the strategic vision for Lewisham as established in Shaping our Future – 
Lewisham’s Sustainable Community Strategy and in Lewisham’s Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. 

 
3.2  The work of the Board directly contributes to Shaping our Future’s priority 

outcome that communities in Lewisham should be Healthy, active and enjoyable 
- where people can actively participate in maintaining and improving their health 
and wellbeing. 

 
3.3 There are a number of core duties defined in the Health and Social Care Act 

2012 which underpin the work of Health and Wellbeing Boards. These include: 
• To encourage the integration of health and social care commissioning and 

provision;  
• To undertake a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) to identify the 

health and wellbeing priorities of the local population;  
• To develop a joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy outlining how the board 

intends to achieve improvements to local health outcomes.  
 
4.  Background 
 
4.1  The work programme is a key document for the Health and Wellbeing Board. It 

allows the Board to schedule activity, reports and presentations across the year. 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

Report Title Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme 

Contributors Service Manager, Strategy and Policy 

(Community Services, London Borough of 

Lewisham). 

Item No. 6 

Class Part 1  Date:  7 July 2015 

Agenda Item 6

Page 52



It also provides members of the public and wider stakeholders with a clear picture 
of the Board’s planned activity. 

 
4.2   The HWB has agreed that the work programme would include regular progress 

updates on the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and a progress update in relation 
to the Adult Integrated Care Programme as a standing item.  

 
4.3 The HWB is also required to consider the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. It 

has been proposed that the Health and Wellbeing Strategy Implementation 
Group takes responsibility for reviewing and assessing recommendations from 
completed JSNA topics and proposing priorities to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board.   

 
4.3 The HWB has agreed to consider and approve the work programme at every 

meeting. In adding items to the work programme, the Board has agreed to 
specify the information and analysis required in the report, so that report authors 
are clear as to what is required.  

 
4.4 The Health and Wellbeing Board Agenda Planning Group may also propose 

items for inclusion on the work programme, and will seek approval for their 
inclusion from the Board. 

 
5.  Work programme  
 
5.1 The draft work programme (see Appendix 1), includes those items which the 

Board has identified it needs to consider over the course of next year. The Board 
has indicated that a review of key priorities is likely to impact on the work 
programme. 

 
5.2 The item on the CCG Operating Plan has been deferred to the September 

meeting.  
 
5.3 The following additional items have been proposed for the September meeting: 

• Update on plans in response to Joint Commissioning Intentions engagement 

activity: outcomes from ‘Your Voice Counts’ and People’s Forum. 

• South East London Strategy update. 

• Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham: progress update. 

• Lewisham Children and Young People’s Plan. 
 
5.4 To further strengthen the agenda planning process, Peter Ramrayka will join the 

agenda planning group from mid July.  
 
6.  Financial implications 
 
6.1  There are no specific financial implications arising from this report or its 

recommendations. 
 
7.  Legal implications 
 

Page 53



7.1  The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the 
equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: 
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

 
7.2  In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 

the need to: 

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

• advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

• foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

 
7.3  The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it 

is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and 
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations. 

 
7.4  The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical 

Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled 
“Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of 
Practice”. The Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it 
relates to the duty and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly 
with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public 
authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are legally 
required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory 
force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without 
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the 
technical guidance can be found at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-
and-policy/equalityact/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/ 

 
7.5  The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five 

guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty: 
 

1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making 
3. Engagement and the equality duty 
4. Equality objectives and the equality duty 
5. Equality information and the equality duty 

 
7.6  The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements 

including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It 
covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty, including steps that are 
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four documents 
provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. 
Further information and resources are available at: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/publicsector-equality-
duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/ 

 

Page 54



7.7  Members of the Board are reminded that under Section 195 Health and Social 
Care Act 2012, health and wellbeing boards are under a duty to encourage 
integrated working between the persons who arrange for health and social care 
services in the area. 

 
8.  Equalities implications 
 
8.1  There are no specific equalities implications arising from this report or its 

recommendations. 
 
9.  Crime and disorder implications 
 
9.1  There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report or 

its recommendations. 
 
10.  Environmental implications 
 
10.1  There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report or its 

recommendations. 
 
 
If there are any queries on this report please contact Carmel Langstaff, Service 
Manager – Strategy and Policy, Community Services, London Borough of Lewisham on 
0208 314 9579 or by e-mail at carmel.langstaff@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 55



APPENDIX 1 

Health and Wellbeing Board – Work Programme 
 
 
 

Meeting 
date 

Agenda Planning  Report Deadline Agenda Publication 

22 Sept 
2015 

22 July 2015 27 August 2015 14 September 2015 

Agenda 
item 
 

Report Title Deferred Information / 
Agreement 

Lead 
Organisation(s) 

1 Adult Integrated Care Programme Update: Focus on 
Neighbourhood Community Care  
 

 TBC LBL/CCG 

2 Findings from 2015 Food Summit Deferred from 
March and May 
2015 agendas. 
 

Agreement VAL/LBL 

3 Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme 
 

 Agreement LBL 

4 South East London Strategy 
 

 TBC CCG 

5 Update on Plans in response to Joint Commissioning 
Intentions engagement activity: Outcomes from ‘Your 
Voice Counts’ and People’s Forum 

 TBC CCG 

6 CCG Operating Plan 2015/16 Deferred from 
May and July 
2015 

Information CCG 

7 Annual Public Health Report 
 

 Information LBL 

8 Performance Dashboard: Exceptions Reporting 
 

 Information CCG/LBL 

9 Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham: Progress Update 
 

 Information  

10 CYP Plan 
 

 Information  

P
age 56



 
 
 
Meeting 
date 

Agenda Planning  Report Deadline Agenda Publication 

24 Nov 
2015 

30 September 2015 29 October 2015 16 Nov 2015 

Agenda 
item 
 

Report Title Deferred Information / 
Agreement 

Lead 
Organisation(s) 

1 Adult Integrated Care Programme Update: Focus on 
Enhanced Care and Support 
 

 Agreement LBL/CCG 

2 LSL Sexual Health Strategy 
 

 TBC LBL 

3 Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme 
 

 Agreement LBL 

4 Performance Dashboard: Exceptions Reporting 
 

 Information CCG/LBL 

 
 
 
Meeting 
date 

Agenda Planning  Report Deadline Agenda Publication 

Jan 2016 
(Date 
TBC) 

W/C TBC TBC TBC 

Agenda 
item 
 

Report Title Deferred Information / 
Agreement 

Lead 
Organisation(s) 

1 Adult Integrated Care Programme Update 
 

 Agreement LBL/CCG 

2 Performance Dashboard Update  
 

Agreement LBL 

3 Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme 
 

 Agreement LBL 

P
age 57



 
 
 
 
Meeting 
date 

Agenda Planning  Report Deadline Agenda Publication 

Mar 2016 
(Date 
TBC) 

W/C TBC TBC TBC 

Agenda 
item 
 

Report Title Deferred Information / 
Agreement 

Lead 
Organisation(s) 

1 Adult Integrated Care Programme Update 
 

 Agreement LBL/CCG 

2 Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme 
 

 Agreement LBL 

3 Performance Dashboard: Exceptions Reporting  
 

 Information LBL 

 

P
age 58



INFORMATION ITEM A 

 

1. Purpose  
 

This report provides members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update on 
performance against its agreed priorities within the Health & Wellbeing Strategy and 
the integration of health and care for adults. 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to note performance 
as measured by health and care indicators set out in the attached dashboard at 
Annex A. 

 

3. Strategic Context 
 
3.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 established health and wellbeing boards as a 

forum where key leaders from the health and care system work together to improve 
the health and wellbeing of their local population and reduce health inequalities. The 
activity of the Health and Wellbeing Board is focused on delivering the strategic 
vision for Lewisham as established in Shaping our Future – Lewisham’s Sustainable 
Community Strategy, and in Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 
3.2 The work of the Board directly contributes to the priority outcome in Shaping our 

Future that communities in Lewisham should be Healthy, Active and Enjoyable – 
where people can actively participate in maintaining and improving their health and 
wellbeing. 

 
3.3 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 placed a duty on local authorities and their 

partner clinical commissioning groups to prepare and publish joint health and 
wellbeing strategies to meet needs identified in their joint strategic needs 
assessments (JSNAs). Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy was published in 
2013. 

 
3.4 The Health and Social Care Act also required health and wellbeing boards to 

encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social services in 
the area to work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of advancing the health 
and wellbeing of the area. 

 

3.5 The Better Care Fund (BCF) sits as part of a wider strategic approach and the focus 

of this work is to establish better co-ordinated and planned care closer to home, thus 
reducing demand for emergency/crisis care in acute settings and preventing people 
from requiring mental health and social care services. 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Report Title 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Dashboard Update 

Contributors 
 

Director of Public Health Information 
Item No. 

7A 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date:  7 July 2015 

Strategic 
Context  

Please see body of report 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 59



 

4. Background 
 
4.1 In response to the request from members of the Board, the Director of Public Health 

has worked alongside colleagues within Adult Social Care, Children’s Servics and the 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to produce a dashboard of indicators which 
would assist members in monitoring health and wellbeing improvements across 
Lewisham and the effectiveness of the integrated adult care programme. 

 
4.2 The dashboard also includes a number of indicators (including those on birth weight, 

immunisation and excess weight) that are also included in the Be Healthy priority of 
the Children and Young People’s Partnership. 

 

 5. Draft Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Dashboard 
 
5.1 The Draft Performance Dashboard is based on 26 national metrics drawn from the 

Quality and Outcomes (Primary Care), Public Health, NHS and Adult Social Care 
Outcomes Frameworks. These metrics have been selected to assist members in their 
assessment of the impact and success of the plans and activities in relation to the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Lewisham’s adult integrated care programme. 

 
5.2 The indicators will be used to monitor the health outcomes and the integration of 

health and social care services on an annual or quarterly basis. Those indicators that 
show a worsening position since the previous period of data availability (marked with 
a red arrow in the dashboard in Annexe A) are highlighted below, together with a 
commentary on actions being taken to improve the position. 

 
5.3 Overarching Indicators of Health & Wellbeing 
 

The Slope Index of inequality in life expectancy at birth for males has steepened, 
suggesting a widening of inequalities. This contrasts with a slight increase in life 
expectancy at birth for males in the borough as a whole. Without a detailed analysis 
of age specific mortality rates it is not possible to determine which preventable 
causes in which age groups account for this finding. It is likely that differences in 
smoking prevalence between the most affluent and most deprived wards are the key 
explanatory factors. 
 
The proportion of children in poverty has reduced slightly in line with the national 
trend. This is likely to be due to the decrease in the number of out of work benefit 
claimants which this indicator utilises for its calculation. A further improvement is 
seen in the decrease of low birth weight of babies. The proportion of women who 
state they are smoking at the time of delivery has decreased, coupled with an 
increase in the proportion of women who have accessed care before 13 weeks of 
pregnancy, which are possible contributors to this decrease. 

 
5.5 Priority Objective 1: Achieving a Healthy Weight 
 
 Whilst there has been a 1.6% reduction in excess weight in reception year, there has 

been a 1% increase in Year 6 children. The difference in the percentage of excess 
weight children between reception year (around 24-25%) and year 6 (around 38-
39%) has remained the same for the last seven years (not shown in the dashboard).   

 
This suggests that a significant proportion of children are gaining excess weight 
during their time at primary school, and that we have not been able to reduce this 
trend for several years. 

 

Page 60



5.6 Priority Objective 2: Increasing the number of people who survive colorectal, breast 
and lung cancer for 1 and 5 years 

 
 Breast cancer screening coverage has fallen and Lewisham does not meet the 

national target of 70% and has remained at approximately 65% for the past 7 years. 
Screening performance may have dipped due to the transfer of responsibilities to 
NHS England and due to less focused and collaborative work locally. Possible 
activity proposed for 2015-2018 includes promoting cervical, bowel, breast and 
cervical cancer screening programmes in the community and work with GP Practices 
so that they are more proactive in following up cancer screening non-attenders. The 

dialogue with NHS England will also continue.  
 

 The two week wait referrals have increased. Without more detailed analysis it is not 
possible to say if this reflects an increase in the underlying prevalence of cancer, an 
increase in inappropriate referrals, or an increase in early detection of patients at risk 
of cancer in line with a new national performance drive to improve referral pathways. 

 
5.7 Priority Objective 3: Improving Immunisation Uptake 
 

There has been a slight reduction in uptake of  D4 at 5 years and MMR2 at 5 years. 
Whilst efforts continue to encourage GPs to deliver these vaccinations before five 
years of age, other data shows that uptake rates for these vaccines exceeds 90% at 
six years of age (when the GP payments are triggered). 
 
Uptake of HPV has decreased significantly during 2013/14. The public health team 
and school nurse teams will be visiting all secondary schools this year to reinforce 
the message that HPV vaccination protects girls from cervical cancer. 

 

5.8 Priority Objective 4: Reducing Alcohol Harm 
 

The Lewisham rate for alcohol related admissions has decreased, however the 
measure has narrowed from measuring all ‘alcohol related’ admissions, down to 
‘alcohol specific’ conditions (full definition provided in Appendix B). However a 
number of actions have been taken as part of the H&WB Implementation Plan 
including: an increase in the number of posts in the Alcohol Hospital Liaison service 
based within UHL; an Alcohol Hospital Liaison Recovery Worker was funded to 
reduce the numbers of dependent drinkers presenting to A&E, being admitted and re-
admitted to hospital and requiring long term social care support; and brief 
intervention training has been provided to staff across the wards and A&E as part of 
the Alcohol CQUIN, with alcohol screening tools and referral information being 
placed on UHL IT systems. This has also led to an increase in awareness from staff 
in utilising the alcohol pathways.  

 
5.9 Priority Objective 5: Preventing the uptake of smoking among children and young 

people and reducing the numbers of people smoking 
 

Smoking prevalence has decreased slightly, reflecting a downward trend over the 
past few years.  Smoking status at time of delivery remains less than half that of 
London and England (SATOD). Under 75 mortality from lung cancer has increased. 
Although the rate is a notable rise on 2012, a three year average for 2011-2013 of 
42.9 reveals that the indicator is subject to large yearly changes. The three year 
average is also comparable to similar authorities: Lambeth (41.9); Greenwich (42.7) 
and Southwark (41.1). The high smoking prevalence in the 1960s-80s is the main 
contributor to lung cancer deaths. Smoking prevalence has continued to decrease in 
the borough over the last ten years, which will eventually reduce lung cancer deaths. 
There are a number of key actions identified at a local level in addition to national 

Page 61



measures to reduce smoking prevalence. These include continued focus on 
enforcement (there has been significant success in seizures of illegal tobacco) and a 
stop smoking service for heavily addicted smokers. There has also been particular 
success in reducing smoking in more deprived areas of the borough and an evidence 
based peer to peer programme regarding smoking awareness has been introduced 
in schools. 

 
5.10 Priority Objective 6: Improving mental health and wellbeing 
 

The under 75 mortality rate for those with serious mental illness has decreased 
notably and is significantly lower than the England average (London data not 
available). However prevalence of dementia and suicide rates has increased slightly. 
 

5.11 Priority Objective 7: Improving sexual health 
 

Whilst remaining significantly higher than England, the Legal abortion rate has 
continued to decrease notably; this is in-line with both the regional and national trend. 
Teenage pregnancy has also decreased. 
 

5.12 Priority Objective 8: Delaying and reducing the need for long term care and support 
 

There is no change since the last dashboard. 
 

5.13 Priority Objective 9: Reducing the number of emergency admissions for people with 
long term conditions 

 

New data for 2013/14 was available on the percentage of Emergency Readmissions 
within 30 days of discharge. At 15.69% Lewisham is on a par with similar CCGs as 
benchmarked by the Commissioning for Value Framework. 

 
6. Financial implications   
 

 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report. 
 

7. Legal implications  
 

As part of their statutory functions, members of the Board are required to encourage 
persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social services in the area to 
work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of advancing the health and well-being 
of the area and to encourage persons who arrange for the provision of health-related 
services in its area to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 

8. Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations 

 

9. Equalities Implications  
 

There are no specific equalities implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations, but the dashboard highlights those areas where health 
inequalities exist in Lewisham and can be monitored.  

 

10. Environmental Implications 
 

Page 62



There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report or its 
recommendations. 

 

11. Summary and Conclusion 
 

There are a number of positive improvements to note from this updated dashboard. 
Increases in life expectancy and a reduction of the proportion of children in poverty 
are indicators of overall improvement. There was also a reduction in the percentage 
of babies born with a low birth weight, which whilst still significantly higher than 
England, has now become fractionally lower than the London average. 
 
Excess weight in reception age children has reduced, however conversely has 
increased for those in Year 6. Both these indicators remain significantly higher than 
England and higher than the London average. 
 
Breast cancer screening coverage has fallen, however two week wait referrals has 
increased. These areas need further attention. Uptake of immunisations has seen a 
mixed result. MMR1, D3 and the Flu vaccine for over 65s have risen, however levels 
have fallen for MMR2, D4 and HPV. 
 
Both smoking prevalence and smoking at time of delivery have decreased. Both the 
legal abortion rate and teenage conceptions has reduced since the previous 
dashboard but still remain significantly higher than England. 

 
 
 
 
If there are any queries on this report please contact Dr Danny Ruta, Director of Public 
Health, Community Services Directorate, Lewisham Council, on 020 8314 8637 or by email 
danny.ruta@lewisham.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 63



Annex B: Definitions and Data sources 

 
Please note that some of the definitions may have PCTs instead of CCGs for organisation. This is due 
to the national definitions in the technical specification document which can be obtained by clicking on 
the link in the data source section. 
 

1a/1b. Life Expectancy at Birth (Male/Female) 

Definition The average number of years a person would expect to live based on contemporary 
mortality rates. For a particular area and time period, it is an estimate of the 
average number of years a newborn baby would survive if he or she experienced 
the age-specific mortality rates for that area and time period throughout his or her 
life. 
Figures are calculated from deaths from all causes and mid-year population 
estimates, based on data aggregated over a three year period. 
Figures reflect mortality among those living in an area in each time period, rather 
than what will be experienced throughout life among those born in the area. The 
figures are not therefore the number of years a baby born in the area could actually 
expect to live, both because the mortality rates of the area are likely to change in 
the future and because many of those born in the area will live elsewhere for at 
least some part of their lives. 

Numerator Number of deaths registered in the respective calendar years 

Denominator ONS mid-year population estimates for the respective calendar years 

Data source PHOF 0.1ii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 

 
 

2. Children in Poverty (Under 16s) 

Definition Percentage of children in low income families (children living in families in receipt of 
out of work benefits or tax credits where their reported income is less than 60% 
median income) for under 16s only. 

Numerator Number of children aged under 16 living in families in receipt of CTC whose 
reported income is less than 60 per cent of the median income or in receipt of IS or 
(Income-Based) JSA. 

Denominator Number of children aged under 16 for whom Child Benefit was received in each 
local authority. 

Data source PHOF 1.01ii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 

 
 

3. Under 75 Mortality Rates from CVD 

Definition Mortality from all circulatory diseases (ICD-10 I00-I99 equivalent to ICD-9 390-459). 

Numerator Deaths from all circulatory diseases, classified by underlying cause of death (ICD-
10 I00-I99, ICD-9 390-459 adjusted), registered in the respective calendar year(s). 

Denominator 2001 Census based mid-year pop estimates for the calendar years 1993-2001. 
2011 Census rebased mid-year pop estimates for the calendar years 2002-2010  
2011 Census based mid-year pop estimates for the calendar year 2011 onwards 

Data source NHSIC - P00400 
Data 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/06A_076DRT0074_12_V1
_D.csv 
Specification 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Specification/Spec_06A_076DR
T0074_V1.pdf 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



4. Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL) from causes considered amenable to healthcare (DSR) 

Definition Directly age and sex standardised potential years of life lost to conditions amenable 
to healthcare in the respective calendar year per 100,000 CCG population. 

Numerator Death registrations in the calendar year for all England deaths based on GP of 
registration from the Primary Care Mortality Database (PCMD). 

Denominator Unconstrained GP registered population counts by single year of age and sex from 
the HSCIC (Exeter) Systems; supplied annually on 1 January for the forthcoming 
calendar year. 

Data source NHOF 1a (NHSIC P01559 – CCGOI 1.1) 
Data 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%2
0Indicators/Data/CCG_1.1_I00767_D_V5.xls 
Specification 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%2
0Indicators/Specification/CCG_1.1_I00767_S_V4.pdf  

 
 

5a/5b. Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth (Males/Females) 

Definition This indicator measures inequalities in life expectancy. Life expectancy at birth is 
calculated for each local deprivation decile based on Lower Super Output Areas 
(LSOAs). The slope index of inequality (SII) is then calculated based on these 
figures. The SII is a measure of the social gradient in life expectancy, i.e. how much 
life expectancy varies with deprivation. It takes account of health inequalities across 
the whole range of deprivation factors within each local authority and summarises 
this as a single number, which represents the range in years of life expectancy 
across the social gradient from most to least deprived, based on a statistical 
analysis of the relationship between life expectancy and deprivation across all 
deprivation deciles. 
Life expectancy at birth is a measure of the average number of years a person 
would expect to live based on contemporary mortality rates. For a particular area 
and time period, it is an estimate of the average number of years a newborn baby 
would survive if he or she experienced the age-specific mortality rates for that area 
and time period throughout his or her life. 

Data source PHOF 0.2iii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 

 
 

6. Infant Mortality 

Definition Mortality rate per 1,000 live births (age under 1 year) 

Numerator The number of infant deaths aged less than 1 year that occurred in the relevant 
period. 

Denominator Number of all births. 

Data source CHIMAT Child health Profiles for Lewisham 
http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=101746&REGION=101634 
Original source is from ONS. 

 
 

7. Low birth weight of all babies 

Definition Percentage of live and stillbirths weighing less than 2,500 grams 

Numerator Number of new born babies weighing less than 2500gms 

Denominator Number of all births 

Data source CHIMAT Child health Profiles for Lewisham 
http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=101746&REGION=101634 
Original source is from ONS 

 
 

Page 65



8. Proportion of people using social care who receive self-directed support, and those receiving direct 
payments 

Definition This is a two-part measure which reflects both the proportion of people using 
services who receive self-directed support (part 1), and the proportion who receive 
a direct payment either through a personal budget or other means (part 2). 

Numerator Number of clients and carers receiving self-directed support (part 1) or direct 
payments (part 2) in the year to 31 March 

Denominator Number of clients receiving community-based services and carers receiving carer 
specific services in the year to 31 March (aged 18 and over) 

Data source ASCOF 1C – NHSIC https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Social Care/Data/1C - Dec.xls 

 
 

9. Average number of delayed transfers of care from hospital on a particular day, averaged over the 
year (Crude rate per 100,000) 

Definition This measures the impact of hospital services (acute, mental health and non-acute) 
and community-based care in facilitating timely and appropriate transfer from 
hospital. This indicates the ability of the whole system to ensure appropriate transfer 
from hospital for the entire adult population, and is an indicator of the effectiveness 
of the interface within the NHS, and between health and social care services. 
Minimising delayed transfers of care and enabling people to live independently at 
home is one of the desired outcomes of social care. This is a two-part measure that 
reflects both the overall number of delayed transfers of care (part 1) and, as a 
subset, the number of these delays which are attributable to social care services 
(part 2). A delayed transfer of care occurs when a patient is ready for transfer from 
a hospital bed, but is still occupying such a bed. 

Numerator Average number of delayed transfers of care on a particular day taken over the year 
(aged 18 and over) - this is the average of the 12 monthly snapshots collected in the 
monthly Situation Report (SitRep) (part 1) and of those the delays that are 
attributable to social care or jointly to social care and the NHS (part 2) 

Denominator Size of the adult population in area (aged 18 and over) 

Data source ASCOF 2C http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-
transfers-of-care/ 

 
 

10. Days of Delay due to delayed transfers of care from hospital 

Definition This measure is similar to ASCOF 2C in that it measures the impact of hospital 
services and community based care in facilitating timely and appropriate transfer 
from hospital. However the measure looks at the total number of days of delay, 
rather than the number of patients that were delayed. 

 Average number of days of delay patients experienced on a particular day taken 
over the year (aged 18 and over)  

Data source NHS England http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-
transfers-of-care/ 

 
Priority Objective 1: Achieving a Healthy Weight 
 

11. Excess weight in Adults 

Definition Percentage of adults classified as overweight or obese 

Numerator Number of adults with a BMI classified as overweight (including obese), calculated 
from the adjusted height and weight variables. Data are from APS6 quarters 2-4 
and APS7 quarter 1 (mid-Jan 2012 to mid-Jan 2013). 
Adults are defined as overweight (including obese) if their body mass index (BMI) is 
greater than or equal to 25kg/m2 

Denominator Number of adults with valid height and weight recorded. Data are from APS6 
quarters 2-4 and APS7 quarter 1 (mid-Jan 2012 to mid-Jan 2013). 

Data source PHOF 2.12 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original Source: Active People Survey (APS), England 

 
 

Page 66



12a/12b. Excess weight in Children - Reception Year/ Year 6 Children 

Definition Proportion of children aged 4-5 classified as overweight or obese. Children are 
classified as overweight (including obese) if their BMI is on or above the 85th centile 
of the British 1990 growth reference (UK90) according to age and sex. 

Numerator Number of children in Reception (aged 4-5 years) or Year 6 (aged 10-11) and 
classified as overweight or obese in the academic year. Children are classified as 
overweight (including obese) if their BMI is on or above the 85th centile of the British 
1990 growth reference (UK90) according to age and sex 

Denominator Number of children in Reception (aged 4-5 years) or Year 6 (aged 10-11) measured 
in the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) attending participating state 
maintained schools in England 

Data source PHOF 2.06 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original Source: HSCIC National Childhood Measurement Programme (NCMP) 

 
 

13. Breastfeeding Prevalence 6-8 weeks 

Definition This is the percentage of infants that are totally or partially breastfed at age 6-8 
weeks. Totally breastfed is defined as infants who are exclusively receiving breast 
milk at 6-8 weeks of age - that is, they are not receiving formula milk, any other 
liquids or food. Partially breastfed is defined as infants who are currently receiving 
breast milk at 6-8 weeks of age and who are also receiving formula milk or any other 
liquids or food. Not at all breastfed is defined as infants who are not currently 
receiving any breast milk at 6-8 weeks of age. 

Numerator Number of infants at the 6-8 week check who are totally or partially breastfeeding. 

Denominator Number of infants due for 6-8 week checks. 

Data source PHOF 2.02ii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original Source: Department of Health Integrated Performance Monitoring Return 

 
 

14a/14b. % of physically active and inactive adults 
Definition The number of respondents aged 16 and over, with valid responses to questions on 

physical activity, doing at least 150 “equivalent” minutes of at least moderate 
intensity physical activity per week in bouts of 10 minutes or more in the previous 28 
days expressed as a percentage of the total number of respondents aged 16. 

Numerator Number of respondents aged 16 and over, with valid responses to questions on 
physical activity, doing at least 150 “equivalent” minutes of at least moderate 
intensity physical activity per week in bouts of 10 minutes or more in the last 28 days 

Denominator Number of respondents aged 16 and over, with valid responses to questions on 
physical activity. 

Data source PHOF 2.13i http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original Source: Active People Survey, England 

 
Priority Objective 2: Increasing the number of people who survive colorectal, breast and lung 
cancer for 1 and 5 years 
 

15a. Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer 
Definition The percentage of women in the resident population eligible for breast screening 

who were screened adequately within the previous three years on 31 March 

Numerator Number of women aged 53–70 resident in the area (determined by postcode of 
residence) with a screening test result recorded in the previous three years 

Denominator Number of women aged 53–70 resident in the area (determined by postcode of 
residence) who are eligible for breast screening at a given point in time. 

Data source PHOF 2.20i http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre (Open Exeter) 

 
 

Page 67



15b. Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer 
Definition The percentage of women in the resident population eligible for cervical screening 

who were screened adequately within the previous 3.5 years or 5.5 years, 
according to age (3.5 years for women aged 25-49 and 5.5 years for women aged 
50-64) on 31 March 

Numerator The number of women aged 25-49 resident in the area (determined by postcode of 
residence) with an adequate screening test in the previous 3.5 years plus the 
number of women aged 50-64 resident in the area with an adequate screening test 
in the previous 5.5 years 

Denominator Number of women aged 25–64 resident in the area (determined by postcode of 
residence) who are eligible for cervical screening at a given point in time. 

Data source PHOF 2.20ii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original Source: Health and Social Care Information Centre (Open Exeter) 

 

15c. Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer 
Definition The number of persons registered to the practice aged 60-69 invited for screening 

in the previous 12 months who were screened adequately following an initial 
response within 6 months of invitation. 

Rate of 
Proportion 

Screening uptake %: the number of persons aged 60-69 invited for screening in the 
previous 12 months who were screened adequately following an initial response 
within 6 months of invitation divided by the total number of persons aged 60-69 
invited for screening in the previous 12 months. 

Data source Cancer Commissioning Toolkit GP Profiles 
Data https://www.cancertoolkit.co.uk/Profiles/PracticePublic/Filters 
Specification https://www.cancertoolkit.co.uk/Profiles/PracticePublic/Documents 
NB: Data in the performance indicator portal is local data from London Bowel 
Screening hub obtained via Open Exeter. 

 

16. Early diagnosis of cancer 
Definition New cases of cancer diagnosed at stage 1 and 2 as a proportion of all new cases of 

cancer diagnosed (specific cancer sites, morphologies and behaviour: invasive 
malignancies of breast, prostate, colorectal, lung, bladder, kidney, ovary, uterus, 
non-Hodgkin lymphomas, and invasive melanomas of skin). This indicator is 
labelled as experimental because of the variation in data quality: the indicator 
values primarily represent variation in completeness of staging information. 

Numerator Cases of cancer diagnosed at stage 1 or 2, for the specific cancer sites, 
morphologies and behaviour: invasive malignancies of breast, prostate, colorectal, 
lung, bladder, kidney, ovary, uterus, non-Hodgkin lymphomas, and invasive 
melanomas of skin 

Denominator All new cases of cancer diagnosed at any stage or unknown stage, for the specific 
cancer sites, morphologies and behaviour: invasive malignancies of breast, 
prostate, colorectal, lung, bladder, kidney, ovary, uterus, non-Hodgkin lymphomas, 
and invasive melanomas of skin 

Data source PHOF 2.19 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original Source: National cancer registry 

 
 

 
 
 
 

17. Two week wait referrals 
Definition The number of Two Week Wait (GP urgent) referrals where cancer is suspected for  

patients registered at the practice in question 

Rate or 
proportion 

The crude rate of referral: the number of Two Week Wait referrals where cancer is 
suspected multiplied by 100,000 divided by the list size of the practice in question. 

Data source Cancer Commissioning Toolkit GP Profiles 
Data https://www.cancertoolkit.co.uk/Profiles/PracticePublic/Filters 
Specification https://www.cancertoolkit.co.uk/Profiles/PracticePublic/Documents 

 
 
 

Page 68



18. Under 75 mortality from all cancers 

Definition Mortality from all malignant neoplasms (ICD-10 C00-C97 equiv to ICD-9 140-208). 

Numerator Deaths from all malignant neoplasms, classified by underlying cause of death (ICD-
10 C00-C97, ICD-9 140-208 adjstd), registered in the respective calendar year(s). 

Denominator 2001 Census based mid-year pop estimates for the calendar years 1993 - 2001.  
2011 Census rebased mid-year pop estimates for the calendar years 2002-2010  
2011 Census based mid-year pop estimates for the calendar year 2011 onwards 

Data source PHOF 4.05i - NHSIC P00381 
Data 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/11B_075DRT0074_12_V1
_D.xls 
Specification 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Specification/Spec_11B_075DR
T0074_V1.pdf 

 
 
Priority Objective 3: Improving Immunisation Uptake 
 

19. Uptake of the first dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella vaccine (MMR1) at two years of age 

Definition All children for whom the CCG is responsible who received one dose of MMR 
vaccine on or after their 1st birthday and at any time up to their 2nd birthday as a 
percentage of all children whose 2nd birthday falls within the time period. Estimates 
for local authorities are based on CCGs, which include all people registered with 
practices accountable to the CCG. 

Numerator Total number of children who received one dose of MMR vaccine on or after their 
1st birthday and at any time up to their 2nd birthday. 

Denominator The responsible population. The CCG is responsible for all children registered with 
a GP whose practice forms part of the CCG, regardless of residency, plus any 
children not registered with a GP who are resident within the CCG’s statutory 
geographical boundary. 

Data source PHOF 3.03vii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original source: Cover of Vaccination Evaluated Rapidly (COVER) data collected 
by PHE. Available from HSCIC. 

 

20. Uptake of the second dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella Vaccine (MMR2) at five years of age 

Definition All children for whom the CCG is responsible who received two doses of MMR on 
or after their 1st birthday and at any time up to their 5th birthday as a percentage of 
all children whose 5th birthday falls within the time period. Estimates for local 
authorities are based on CCGs, which include all people registered with practices 
accountable to the CCG. 

Numerator Total number of children who received two doses of MMR on or after their 1st 
birthday and at any time up to their 5th birthday. 

Denominator All children in the responsible population whose 5th birthday falls within the time 
period. The CCG is responsible for all children registered with a GP whose practice 
forms part of the CCG, regardless of residency, plus any children not registered 
with a GP who are resident within the CCG’s statutory geographical boundary. 

Data source PHOF 3.03 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original source: Cover of Vaccination Evaluated Rapidly (COVER) data collected 
by PHE. Available from HSCIC. 

 

21. Uptake of the third dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D3) at one year of age 
Definition The percentage of children for whom the CCG is responsible who received 3 doses 

of DTP, polio, Hib) at any time up to their 1st birthday. Estimates for local authorities 
are based on CCGs, which include all people registered with practices accountable 
to the CCG. 

Numerator Total number who received 3 doses of DTP, polio, Hib at any time up to their 1st 
birthday. 

Denominator The responsible population. The CCG is responsible for all children registered with 

Page 69



a GP whose practice forms part of the CCG, regardless of residency, plus any 
children not registered with a GP who are resident within the CCG’s statutory 
geographical boundary. 

Data source Local Immunisation Cover Data 

 
 

22. Uptake of the fourth dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D4) at five years of age 

Definition The percentage of children for whom the CCG is responsible who received 3 doses 
of DTP, polio, Hib as well as the DTP, polio booster at any time up to their 5th 
birthday. Estimates for local authorities are based on CCGs, which include all 
people registered with practices accountable to the CCG. 

Numerator The number of children for whom the CCG is responsible who received 3 doses of 
DTP, polio, Hib as well as the DTP, polio booster at any time up to their 5th 
birthday. 

Denominator The responsible population. The CCG is responsible for all children registered with 
a GP whose practice forms part of the CCG, regardless of residency, plus any 
children not registered with a GP who are resident within the CCG’s statutory 
geographical boundary. 

Data source Local Immunisation Cover Data 

 
 

23. Uptake of Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccine in girls in Year 8 in Lewisham Schools 

Definition The percentage of girls aged 12 to 13 years for whom the CCG is responsible who 
have received all three doses of the HPV vaccine. Estimates for local authorities 
are based on CCGs, which include all people registered with practices accountable 
to the CCG. 

Numerator Number of Year 8 schoolgirls (aged 12 to 13 years) who have received all three 
doses of the HPV vaccine. 

Denominator Number of Year 8 schoolgirls (aged 12-13). The CCG is responsible for all children 
registered with a GP whose practice forms part of the CCG, regardless of 
residency, plus any children not registered with a GP who are resident within the 
CCG’s statutory geographical boundary. 

Data source PHOF 3.03xii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
NB: Data in the performance indicator portal is local data from GP systems 
obtained via EMIS Web. 
Original source: Cover of Vaccination Evaluated Rapidly (COVER) data collected 
by PHE. Available from HSCIC. 

 
 

24. Uptake of Influenza vaccine in those over 65 years of age 

Definition Flu vaccine uptake (%) in adults aged 65 and over, who received the flu vaccination 
between 1st September and 31st January each financial year. 

Numerator Number of adults aged 65 years and over vaccinated between 1st September and 
31st January of the financial year. 

Denominator Adults aged 65 years and over. The CCG is responsible for all adults registered 
with a GP whose practice forms part of the CCG, regardless of residency. 

Data source PHOF 3.03 xiv http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original source: PHE https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/public-health-
england/series/vaccine-uptake 

 
Priority Objective 4: Reducing Alcohol Harm 
 

25. Alcohol Specific Hospital Admission 

Definition The number of hospital admissions due to alcohol-specific conditions, directly age 
standardised rate per 100,000 population. 

Numerator The number of admissions involving an alcohol-related primary diagnosis or an 
alcohol-related external cause. See LAPE user guide for further details - 
http://www.lape.org.uk/downloads/Lape_guidance_and_methods.pdf 

Page 70



Denominator ONS mid year population estimates 

Data source PHOF 6.01 http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-alcohol-
profiles/data#gid/1938132833/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000002/ii
d/91384/age/1/sex/4 

 
 

26. Number of practitioners skilled in identifying those at risk from alcohol harm and delivering brief 
interventions 

Definition The number of practitioners who have attended Identification and Brief Advice 
Training (Brief Intervention) 

Numerator N/A 

Denominator All Frontline Workers 

Data source Lewisham Public Health 

 
 
Priority Objective 5: Preventing the uptake of smoking among children and young people and 
reducing the numbers of people smoking 
 

27. Under 75 Mortality from Respiratory 

Definition Age-standardised rate of mortality from respiratory disease in persons less than 75 
years per 100,000 population 

Numerator Number of deaths from respiratory diseases (classified by underlying cause of 
death recorded as ICD codes J00-J99) registered in the respective calendar years, 
in people aged under 75, aggregated into quinary age bands (0-4, 5-9,…, 70-74). 
Counts of deaths for years up to and including 2010 have been adjusted where 
needed to take account of the ICD-10 coding change introduced in 2011. The 
detailed guidance on the implementation is available at 
http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=126245 

Denominator ONS 2011 Census based mid-year population estimates; Population-years 
(aggregated populations for the three years) for people of all ages, aggregated into 
quinary age bands (0-4, 5-9, …, 70-74). 

Data source PHOF 4.07i http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 

 
 

28. Under 75 Mortality from Lung Cancer 

Definition Mortality from lung cancer (ICD-10 C33-C34 equivalent to ICD-9 162). 

Numerator Deaths from lung cancer, classified by underlying cause of death (ICD-10 C33-C34, 
ICD-9 162 adjusted), registered in the respective calendar year(s). 

Denominator 2001 Census based mid-year pop estimates for the calendar years 1993-2001. 
2011 Census rebased mid-year pop estimates for the calendar years 2002-2010  
2011 Census based mid-year pop estimates for the calendar year 2011 onwards 

Data source NHSIC – P00512 
Data 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Data/14B_105DRT0074_12_V1
_D.xls 
Specification 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/NCHOD/Specification/Spec_14B_105DR
T0074_V1.pdf 

 

29. Smoking Prevalence (18+) 

Definition Prevalence of smoking among adults aged 18+in the routine and manual group 

Numerator The number of persons aged 18+ who are self-reported smokers in the Integrated 
Household Survey. The number of respondents has been weighted in order to 
improve representativeness of the sample. The weights take into account survey 
design and non-response. 

Denominator The number of persons aged 18+ who are self-reported smokers in the Integrated 
Household Survey. The number of respondents has been weighted in order to 
improve representativeness of the sample. The weights take into account survey 
design and non-response. 

Page 71



Data source PHOF 2.14 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original Source: ONS Integrated Household Survey 

 

30. 4 week smoking quitters 

Definition This indicator relates to clients receiving support through the NHS Stop Smoking 
Services. A client is counted as a self‐reported 4‐week quitter if they have been 
assessed 4 weeks after the designated quit date and declares that he/she has not 
smoked even a single puff on a cigarette in the past two weeks. The indicator is a 
count of treatment episodes rather than people, so an individual who undergoes two 
treatment episodes and has quit at four weeks in both cases are counted twice. 

Numerator Number of self‐reported 4‐week smoking quitters. 

Denominator Population aged 16 or over. 

Data source Data – Local NHS Stop Smoking Service database. 
Specification 
https://nascis.hscic.gov.uk/download.ashx?src=MetaDataPdf&file=JSNA_Metadata
_NI+123.pdf 

 

31. Number of 11-15 year-olds who take up smoking 

Definition Data is obtained from survey of Yr8 and Yr 10 secondary schoolchildren. Survey 
happens every 2 years (2008, 2010 – No survey in 2012 but one expected in 2014) 
Percentage of pupils in each group responding to: 
‘Which statement describes you best?’ 
Responses taken into account to calculate the percentage are below. 

• I smoke occasionally (< 1 / week) 

• Smoke regularly, like to give up 

• Smoke, don't want to give it up 

Data source SHEU Survey 2010 – Lewisham Public Health Team 
N:\lew ph team\Health Intelligence\Archive\Health Intelligence\SHEU reports 

 

32. Number of children in smoke free homes 

Definition Data is obtained from survey of Yr8 and Yr 10 secondary schoolchildren. Survey 
happens every 2 years (2008, 2010 – No survey in 2012 but one expected in 2014) 
Percentage of pupils in each group responding to: 
How many people smoke, including yourself and regular visitors, on most days 
indoors in your home? 
Responses taken into account to calculate the percentage are below. 

• None (as Proxy) 

Data source SHEU Survey 2010 – Lewisham Public Health Team 
N:\lew ph team\Health Intelligence\Archive\Health Intelligence\SHEU reports 

 

33. Prevalence of Smoking in 15 year olds 

Definition Data is obtained from survey of Yr8 and Yr 10 secondary schoolchildren. Survey 
happens every 2 years (2008, 2010 – No survey in 2012 but one expected in 2014) 
Percentage of pupils in each group responding to: 
24: Which statement describes you best? 
Responses taken into account to calculate the percentage are below. 

• I have never smoked at all 

Data source SHEU Survey 2010 – Lewisham Public Health Team 
N:\lew ph team\Health Intelligence\Archive\Health Intelligence\SHEU reports 

 

34. Smoking at time of delivery 

Definition Number of women who currently smoke at time of delivery per 100 maternities. 
Data includes all women resident within the CCG’s boundary, and no data are 
available to break down the CCG denominators for different areas within the CCG. 

Numerator Number of women known to smoke at time of delivery.  
Denominator Number of maternities. 

Data source PHOF 2.03 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
NB: Latest available quarter data from NHS Stop smoking service database. 

Page 72



Priority Objective 6: Improving mental health and wellbeing 
 

35. Under 75 mortality rates for those with serious mental illness 

Definition Rate of mortality in people aged 18 to 74 suffering from serious mental illness 
standardised and compared to the general population. 

Numerator Deaths from any cause in age range 18-74 at death. MH-NMDS linked over three 
years and to the Primary Care Mortality Database (PCMD). 

Denominator The mental health population is defined as anyone who has been in contact with the 
secondary mental care services in the current financial year or in either of the two 
previous financial years who is alive at the beginning of the current financial year. 
MH-NMDS linked over three years and to PCMD, in age range 18-74. 

Data source NHSOF 1.5 
Data 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Outcomes%20Framework/Data/NHSOF_
1.5_I00665_D_V7.xls 
Specification 
https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Outcomes%20Framework/Specification/
NHSOF_Domain_1_S_V2.pdf 

 

36a. Prevalence of Serious Mental Illness 

Definition The percentage of patients with schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder and other 
psychoses as recorded on practice disease registers. 

Numerator Patients with schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder and other psychoses 

Denominator CCG responsible population 

Data source National GP Practice Profiles http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-
practice/data#mod,3,pyr,2013,pat,19,par,E38000098,are,-,sid1,2000003,ind1,-
,sid2,-,ind2,- 
Original Source: HSCIC QOF http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB12262 

 

36b. Prevalence of Dementia 

Definition The percentage of patients with dementia as recorded on practice disease registers. 

Numerator Patients with dementia 

Denominator CCG responsible population 

Data source Original Source: HSCIC QOF http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB12262. 

 

36c. Prevalence of Depression 

Definition The percentage of patients aged 18 and over with depression, as recorded on 
practice disease registers. 

Numerator Patients aged 18 and over with depression, as recorded on practice disease 
registers. 

Denominator CCG responsible population 

Data source Original Source: HSCIC QOF http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB12262 

 

37. Suicide rates 

Definition Age-standardised mortality rate from suicide and injury of undetermined intent per 
100,000 population 

Numerator Number of deaths from suicide and injury of undetermined intent classified by 
underlying cause of death recorded as ICD10 codes X60-X84 (all ages), Y10-Y34 
(ages 15+ only) registered in the respective calendar years, aggregated into quinary 
age bands (0-4, 5-9,…, 85-89, 90+). 
Counts of deaths for years up to and including 2010 have been adjusted where 
needed to take account of the ICD-10 coding change introduced in 2011. The 
detailed guidance on the implementation is available at 
http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=126245. 

Denominator Population-years (aggregated populations for the three years) for people of all 
ages, aggregated into quinary age bands (0-4, 5-9, …, 85-89, 90+). ONS 2011 Mid 
year estimates. 

Data source PHOF 4.10 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000044/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original Source: ONS Mortality data extracted by Public Health England 

Page 73



38. Self-reported well-being - people with a low happiness score 

Definition The percentage of respondents who answered 0-4 to the question 
"Overall, how happy did you feel yesterday?" 

ONS are currently measuring individual/subjective well-being based on four 
questions included on the Integrated Household Survey: 
“Overall, how satisfied are you with your life nowadays?” 
“Overall, how happy did you feel yesterday?” 
“Overall, how anxious did you feel yesterday?” 
“Overall, to what extent do you feel the things you do in your life are worthwhile?” 

Responses are given on a scale of 0-10 
(where 0 is “not at all satisfied/happy/anxious/worthwhile”; and 
 10 is “completely satisfied/happy/anxious/worthwhile”) 
In the ONS report, the percentage of people scoring 0-4, 5-6, 7-8 and 9-10 have 
been calculated for this indicator. The percentage of those scoring 0-4 (respondents 
in that area that scored themselves the lowest marks) in the question: 'Overall, how 
happy did you feel yesterday?' will be presented in this indicator. 

Numerator Weighted count of respondents in the APS who rated their answer to the question: 
“Overall, how happy did you feel yesterday?” as 0, 1, 2, 3 or 4 on a scale between 
0-10, where 0 is not at all and 10 is completely. These respondents are described 
as having the lowest levels of happiness. Respondents in the APS are aged 16 and 
over who live in residential households in the UK 

Denominator Weighted count of all respondents to the question “Overall, how happy did you feel 
yesterday?” 

Data source PHOF 2.23ii http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original Source: Annual Population Survey (APS); ONS 

 
Priority Objective 7: Improving sexual health 
 

39. Rate of chlamydia diagnoses per 100,000 young people aged 15 to 24 

Definition Crude rate of chlamydia diagnoses per 100,000 young adults aged 15-24 based on 
their area of residence 

Numerator The number of people aged 15-24 diagnosed with chlamydia 

Denominator Resident population aged 15-24 

Data source PHOF 3.02i http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000043/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original Source http://www.chlamydiascreening.nhs.uk/ps/data.asp 

 

40a. People presenting with HIV at a late stage of infection(%) or 

Definition Number of adults (aged 15 years or more) newly diagnosed with HIV infection with 
CD4 counts available withing 91 days and indicating a count of less than 350 cells 
per mm

3
 as a percentage of number of adults (aged 15 years or more) newly 

diagnosed with HIV infection with CD4 counts available within 91 days. 

Numerator Number of adults (aged 15 years or more) newly diagnosed with HIV infection with 
CD4 counts available within 91 days and indicating a count of less than 350 cells 
per mm

3
 

Denominator Number of adults (aged 15 years or more) newly diagnosed with HIV infection with 
CD4 counts available within 91 days. 

Data source PHOF 3.04 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 

 

40b. Prevalence of diagnosed HIV infection per 1,000 among persons aged 15 to 59 years 

Definition People aged 15 to 59 years who were seen at HIV care services. 

Numerator The number of people living with a diagnosed HIV infection resident in a given local 
health service who were aged 15 to 59 years and who were seen for HIV care at a 
NHS site in the UK. 

Denominator Estimated total population aged 15 to 59 years resident in a given local health 
service area (ONS mid-year population estimates) 

Data source Public health England Sexual and Reproductive Health Profiles 
http://www.phoutcomes.info/profile/sexualhealth/data#gid/8000057/pat/6/ati/102/pa

Page 74



ge/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original Source - HPA for HIV stats/ ONS for Population 
http://www.hpa.org.uk/webw/HPAweb&Page&HPAwebAutoListDate/Page/1201094
588844?p=1201094588844 

 

41. Legal Abortion rate for all ages 

Definition Legal Abortions: Age Standardised Rate per 1000 resident women aged 15-44 

Numerator Number of all Legal Abortions 

Denominator Number of resident women aged 15-44 

Data source ONS via DH. Detailed data obtained through Local commissioners. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3076
50/Abortion_statistics__England_and_Wales.pdf 

 

42. Teenage conceptions 

Definition Conceptions in women aged under 18 per 1,000 females aged 15-17 

Numerator Number of pregnancies that occur to women aged under 18, that result in either 
one or more live or still births or a legal abortion under the Abortion Act 1967. 

Denominator Number of women aged 15-17 living in the area. 

Data source Public health outcomes framework  2.04 
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#gid/1000042/pat/6/ati/102/page/6/par/E12000007/are/E09000023 
Original source: ONS 

 
Priority Objective 8 – Delaying and reducing the need for long term care and support. 
 

43. Social care related quality of life (to be replaced by a national metric in due course) 

Definition How do people receiving adult social care services rate their quality of life? This 
measure is calculated using a combination of responses to the Adult Social Care 
Survey, which asks how satisfied or dissatisfied users are with indicators of quality 
of life, such as personal cleanliness and safety. A higher score is better, with a 
theoretical maximum of 32, and a minimum of 8. Any score better than 16 suggests 
a positive result. 

Numerator The sum of the scores for all respondents who answered all eight questions. 

Denominator Number of respondents who answered questions 3a to 9a and 11 in the annual 
Adult Social Care Survey 

Data source ASCOF 1A https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Social Care/Data/1A - Dec.xls  

 

44. Rate of new admissions to long term care 

Definition This is a two part-measure reflecting the number of admissions of younger adults 
(part 1) and older people (part 2) to residential and nursing care homes relative to 
the population size of each group. The measure compares council records with 
ONS population estimates. 

Numerator Number of council-supported permanent admissions of older adults to residential 
and nursing care, excluding transfers between residential and nursing care (aged 
18-64 – part 1 and aged 65 and over - part 2) 

Denominator Size of older adult population in area (aged 65 and over) 

Data source ASCOF 2A https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Social Care/Data/2A - Dec.xls  
 

45. Percentage of older people (65+) still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
rehabilitation/reablement services  

Definition This measures the benefit to individuals from reablement, intermediate care and 
rehabilitation following a hospital episode, by determining whether an individual 
remains living at home 91 days following discharge – a key outcome for people 
receiving reablement. It captures the joint work of social services and health staff 
and services commissioned by joint teams, as well as adult social care reablement. 
 

Numerator Number of older people (aged 65 and over) discharged from acute or community 
hospitals to their own home or to a residential or nursing care home or extra care 
housing for rehabilitation, with a clear intention that they will move on/back to their 

Page 75



own home (including a place in extra care housing or an adult placement scheme 
setting), who are at home or in extra care housing or an adult placement scheme 
setting 91 days after the date of their discharge from hospital. This should only 
include the outcome for those cases referred to in the denominator. 

Denominator Number of older people (aged 65 and over) discharged from acute or community 
hospitals from hospital to their own home or to a residential or nursing care home or 
extra care housing for rehabilitation, with the clear intention that they will move 
on/back to their own home (including a place in extra care housing or an adult 
placement scheme setting). 

Data source ASCOF 2B https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Social Care/Data/2B - Dec.xls  
 
 
Priority Objective 9: Reducing the number of emergency admissions for people with long term 
conditions 
 

46. Rate of avoidable emergency admissions 

Definition Composite measure of:  

• unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions 
(all ages); 

• unplanned hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in children; 

• emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require 
hospital admission (all ages); and 

• emergency admissions for children with lower respiratory tract infection. 

Numerator Total avoidable emergency admissions for primary diagnoses covering those in all 
four metrics above, by local authority of residence (NB. This is not the same as 
adding admissions from the separate metrics as the four separate metrics overlap 
to some degree and this will therefore lead to ‘double counting’) 

Denominator Mid-year ONS population estimates 

Data source Data: HSCIC HES/ONS Mid-year population estimates 
Specification: NHS Quality Premium Estimate http://www.england.nhs.uk/ccg-
ois/qual-prem/  

 

47. Percentage of patients with Long-Term conditions actively engaged in self-care 

Definition This indicator measures the degree to which people with health conditions that are 
expected to last for a significant period of time feel they have had sufficient support 
from relevant services and organisations to manage their condition. Patients are 
encouraged to consider all services and organisations that support them in 
managing their condition, and not just health services. It is based on responses to 
the GP Patient Survey q30 (about whether a patient has a long-term condition) and 
q31 (asking about type of condition, which can reset q30 if they said no/don’t know). 

Numerator Total of respondents who said ‘yes definitely’ and half the total respondents who 
said ‘yes, to some extent’ for q32 (which asks whether in the last six months they 
have had enough support to help manage their condition). 

Denominator As the numerator, but adds in those that responded ‘no’. 

Data source NHSOF 2.1 https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Outcomes 
Framework/Data/NHSOF_2.1_I00706_D_V3.xls  

 

48. Adult Social Care Reviews  

Definition Number of current adult social care service users that have been receiving services 
for at least twelve months that were reviewed in the last twelve months. 

Numerator Number of reviews undertaken in the last twelve months of long term service users 
still receiving a service. 

Denominator Number of service users receiving services for at least twelve months currently 
receiving long term services as at the end of the twelve months. 

Data source HSCIC – subset of old RAP A1 and new SALT Return LTS Table 2b 
https://nascis.hscic.gov.uk/Portal/Tools.aspx  

 

49. Health-related quality of life for people with long-term conditions  

Definition This indicator measures health-related quality of life for people who identify 
themselves as having one or more long-standing health conditions. Health-related 

Page 76



quality of life refers to the extent to which people: 1. have problems walking about; 
2. have problems performing self-care activities (washing or dressing themselves); 
3. have problems performing their usual activities (work, study etc.); 4. have pain or 
discomfort; 5. feel anxious or depressed. 

Numerator The numerator is the sum of the weighted index values for all responses from 
people who identify themselves as having a long-term condition. 

Denominator The denominator is the weighted count of survey responses from all people who 
identify themselves as having a long-term condition. 

Data source GP Patient Survey (GPPS) from Ipsos MORI (http://www.gp-patient.co.uk/) - Official 
Statistics Published annually (two waves per year, July - September and January -
March) as a financial year data set. 

 

50. Unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions 

Definition Directly age and sex standardised rate of unplanned hospitalisation admissions for 
chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions for persons of all ages. 

Numerator Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) Continuous Inpatient Spells (CIP). 

Denominator Unconstrained GP registered population counts by single year of age and sex from 
the NHAIS (Exeter) Systems; extracted annually on 1 April for the forthcoming 
financial year 

Data source NHSOF 2.3i – NHS Indicator Portal - P01563 
Data 
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%20Indi
cators/Data/CCG_2.6_I00757_D_V6.xls 
Specification 
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/download/Clinical%20Commissioning%20Group%20Indi
cators/Specification/CCG_2.6_I00757_S_V4.pdf 

 

51. Emergency readmissions within 30 days of discharge from hospital (%) 

Definition Percentage of emergency admissions to any hospital in England occurring within 30 
days of the last, previous discharge after admission. Admissions for cancer and 
obstetrics are excluded. 

Numerator The number of finished and unfinished continuous inpatient (CIP) spells that are 
emergency admissions within 0-29 days (inclusive) of the last, previous discharge 
from hospital (see denominator), including those where the patient dies, but 
excluding the following: those with a main specialty upon readmission coded under 
obstetric and those where the readmitting spell has a diagnosis of cancer (other 
than benign or in situ) or chemotherapy for cancer coded anywhere in the spell. 

Denominator The number of finished CIP spells within selected medical and surgical specialties, 
with a discharge date up to March 31st within the year of analysis. Day cases, 
spells with a discharge coded as death, maternity spells (based on specialty, 
episode type, diagnosis), and those with mention of a diagnosis of cancer or 
chemotherapy for cancer anywhere in the spell are excluded. Patients with mention 
of a diagnosis of cancer or chemotherapy for cancer anywhere in the 365 days prior 
to admission are excluded. 

Data source Dr Foster - based on Hospital Episode Statistics 

 
 
 
 

Page 77



Annex C: Glossary 

APS – Active People Survey  

ASCOF -Adult and Social Care Outcomes Framework 

BCBV - NHS Better Care Better Value Indicators 

BMI – Body Mass Index 

CCG - Clinical Commissioning Group 

CCGOI - Clinical Commissioning Group Outcome Indicator 

CTC – Child Tax Credit 

D3 – Third dose of Diphtheria vaccine 

D4 – Fourth dose of Diphtheria vaccine 

HES – Hospital Episode Statistics 

HSCIC - Health and Social Care Information Centre 

ICD – International Classification of Diseases 

IS – Income Support 

JSA – Job-Seekers Allowance 

MH-NMDS – Mental Health National Minimum Dataset 

MMR- Measles, Mumps, Rubella dose 1 

MMR2 - Measles, Mumps, Rubella dose 2 

NHSIC - NHS Indicator Portal 

NHSOF – National Health Service Outcome Framework 

ONS – Office for National Statistics 

PCMD - Primary Care Mortality Database 

PCT – Primary Care Trust 

PHOF - Public Health Outcomes Framework  

PHE - Public Health England  

QOF - Quality and Outcomes Framework 

Page 78



Frequency Latest Period 

of Availability

Previous 

Available 

Period 

(Lewisham)

Latest 

Available 

Period 

(Lewisham)

Lon Eng England 

Benchmark

Direction 

from 

Previous 

Period

Data Source

Overarching Indicators
1a Life Expectancy at Birth (Male)(yrs) Annual 2011-13 78.2 78.7 80.0 79.4 sig low ONS

1b Life Expectancy at Birth (Female)(yrs) Annual 2011-13 82.6 83.0 84.1 83.1 similar ONS

2 Children in poverty (%) Annual 2012 30.5 27.7 23.7 19.2 sig high CHIMAT Profile 2015

3 Under 75 from CVD mortality (DSR) Annual 2011-13 91.0 87.4 80.1 78.2 sig high NHSIC - P00400/ PHOF 4.04i

4 Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL) from causes considered amenable to healthcare (DSR) Annual 2011-13 2102 2027 1890.2 2023.5 similar NHSOF 1A  - ONS ( CCG 1.1 DSR)- P01559

5a
Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth within English local authorities, based on local deprivation 

deciles within each area (Male)
Annual 2011-13 6.6 7.7 - - - PHOF 0.2iii

5b
Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth within English local authorities, based on local deprivation 

deciles within each area (Female)
Annual 2011-13 6.6 6.6 - - - PHOF0.2iii

6 Infant Mortality (%) Annual 2011-13 4.9 4.6 3.8 4.0 similar P00723/CHIMAT Profile 2014

7 Low Birth Weight of all babies (%) Annual 2013 8.4 7.8 7.9 7.4 sig high P00455/CHIMAT Profle 2014

8 Proportion of people using social care who receive self-directed support, and those receiving direct payments Annual 2013-14 55.5 69.4 67.5 62.1 - ASCOF(1C)- NHSIC -P01509

9
Average number of delayed transfers of care on a particular day taken over the year (Crude rate per 100,000 adult 

population)
Annual 2013-14 4.9 4.6 6.8 9.6 - ASCOF 2C- NHSIC - P01516

10 Total Days of Delay (crude rate per 100,000) Annual 2014-15 1418.7 1570.0 - - - BCF - Local Data - LPI264 (PPLUS)

Priority Objective 1: Achieving a Healthy Weight
11 Excess weight in Adults (%) Annual 2012-13 - 61.2 57.3 63.8 similar PHOF 2.12

12a Excess weight in Children - Reception Year (%) Annual 2013-14 25.0 24.6 23.1 22.5 sig high PHOF 2.06

12b Excess Weight in Children- Year 6 (%) Annual 2013-14 38.3 39.3 37.6 33.5 sig high PH NCMP Profiles

13 Breastfeeding Prevalence 6-8 weeks(%) Qtr 2014-15 Q3 73.0 74.7 54.1 43.2 sig better PHOF 2.06

14a % of physically active and inactive adults  - Active adults Annual 2013 54.3 58.1 56.2 56.0 similar 1 PHOF 2.13i

14b % of physically active and inactive adults  - Inactive adults Annual 2013 29.2 25.1 27.5 28.3 similar -1 PHOF 2.13ii

Annex A: Health and Wellbeing Performance Metrics 2014/15

Priority Objective 2: Increasing the number of people who survive colorectal, breast and lung cancer for 1 and 5 years
15a Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer (%) Annual 2014 66.0 65.0 68.9 75.9 sig low PHOF 2.20i

15b Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer(%) Annual 2014 72.4 73.7 70.3 74.2 sig low PHOF 2.20ii

15c Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer (%) Local ad-hoc*
Oct 2011- Sep 

2012
- 40.9 - - - -

London Bowel Screening Hub (Local data 

available for 6 S.E Lon Boroughs) - 44.6% 

(S.E.L avg)

16 Early diagnosis of cancer (%) Annual 2013 39.9 45.6 43.1 45.7 - PHOF 2.19 – experimental statistics

17 Two week wait referrals ( number per 100,000 population) Annual 2013-14 2273 2614 - 2399 - - Cancer Toolkit GP Profiles

18 Under 75 mortality from all cancers ( DSR) Annual 2011-13 159.9 159.2 136.5 144.4 sig high -1 NHSIC - P00381/ PHOF 4.05i

Priority Objective  3:  Improving  Immunisation Uptake
19 Uptake of the first dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella vaccine (MMR1) at two years of age Qtr 2014-15 Q3 87.2 91.0 90.0 94.1 low PHOF 3.03viii/ Local Imms Cover Data

20 Uptake of the second dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella Vaccine (MMR2) at five years of age Qtr 2014-15 Q3 72.6 71.6 80.5 88.5 low Local Immunisation cover data

21 Uptake of the third dose of Diptheria vaccine (D3) at one year of age Qtr 2014-15 Q3 90.6 91.0 90.0 94.1 low Local Immunisation cover data

22 Uptake of the fourth dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D4) at five years of age Qtr 2014-15 Q3 80.4 78.5 78.0 88.4 low Local Immunisation cover data

23 Uptake of Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccine in girls in Year 8 in Lewisham Schools Annual 2013-14 84.8 82.9 80.0 86.7 sig low PHOF 3.03xii

24 Uptake of Influenza vaccine in those over 65 years of age Annual 2014-15 70.2 71.4 69.2 72.8 similar PHOF 3.03xiv

Priority Objective 4: Reducing Alcohol Harm
25 Alcohol related admissions (ASR per 100,000 pop) Annual 2013-14 614 374 346 374 similar PHOF 2.18

26
Number of practitioners skilled in identifying those at risk from alcohol harm and delivering brief interventions 

(Local source)
Annual Local*

April 2014 - 

March 2015
- 500 - - - - Lewisham Drugs & Alcohol Team

Priority Objective 5 : Preventing the uptake of smoking among children and young people and reducing the numbers of people smoking
27 Under 75 Mortality from Respiratory (DSR per 100,000 pop) Annual 2011-13 38.6 38.6 31.9 33.2 similar - PHOF 4.07i

28 Under 75 Mortality from Lung Cancer (DSR per 100,000 pop) Annual 2013 23.04 46.9 31.0 33.7 sig high NHS Indicator Portal - P00512

29 Smoking Prevalence(%) Annual 2013 21.4 20.6 17.3 18.4 similar -1 PHOf 2.14

30 4 week smoking quitter (crude rate per 100,000) Annual/Qtr 2013-14 821 751.0 656.0 688.0 - Smoking Quitters

31 Number of 11-15 year-olds who take up smoking (%) Every 2-3 years 2010 - 9% - - - - SHEU Survey (to be completed)

32 Number of children in smoke free homes (%) Every 2-3 years 2010 - 57% - - - - SHEU Survey (to be completed)

33 Prevalence of Smoking in 15 year olds  (proxy: % Never smoked at all - Yr8 and Yr10 children) Every 2-3 years 2010 - 74% - - - - SHEU Survey (to be completed)

34 Smoking at time of delivery (%) Annual/Qtr 2014-15 Q3 5.0 4.3 5.0 11.4 - HSCIC34 Smoking at time of delivery (%) Annual/Qtr 2014-15 Q3 5.0 4.3 5.0 11.4 - HSCIC

Priority Objective 6: Improving mental health and wellbeing
35 Under 75 mortality rates for those with  serious mental illness (DSR per 100,000 pop) Annual 2012-13 839.8 691.7 - 1,318.9 sig low NHSOF 1.5

36a Prevalence of Serious Mental Illness (%) Annual 2013-14 1.2 1.2 1.0 0.8 - QOF

36b Prevalence of Dementia (%) Annual 2013-14 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.6 - QOF

36c Prevalence of Depression (%) Annual 2013-14 5.3 4.8 4.4 6.5 - QOF

37 Suicide rates (DSR per 100,000 pop) Annual 2011-13 7.5 8.1 7.2 8.8 similar PHOF 4.10

38 Self-reported well-being - people with a low happiness score Annual 2013-14 10.2 8.1 9.6 9.7 similar PHOF 2.23iii

Priority Objective 7: Improving sexual health
39 Rate of chlamydia diagnoses per 100,000 young people aged 15 to 24 (crude rate) Annual 2013 4186 3480 2179 2016 sig high PHOF 3.02i/3.02ii (NCSP & CTAD)

40a People presenting with HIV at a late stage of infection (%) Annual 2011-13 50.9 46.1 40.5 45.0 similar PHOF 3.04

40b Prevalence of diagnosed HIV infection per 1,000 among persons aged 15 to 59 years (crude rate) Annual 2013 7.94 8.18 5.7 2.1 - PHE Sexual Health Profile

41 Legal Abortion rate for all ages (crude rate per 1000 women) Annual 2014 26.6 25.0 21.8 16.5 sig high ONS Abortion Stats

42 Teenage conceptions (Rate per 1,000 15-17 Yr olds) Annual 2013 42.0 33.1 21.8 24.3 sig high PHE Sexual Health Profile

Priority Objective 8 – Delaying and reducing the need for long term care and support.
43 Social care related quality of life (%) Annual 2013-14 18.3 18.6 18.4 19 - ASCOF 1A (P01507)

44 Rate of new admissions by older adults to long term care  (crude rate per 100,000) Annual 2013-14 612.9 527.0 509.4 668.4 - ASCOF2A (P01514) (BCF)

45 % older people (65+) still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into rehabilitation/reablement services Annual 2013-14 86.5 86.9 88.9 81.9 - ASCOF 2B

` Priority Objective 9: Reducing the number of emergency admissions for people with long term conditions
46 Rate of avoidable emergency admissions (Std rate per 100,000 pop) Annual/Qtr 2013-14 1027.6 940.9 734.6 780.9 sig high BCBV / NHS Comparators/CCGOF 2.6

47 % people able to manage effectively their own long term condition at home Annual 2013-14 62.3 61.1 59.7 65.1 - NHSOF 2.1 (BCF)

48 Reviews of Adult Social Care Clients (cumulative % since Apr ) Annual/Qtr 2014-15 Q3 63.7 - - BCF/Local Data -  AO/D40 PPLUS

49 Health-related quality of life for people with long-term conditions Annual Jul 12 - Mar 13 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 - CCGOF 2.1

50
Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require hospital admission (DSR rate per 100,00 

Pop)
Annual 2013-14 1324.8 1294.5 1017.3 1180.5 sig high CCGOF3.1

51* Emergency Readmissions within 30 days of discharge (%) Annual 2013-14 15.69 - - - - Dr Foster

Key

sig high -signficantly higher than England;  sig low - significantly lower than England Statistically Better than England

similar - statistically similar to England Statistically Similar to England

DSR - Directly Standardised Rates Statistically Worse than England

ASR - Age Standardised Rates blank where no statistical comparison could be made 

ISR - Indirectly standardised Rates

Lew - Lewisham; Lon - London; Eng - England Arrows Indicate up or down performance of current year /qtr from previous yr/qtr

Links to Source with their abbreviations

http://www.phoutcomes.info/ Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF)

http://www.phoutcomes.info/profile/sexualhealth Public Health England Sexual Health Profiles

https://www.indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/ NHS Indicator Portal (NHSIC) by Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC)

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/qof Quality and Outcomes Framework(QOF) by HSCIC

http://ascof.hscic.gov.uk/ Adult and Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF)

http://www.productivity.nhs.uk/ NHS Better Care Better Value Indicators

https://www.nhscomparators.nhs.uk/NHSComparators/HomePage.aspx NHS Comparators by HSCIC

Note: Boroughs (Bromley, Bexley, Lambeth, Southwark , Greenwich and Lewisham) from London Bowel Screening Hub

Annual/Qtr* - National Data available both quarterly and annually Annual/Qtr** - Only Local Data available both quarterly and annually

Annual* - Indicators not updated due to NO HES updates Annual /Qtr*** - 2013/14 Q3 emergency admission rates are available on BCBV metrics for each Ambulator Care Sensitive (ACS) condition.

Qtr - Financial Quarters Local Ad-hoc - Bowel Screening data only available for all 6 South East London

Indicator 51 refers to Lewisham CCG

Page 79



Target 2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12 2011-2013 London 2010-

12

England 2010-

12

Direction of 

Travel from 

Target

Life Expectancy at Birth (Male)(yrs) 76.3 76.4 76.9 77.6 78.2 78.7 79.7 79.2

Life Expectancy at Birth (Female)(yrs) 81.2 81.6 81.7 82.3 82.6 83.0 83.8 83

Under 75 from  CVD mortality (DSR) 132.3 119 110.3 96.7 91 83.1 81.1

Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth within English local 

authorities, based on local deprivation deciles within each area (Male)

N/A

6 6.6

Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth within English local 

authorities, based on local deprivation deciles within each area (Female)

N/A

6.3 6.6

Infant Mortality rates 4.8 4.9 4.2 4.3

2009-11 2010-12 2011-13 Lon 2011-13 Eng 2011-13

Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL) from causes considered amenable to 

healthcare (DSR)
2134.7 2102.0 2027.0 1890.2 2023.5

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Lon 2012 Eng 2012

Low Birth Weight of all babies 8.3 8.4 7.9 7.3

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Proportion of people using social care who receive self-directed 

support, and those receiving direct payments  (Crude rate per 100,000)
55.5 69.4 67.5 62.1

Delayed transfers of care from hospital (crude rate per 100,000) 3.0 4.9 6.9 9.5

Days of Delay (crude rate per 100,000) 134

Overarching Indicator

Health Outcome Indicator Rates

Days of Delay (crude rate per 100,000) 134

2010 2011 Lon 2011 Eng 2011

Children in poverty (%) 31.7 30.5 26.5 20.6

Trend Charts

0

50

100

150

2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12

%

Under 75 from  CVD mortality (DSR)

England

74

76

78

80

2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12

%

Life Expectancy at Birth (Male)(yrs)

England

80

81

82

83

84

2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12

%

Life Expectancy at Birth (Female)(yrs)

England

1950.0

2000.0

2050.0

2100.0

2150.0

2009-11 2010-12 2011-13

D
S

R
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL) from causes 

considered amenable to healthcare (DSR)

Eng 2011-13

6.5

7

7.5

8

8.5

2011 2012 Lon 2012 Eng 2012

%

Low Birth Weight of all babies

3.5

4

4.5

5

2009-11 2010-12 2011-2013 London 

2010-12

England 

2010-12

%

Infant Mortality rates

P
age 80



P
age 81



Target 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London 

2012/13

England 

2012/13

Direction of 

Travel from 

Target

Excess weight in Adults (%) 61.2 57.3 63.8

Excess weight in Children - Reception Year (%) 27.8 24.8 24.8 25.0 23.0 22.2

Excess Weight in Children- Year 6 (%) 40.6 39.1 40.4 38.3 37.4 33.3

Breastfeeding Prevalence 6-8 weeks(%) 74.6 75.7 73.5 68.5 47.2

2010 2011 2012
London 2012

England 

2012

% of physically active and inactive adults  - Active adults 54.3 57.2 56.0

% of physically active and inactive adults  - Inactive adults 29.2 27.5 28.5

Priority 1 : Achieving Healthy Weight

Trend Charts

10.0

20.0

30.0

%

Excess weight in Children - Reception Year (%)

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

%

Excess Weight in Children- Year 6 (%)

20

40

60

80

%

Breastfeeding Prevalence 6-8 weeks(%)

0.0

10.0

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 London 

2012/13

England 

2012/13

%

0.0

20.0

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 London 

2012/13

England 

2012/13

%

0

20

40

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 London 

2012/13

England 

2012/13

%

P
age 82



Target 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 London 2013 England 2013 Direction of 

Travel from 

Target

Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer (%) 64.5 65.5 65.1 66 68.6 76.3

Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer(%) 71.7 71.4 71.9 72.4 68.6 73.9

Two week wait referrals ( number per 100,000 population) 1601 1810 1967 2273 2166

2012/13 Q4 2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4
S.E London 

2013/14 Q3

England 

2013/14 Q3

Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer (%) 60.0 44.2 44.2 38.2 35 41.4 58.8

2010 2011 2012 London 2012 England 2012

Early diagnosis of cancer (%) 2273 2166

2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12
London 2010-

12

England 2010-

12

Under 75 mortality from all cancers ( DSR) 172.8 173.5 168 169.4 159.9 139.1 146.5

Priority 2 : Increasing the number of people who survive colorectal, breast and lung cancer for 1 and 5 years

Trend Charts

75

80

Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer (%)

England 2013

74

75

Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer(%)

England …

60

80

Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer (%)

England …

55

60

65

70

75

80

2010 2011 2012 2013

%

England 2013

70

71

72

73

74

75

2010 2011 2012 2013

%

England …

0

1000

2000

3000

2010 2011 2012 2013

ra
te

  
p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Two week wait referrals ( number per 100,000 

population)
England

0

20

40

60

80

2012/13 Q4 2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3

%

England …

100

150

200

2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12

ra
te

  
p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Under 75 mortality from all cancers ( DSR)

England

P
age 83



Target 2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1 London 2014/15 Q1 England 2014/15 Q1 Direction of Travel from Target

Uptake of the first dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella vaccine (MMR1) at two 

years of age 90.8% 85.7% 88.5% 87.3% 88.3% 85.5% 86.8% 92.4%

Uptake of the third dose of Diptheria vaccine (D3) at one year of age 91.9% 86.7% 88.4% 88.3% 88.9% 90.0% 88.6% 93.9%

Uptake of the fourth dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D4) at five years of age 91.1% 71.3% 70.5% 74.4% 76.2% 76.2% 77.3% 88.6%

Uptake of the second dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella Vaccine (MMR2) at five years 

of age 91.1% 68.8% 68.1% 69.8% 69.5% 70.8% 79.9% 88.5%

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London 2012/13 England 2012/13

Uptake of Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccine in girls in Year 8 in Lewisham Schools
68.8 80.6 84.8 78.9 86.1

Uptake of Influenza vaccine in those over 65 years of age 69.6% 70.1% 68.2% 71.2% 73.4%

Source: HPA Cover Data

Priority 3: Improving Immunisation Uptake

Percentage Uptake of Key Vaccines

Trend Charts

84.0%

86.0%

88.0%

90.0%

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1

%

Uptake of the first dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella vaccine (MMR1) at two 

years of age

84.0%

86.0%

88.0%

90.0%

92.0%

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1

%

Uptake of the third dose of Diptheria vaccine (D3) at one year of age 

66.0%

68.0%

70.0%

72.0%

74.0%

76.0%

78.0%

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1

%

Uptake of the fourth dose of Diphtheria vaccine (D4) at five years of age

66.0%

68.0%

70.0%

72.0%

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1

%

Uptake of the second dose of Measles Mumps and Rubella Vaccine (MMR2) at 

five years of age

0

20

40

60

80

100

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

%

Uptake of Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccine in girls in Year 8 in Lewisham 

Schools

P
age 84



Target 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London 

2012/13

England 

2012/13

Direction of 

Travel from 

Target

Alcohol related admissions (DSR) - - - 588 614 - 554 637

Number of practitioners skilled in identifying those at risk from alcohol 

harm and delivering brief interventions (Local source)

- - - -
120

-

Priority 4 : Reducing Alcohol Harm

Trend Charts

560

580

600

620

640

660

D
S

R
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Alcohol related admissions (DSR)

500

520

540

560

580

2011/12 2012/13 London 2012/13 England 2012/13

D
S

R
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

P
age 85



Target 2006-08 2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12 London 2010-

12

England 2010-

12

Direction of 

Travel from 

Target

Under 75 Mortality from Respiratory 51.3 49.7 47 40.9 38.6 32.6 33.5

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
London 2012 England 2012

Under 75 Mortality from Lung Cancer 30.39 24.92 26.68 35.78 21.0 23.04 24.06

Smoking Prevalence (18+) - routine and manual 25.4 24.3 25.7 29.7

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1 London 

2013/14

England 

2013/14

4 week smoking quitter (crude rate per 100,000) 200.3 197.4 197.3 180.7 172.6 656 688

Smoking at time of delivery 5.9% 4.9% 5.3% 5.2% 5.4% 11.8%

2008 2010

Number of 11-15 year-olds who take up smoking (%) 16.0% 9.0%

Number of children in smoke free homes (%) 56.0% 57.0%

Prevalence of Smoking in 15 year olds  (proxy: % Never smoked at all - 

Yr8 and Yr10 children) 95.0% 74.0%

Priority 5 : Preventing the uptake of smoking among children and young people and reducing the numbers of people smoking

Tobacco Control

Trend Charts

Under 75 Mortality from Lung Cancer

England
Smoking Prevalence (18+) - routine and manualUnder 75 Mortality from Respiratory

England

0

10

20

30

40

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

st
 d

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Under 75 Mortality from Lung Cancer

England

0

10

20

30

40

2009-11 2010-12 London 2010-12 England 2010-12

%

Smoking Prevalence (18+) - routine and manual

0

20

40

60

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

st
 d

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Under 75 Mortality from Respiratory

England

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1

%

Smoking at time of delivery 

England 2013/14

0.0

200.0

400.0

600.0

800.0

140.0

160.0

180.0

200.0

220.0

2013/14 Q1 2013/14 Q2 2013/14 Q3 2013/14 Q4 2014/15 Q1

R
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

 

4 week Smoking Quitters
England 2013/14

P
age 86



Target 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London 

2011/12

England 

2011/12

Direction of 

Travel from 

Target

Under 75 mortality rates for those with  serious mental illness (DSR) 302.2 303.6 305.3 - 337.4

Prevalence of SMI 1.2 1.2 1.0 0.8

Prevalence of Dementia 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.6

Prevalence of Depression 10 10.1 10.4 5.3 4.4 5.8

Self-reported well-being - people with a low happiness score 15 10.2 10.3 10.4

2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12 London 2010-

12

England 2010-

12

Suicide rates 6.9 7 7.1 7.5 7.5 8.5

Priority 6 : Improving mental health and wellbeing

Trend Charts

0.5

1

1.5

%

Prevalence of SMI

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

%

Prevalence of Dementia

290
300
310
320
330
340
350

D
S

R
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Under 75 mortality rates for those with  serious 

mental illness (DSR) England

0

0.5

1

2011/12 2012/13 London 2011/12 England 2011/12

%

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 London 

2011/12

England 

2011/12

%

0

5

10

15

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 London 

2011/12

England 

2011/12

%

Prevalence of Depression

0

5

10

2007-09 2008-10 2009-11 2010-12

st
d

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Suicide rates 
England 2010-12

280
290
300
310
320
330

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

D
S

R
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0P

age 87



** old data - 2012

Target 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 London 2013 England 2013 Direction of 

Travel from 

Target

Rate of chlamydia diagnoses per 100,000 young people aged 15 to 24 

(crude rate)
4728 4762 4179 3480 2179 2016

Prevalence of diagnosed HIV infection per 1,000 among persons aged 

15 to 59 years (crude rate)**
7.5 7.8 7.9 5.5 2.1

Legal Abortion rate for all ages (crude rate per 1000 women) 32.3 29.9 32.3 27.4 26.6 21.7 16.1

Teenage conceptions** 48.5 41.8 39.9 42.0 25.9 27.7

2009-11 2010-12 London 2010-

12

England 2010-

12

People presenting with HIV at a late stage of infection(%) 51.8 50.9 44.9 48.3

Priority 7 : Improving sexual health

Trend Charts

4000

6000

cr
u

d
e

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Rate of chlamydia diagnoses per 100,000 young 

people aged 15 to 24 (crude rate)

England 2013
10.0

cr
u

d
e

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Prevalence of diagnosed HIV infection per 1,000 

among persons aged 15 to 59 years (crude 

rate)** England 2013
40.0

cr
u

d
e

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Legal Abortion rate for all ages (crude rate per 1000 

women)

England 2013

40

45

50

55

2011 2012 2009-11 2010-12

%

People presenting with HIV at a late stage of 

infection(%)

0

2000

4000

6000

2010 2011 2012

cr
u

d
e

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

people aged 15 to 24 (crude rate)

England 2013

0.0

5.0

10.0

2010 2011 2012

cr
u

d
e

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0 rate)** England 2013

0.0

20.0

40.0

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

cr
u

d
e

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

women)

England 2013

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

2010 2011 2012

cr
u

d
e

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Teenage conceptions**

England 2012

P
age 88



Target 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London 

2012/13

England 

2012/13

Direction of 

Travel from 

Target

social care related quality of life (%) 19 17.7 17.9 18.3 18.6 18.4 19

Rate of new 65+ admissions to long term care  (crude rate per 100,000) 549.4 931.2 854.3 560.7 612.9 527 509.4 668.4

% older people (65+) still at home 91 days after discharge from 

hospital into rehabilitation/reablement services
88.0 88.2 88.6 89.4 86.5 86.9 88.9 81.9

Priority 8 : Delaying and reducing the need for long term care and support.

Trend Charts

17

18

19

20

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London 

2012/13

England 

2012/13

%

social care related quality of life (%)

0

500

1000

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London 

2012/13

England 

2012/13

ra
te

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0

Rate of new 65+ admissions to long term care  (crude 

rate per 100,000)

75

80

85

90

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 London 

2012/13

England 

2012/13

%

% older people (65+) still at home 91 days after discharge 

from hospital into rehabilitation/reablement services

P
age 89



Target 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 (Prov)

London 

2013/14 

(Prov)

England 

2013/14 

(Prov)

Direction of 

Travel from 

Target

Rate of avoidable emergency admissions ( Std rate per 100,000 pop)
14.52 1061.2 1029 1027.6 940.9 734.6 780.9

2012/13 2013/14 London 

2013/14

England 

2013/14

% people able to manage effectively their own long term condition at 

home
58.1 62.3 61.1 59.7 65.1

London 

2012/13

England 

2012/13

Reviews of Adult Social Care Clients (%) 70 74.7 62 64.4 77.9 70.7 69.8 66.6

England 

2011/12

Emergency Readmissions within 30 days of discharge from hospital 12.11 11.96 12.73 11.78

Jul 2011 - 

Mar 2012

Jul 2012 - 

Mar 2013

Jul 2013 - 

Mar 2014

London Jul 

2012 - Mar 

2013

England Jul 

2012 - Mar 

2013

Priority 9 : Reducing the number of emergency admissions for people with long term conditions

2013 2013

Health-related quality of life for people with long-term conditions
0.73 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.74

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 

(Prov)

London 

2013/14

England 

2013/14

Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not usually 

require hospital admission
1147.8 1155.8 1324.8 1279.4 991 1164.7

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14(Pr

ov)

London 

2013/14 

Prov

England 

2013/14 Prov

Unplanned admission of chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions 1061.2 1029.0 1027.6 940.9 734.6 780.9

Trend Charts

0

500

1000

1500

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13st
d

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

Rate of avoidable emergency admissions ( Std 

rate per 100,000 pop)

England 2013/14 …

55

60

65

70

2012/13 2013/14 London 2013/14 England 2013/14

%

% people able to manage effectively their own long 

term condition at home

0

50

100

2011/12 2012/13 London 2013/14 

(Prov)

England 2013/14 

(Prov)

%

Reviews of Adult Social Care Clients (%)

Emergency Readmissions within 30 days of 

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13st
d

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

55
2012/13 2013/14 London 2013/14 England 2013/14

2011/12 2012/13 London 2013/14 

(Prov)

England 2013/14 

(Prov)

13

st
 r

a
te

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0

Emergency Readmissions within 30 days of 

discharge from hospital

England 2013/14 …
1500.0

Unplanned admission of chronic ambulatory care 

sensitive conditions

England 2013/14 …
1500

Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should 

not usually require hospital admission

P
age 90



11

11.5

12

12.5

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

st
 r

a
te

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0

0.0

500.0

1000.0

1500.0

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

cr
u

d
e

 r
a

te
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0 England 2013/14 …

0

500

1000

1500

2012/13 2013/14 (Prov) London 2013/14 England 2013/14

D
S

R
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

0

P
age 91



P
age 92



Healthwatch Lewisham  

 

 

Annual Report 

2014/15 

Page 93



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  2 

 Contents 

Introduction 

 

 3 

About Healthwatch 

 

 4 

Engaging with people who use health and social care services 

 

 6 

Providing information and signposting  

 

 9 

Influencing decision makers with evidence from local people 

 

 11 

Impact Stories 

 

 15 

Our plans for 2015/16 

 

 17 

Our governance and decision-making 

 

 18 

Financial information 

 

 19 

Contact us  20 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 94



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  3 

Introduction 

 

Welcome to the second Annual 

Report from Healthwatch Lewisham. 

This year our community engagement 

team worked on several priority themes, 

identified by local people, to enable our 

local voice to shape local services. These 

included enablement, mental health 

services, integrated care, and access to 

primary care. Within these themes our 

team has engaged with a wide range of 

people in the community, including older 

people, young people and families, and 

those communities whose voice is less well 

heard. 

We have engaged with older people to 

better understand their experience of 

health and social care provision. We have 

gathered views and experiences of health 

and social care services for children and 

young people by working closely with 

other local organisations including local 

Children's Centres. Our Enter and View 

activities have been vital to understanding 

the experiences of people whose voice is 

not so well heard. This year these 

activities focused on mental health and 

those with learning disabilities. 

Healthwatch Lewisham takes a committed 

partnership and collaborative approach. 

We have engaged with the wider 

community and voluntary sector 

throughout the year at the Health and 

Social Care Forum where we facilitated 

discussions and gathered feedback on 

services relating to our priorities. 

Healthwatch Lewisham has continued to 

develop links with the Lewisham 

Connections project, and is a member of 

the Lewisham Connections Steering Group. 

We have been an active partner in 

Lewisham’s bid for the Fulfilling Lives: 

HeadStart Programme, a Big Lottery 

funded partnership initiative to improve 

the mental health and resilience of young 

people aged 10 – 14 years in the borough. 

Healthwatch Lewisham is proud to be a 

national award winner for our 

collaborative working. The Lewisham team 

and volunteers, along with five other 

south London Healthwatches, won the 

award for Outstanding Collaborative 

Project at the national Healthwatch 

Network Awards of Achievement 2014.  

In this time of rapid change in health and 

social care, the role of Healthwatch is 

ever more important to ensure that the 

experiences and views of local people are 

at the heart of local decision making. 

Healthwatch Lewisham will continue work 

to strengthen local engagement and build 

a strong and supportive local Healthwatch 

network during the coming year. 

We hope you enjoy reading the outcomes 

and achievements of Healthwatch 

Lewisham, and look forward to your 

continuing support. 

  

 

 

Page 95



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  4 

About Healthwatch 

We are here to make health and 

social care better for ordinary people 

and believe that the best way to do 

this is by designing local services 

around their needs and experiences.  

Everything we say and do is informed by 

our connections to local people and our 

expertise is grounded in their experience.  

We are uniquely placed as a network, with 

a local Healthwatch in every local 

authority area in England.  

Our role is to ensure that local health and 

social care services, and the local decision 

makers, put the experiences of people at 

the heart of their care. 

 

Our mission  

Healthwatch Lewisham will enable people, 

communities and organisations in 

Lewisham to have a say and influence the 

planning, commissioning and delivery of 

health and social care services to improve 

the health and wellbeing of patients, 

public and service users. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aims and Objectives 

Our aims and objectives are to: 

· Gather views and understand the 

experiences of people who use services, 

carers and the wider community. 

· Make people’s views known. 

· Promote and support the involvement of 

people in the commissioning and provision 

of local care services and how they are 

scrutinised. 

· Recommend investigation or special 

review of services via Healthwatch 

England or directly to the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC). 

· Provide advice and information about 

access to services and support for making 

informed choices. 

· Make the views and experiences of 

people known to Healthwatch England and 

providing a steer to help it carry out its 

role as national champion.  

 

  

Page 96



About Healthwatch 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  5 

Our priorities 

Our strategic priorities were established 

through engagement events with 

members. These priorities are outlined 

here.   

Enablement  

Focusing mainly on fit older people who 

do not meet Fair Access to Care Services 

assessment criteria. 

Mental health services  

To promote the development of 

prevention services; to make sure that 

mental health services across the borough 

take service user and carer feedback into 

account. 

Integrated care  

People with complex health and social 

care needs are supported to live at home 

and receive integrated care and support 

from multi-agency teams working closely 

with their GP. 

Access to primary care  

To improve access resulting in better 

health outcomes for local people including 

carers, young carers and older people who 

do not have English as their first language, 

to promote people to be able to manage 

effectively their own conditions at home. 

 

Our values 

Our values at Healthwatch Lewisham are: 

· Equality & Diversity 

· Inclusion 

· Public engagement & participation 

· Transparency 

· Accountability 

· Effectively representing the voices of 

patients, service users and residents of 

Lewisham 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  6 

Engaging with people who use 
health and social care services  

Understanding people’s 

experiences  

 

Lewisham is a diverse borough and our 

community engagement is targeted to 

meet the needs of local people. A range of 

steps were taken to get views of people’s 

needs and experiences of health and 

social care services, including seldom 

heard voices. These are outlined below.  

 

Young people  

One in four Lewisham residents is under 

19 years old. So it is vitally important that 

children and young people have a say in 

how local services are run. Healthwatch 

Lewisham has been finding innovative 

ways to engage with young people and we 

now have a dedicated children and young 

people’s area of our website.   

Last year Healthwatch was elected on to 

the Children and Young People’s Forum 

steering group. A number of presentations 

were made last year to this forum.  

We currently have young people who are 

Healthwatch Youth Champions and 

Healthwatch Lewisham supported the 

HeadStart bid which could potentially 

bring up to £10 million to Lewisham from 

2016 to 2020. Healthwatch Lewisham is a 

key partner in the bid and has been 

involved in its development since the 

initial stages of the planning process. 

We also worked closely with other local 

organisations to provide drop-in sessions 

to gather views and experiences of health 

and social care services for children and 

young people at Kaleidoscope – Lewisham 

Centre for Children & Young People. The 

reports from this engagement are 

available on our website.  

 “The Healthwatch workshop 

was really interactive, we were 

really impressed.” 

Lewisham resident 

 

Older people 

Older people’s views of services are key to 

helping us understand what works and 

does not work in health and social care 

provision.  

Throughout the year we worked with 

pensioners groups and in October 

Healthwatch Lewisham held an 

intergenerational event for residents at a 

sheltered housing scheme to mark Older 

People’s Day. The idea for the event 

emerged after Healthwatch Lewisham 

trained six young people earlier in the 

year to become Enter and View 

champions.  

Our Youth Champions wrote a set of 

recommendations to improve the 

wellbeing of older people. As a result, we 

organised an intergenerational event with 

the Young Mayor’s Team. 

  

Page 98



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  7 

Seldom heard and other disadvantaged 

groups 

Healthwatch Lewisham worked closely 

with Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) 

groups, including a Vietnamese group and 

a Turkish elders group around accessing 

primary care. Elsewhere we visited 

homeless services, older people’s groups 

and residential homes to find out what 

works and what does not work in primary 

care. A report was published outlining 

these findings.  

“I felt empowered giving my 

views as a carer.” 

Lewisham resident 

Steps were taken to establish views of 

those from outside the borough. 

Healthwatch Lewisham engaged with 

students from Goldsmiths University at 

their annual Freshers' Fair where we 

encouraged students to become members 

and to volunteer with the organisation. 

Many of these students lived outside the 

borough of Lewisham. We provided 

information about local health services 

and encouraged students to register with a 

local GP to avoid unnecessary visits to the 

Accident and Emergency service.  

"I am very impressed and 

extremely happy with the 

report." 

Lyla, Tryangle Project 

Healthwatch Lewisham worked with 

service users and individuals from a range 

of communities - ensuring that the views 

of seldom heard groups were heard. For 

instance we worked with Lewisham 

Speaking Up, a learning disability 

advocacy organisation in obtaining their 

views of services.  

We also worked with the Whitefoot and 

Downham Food Project ensuring that 

marginalised individuals using this service 

had their views heard. We attended a 

number of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and 

Transgender events to promote awareness 

of how their members can feedback or 

raise concerns about health and care 

services.  

One of Healthwatch Lewisham’s main 

priorities is mental health and we were 

involved in planning last year’s annual 

voluntary sector Mental Health 

Conference. Over 100 service users, carers 

and professionals attended this event and 

we ran a well-received workshop about 

how to best involve Healthwatch in 

improving local mental health services.  

At our annual event in December we 

engaged with over 100 people, reaching 

many seldom heard groups of people.  

 

Enter and View  

As an independent consumer champion of 

health and social care, Healthwatch 

Lewisham is able to visit local health and 

social care services.  

Under the Health and Social Care Act 

2012, Healthwatch can carry out Enter and 

View visits to any publicly funded health 

and social care provider. 

Enter and View visits are carried out by 

trained Healthwatch staff and volunteers. 

As well as speaking to people using the 

service, Healthwatch observe how the 

service is delivered and the general 

environment in which it takes place. 

Healthwatch Lewisham carefully plan 

Enter and View visits with a clear purpose 

in mind to help improve health and social 

care services.  

Page 99



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  8 

Priorities for Enter and View work during 

the year were determined through our 

community engagement work, and this 

year focused on learning disability services 

and on mental health services.  

Healthwatch conducted Enter and View 

visits to three registered care services and 

two local day centres, and undertook 

several Enter and View visits to the 

Ladywell Unit. The Ladywell is a mental 

health unit based at University Hospital in 

Lewisham.  

For more details about our work with 

Ladywell, see the Impact Stories below.  

Page 100



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  9 

Providing information and 
signposting for people who use 
health and social care services  

Helping people get what they 

need from local health and social 

care services  

 

Information  

Throughout the year Healthwatch 

Lewisham was present at various events 

and locations around the borough, 

including local assemblies, public events, 

health and social care settings. This work 

helped promote our priority work areas of 

access to primary care, mental health, 

enablement and integrated care.  

Healthwatch Lewisham has over 900 

followers on Twitter 

As well as printed materials, we make full 

use of our website and other social media 

facilities. 1743 people subscribe to our 

monthly email bulletin Upbeat, and we 

have 926 Twitter followers. Healthwatch 

articles were published in the Voluntary 

Action Lewisham email bulletin and their 

newsletter, along with articles in other 

local publications.  

The Healthwatch website is updated 

weekly with health and social care news 

and resources. In addition, there is now a 

dedicated children and young people’s 

area of our website.  

“I used Healthwatch and had a 

fantastic outcome for my 

daughter who has learning 

difficulties. It totally changed 

the outcome thanks to your 

involvement.”  

Lewisham resident 

Throughout the year we continued to 

ensure that our leaflets were available 

throughout the borough at local libraries, 

GP practices, shops and public venues. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  10 

Signposting  

Throughout the year, Healthwatch 

Lewisham disseminated a range of 

information about local services and 

helped members of the public navigate 

the health and social care system.  

The team responded to signposting 

requests from the information telephone 

line and email. The most common queries 

continued to be about access to primary 

care, mainly GP access.  

“Healthwatch does signpost to 

the right place really quickly.” 

Lewisham resident 

Enquiries were often addressed in just a 

few minutes. However, some were serious 

issues that required research to find the 

right organisation to signpost to. 

For this reason we have developed a list of 

useful contacts for common requests 

which is added to regularly by the team.  

The list includes details of where to 

signpost to such as Patient Advice and 

Liaison Service, NHS England, Lewisham 

Council Social Care Complaints, Social 

Care Information Team, Voice Ability’s 

advocacy service, etc.  

Using our extensive database we are able 

to signpost people to relevant local 

services such as Lewisham Connections 

and the Diabetes Support Group, as well 

as national bodies such as the National 

Child Birth Trust. 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  11 

Influencing decision makers with 
evidence from local people  

Producing reports and 

recommendations to effect change  

Healthwatch Lewisham produced a 

number of reports, all of which are 

available on our website. This section 

outlines some of this work. 

 

District Nursing report 

Following concerns about the quality of 

district nursing services, Healthwatch 

conducted interviews with the recipients 

of district nursing services.  

Healthwatch attended monthly district 

nursing stakeholder meetings to present 

reports of service user feedback on how to 

improve the service.  

The Healthwatch District Nursing report 

was included in an audit review of district 

nursing services. The service user 

feedback was accepted by the service and 

the recommendations are currently being 

implemented.  

 

Enter and View reports 

Healthwatch carried out a number of 

Enter and View visits over the year. 

Reports from this work can be accessed on 

our website, and our work with the 

Ladywell Unit is profiled below in the 

Impact Stories section.  

 

 

 

Unsafe Discharge report 

Healthwatch Lewisham was part of a 

national investigation into what happens 

when people are sent home from hospital 

without the right support in place.  

We wanted to get a deeper understanding 

of what happens to people who 

experience ‘unsafe discharge’ from 

hospital or care settings. We were 

particularly concerned about the impact 

that unsafe discharge can have on people 

who are already vulnerable.  

Our work focused on vulnerable groups 

such as older people and people with 

mental health problems.  

In this inquiry we spoke to over 200 people 

in Lewisham about their experiences of 

returning home from hospital. The report 

included recommendations to improve the 

discharge process and this was shared with 

Healthwatch England in July.  

 

Primary care report 

Feedback at our public events highlighted 

that patients have significant difficulties 

when trying to access primary care. 

Healthwatch decided to carry out further 

engagement activity with over 450 

individuals and 20 community groups to 

find out what mattered and what 

difficulties they had accessing primary 

care services. 

Many of those participating praised their 

GP, although we heard over 200 examples 

of people having difficulties when 

Page 103



Influencing decision makers with evidence from local people 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  12 

accessing their GP. Issues were mainly 

around appointment making and advance 

appointments.  

Issues raised included the quality of their 

GP appointments, misdiagnosis, not being 

listened to, language barriers and not 

being referred onto other services. People 

felt that there was often an inconsistency 

between general practice and also an 

inconsistency between other health and 

social care providers. A key topic was the 

lack of communication between health 

and social care services.  

Our public engagement events helped 

influence Lewisham Clinical 

Commissioning Group's Primary Care 

Development Strategy. This strategy was 

influenced by findings about the extent to 

which local people were unaware of how 

to access GP out of hours services. 

Healthwatch Lewisham worked closely 

with the Lewisham Clinical Commissioning 

Group in the compilation of their report 

delivered to Lewisham Council's Healthier 

Communities Select Committee in 

January.  

 

Putting local people at the heart 

of improving services  

Health and Wellbeing Board  

Healthwatch Lewisham has a seat on the 

Health and Wellbeing Board. Our chair 

attends this board and is able to raise 

concerns and highlight issues on behalf of 

Healthwatch Lewisham and its members.  

Healthwatch Lewisham staff and 

subcommittee help support the chair in 

this role by discussing issues ahead of 

these board meetings. This ensures that 

our representative on the board is well 

informed of the issues and is therefore 

able to effectively articulate any 

concerns.  

Healthwatch Lewisham staff also 

presented last year’s annual report to 

Health and Wellbeing Board in July. This 

was well received by the board, who were 

supportive of the work of Healthwatch 

Lewisham. Minutes from board meetings 

are available on the council’s website.  

Healthwatch staff also attended the Joint 

Public Engagement Group, the subgroup of 

the Health and Wellbeing Board that 

meets specifically to incorporate the 

views of the public into health and social 

care strategy.  

 

Working with others to improve 

local services  

Healthwatch has a representative on the 

governing body of the Lewisham Clinical 

Commissioning Group and its subgroup the 

Public Engagment Group. These 

representatives are lay members of the 

Healthwatch Lewisham subcommittee.  

Through these meetings Healthwatch is 

able to ensure that the views of its 

members and the public are incorporated 

into the commissioning of health services 

in the borough.  

Healthwatch Lewisham facilitated two 

events on the future commissioning of 

integrated services. The aim of these 

events was to gather views on Lewisham 

Clinical Commissioning Group and 

Lewisham Council's Joint Commissioning 

Intentions for Integrated Care 2015-17. 

Over 40 people attended the events, 

feeding into the joint commissioning 

intentions relating to integrated care in 

the borough.These views were taken on 

board in the commissioning of health and 

social care services for Lewisham. 

We have good relationships with 

commissioners and providers and have had 

excellent responses to our requests for 

information. All our requests for 

Page 104



Influencing decision makers with evidence from local people 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  13 

information from commissioners and 

providers were responded to.  

We continued to engage with the wider 

community and voluntary sector 

throughout the year at the Health and 

Social Care Forum where we facilitated 

discussions and gathered feedback on 

services relating to our priorities. 

 

Healthwatch Lewisham has built on its 

links with the Lewisham Connections 

project. We are a member on the 

Lewisham Connections Steering Group. 

Local Healthwatches are required to 

report on whether or not they have made 

recommendations to the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC). Healthwatch Lewisham 

did not make recommendations to the 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) to 

undertake special reviews (themed 

investigations) or investigations 

(responsive inspections). As Healthwatch 

Lewisham did not make any 

recommendations to the CQC, the CQC did 

not undertake any special reviews or 

investigations. 

 

 

Inquiry into community care services 

Following concerns expressed to us about 

the changes affecting community care 

services we undertook an Appreciative 

Inquiry – an approach that is designed to 

focus on identifying what is working well.  

More than 100 examples of excellent 

community care were collected. 

Healthwatch organised two stakeholder 

events with commissioners, service users, 

staff, voluntary sector organisations and 

local councillors to endorse themes and 

develop a vision for community services.  

The inquiry identified a number of themes 

that are essential to excellent community 

care and Healthwatch produced a report 

of the Appreciative Inquiry with the 

findings from the public event.  

As a result, Healthwatch met with the 

Clinical Commissioning Group to discuss 

the findings of the Appreciative Inquiry 

and commissioners expect to incorporate 

these themes into future planning of local 

health services.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Headstart partnership 

Healthwatch continued to be an active 

partner in Lewisham’s bid for the Fulfilling 

Lives: HeadStart Programme. Lewisham is 

Page 105



Influencing decision makers with evidence from local people 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  14 

one of twelve areas in the country 

considering how best to improve resilience 

in young people aged 10 to 14 years. This 

is an opportunity to transform young 

people’s wellbeing in the borough and 

could potentially provide funding of 

around £10m over five years to improve 

the mental health of young people. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  15 

Impact Stories 

Case Study One  

Championing the views of parents and carers

Parents and carers’ voices are key to 

understanding what works in our health 

and care services.  

Healthwatch Lewisham worked closely 

with the Parent and Carer Forum as part 

of a consortium of organisations who 

provide support, signposting and 

information at the Kaleidoscope centre 

for children and young people in Catford. 

"I thought the event was very 

good." 

Sue, Parent and Carer Forum 

Our aim of working with the LPCF was to 

find out about families’ experiences using 

health and social care services for 

children with complex needs and then to 

seek to influence this sevice provision.  

Healthwatch Lewisham produced two 

reports collating the feedback from 

families who use the children’s centre. 

Following this, Healthwatch was invited 

to the forum in January 2015 for an in-

depth discussion with parents with a 

particular focus on community care 

services.  

21 members of the Parent and Carer 

Forum took part in the discussion. The 

key issues they discussed were general 

practice, hospital services, Children and 

Adolescents Mental Health Services, and 

the transition from children’s to adult 

services.  

Healthwatch collated the findings from 

all the engagement undertaken over the 

previous year with families who have 

children with complex needs.  

Healthwatch used this information as part 

of an inquiry into community care 

services and also produced a report on 

our work with the Lewisham and Parent 

Carer Forum which we shared with the 

wider membership of parents of the 

forum.  

From this work, we held constructive 

discussions with commissioners about how 

to improve health and social care services 

for children with complex needs.  

For more information on Healthwatch 

Lewisham’s reports please visit 

www.healthwatchlewisham.co.uk. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 107



Impact Stories 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  16 

Case Study Two  

Enter and View visits to mental health services 

 

From our engagement work last year we 

established that mental health services 

were a key priority for service users and 

members of the public.  

As a result, Healthwatch Lewisham 

conducted Enter and View visits to seven 

wards at the Ladywell Unit run by South 

London and Maudsley (SLaM) NHS Trust.  

The aim of the Enter and View visits was 

to assess patient experience, particularly 

about how well supported patients felt on 

the wards. 

National award winners 

Healthwatch Lewisham, along with 

five other south London 

Healthwatches, won the award for 

Outstanding Collaborative Project at 

the national Healthwatch Network 

Awards of Achievement 2014. The 

award was for the collaborative 

approach to Enter and View visits.  

Last year we conducted several Enter and 

View visits to the Ladywell Unit, located 

at Lewisham Hospital. This provided us 

with valuable information about the 

current patient experience of local 

inpatient mental health services.  

Healthwatch reports including Enter and 

View reports are taken seriously by 

commissioners and providers, and SLaM 

responded to all the recommendations of 

the Healthwatch Enter and View Report 

on the Ladywell Unit.  

We have since met with SLaM managers 

regarding updates on the improvement 

plan following our Enter and View visits.  

Key outcomes as a result of this work 

included redecoration of wards, ward and 

service manager surgeries and improved 

staff safeguarding competencies.  

Healthwatch carried out Enter and 

View visits to seven inpatient wards at 

the Ladywell Unit and spoke to 39 

patients.  

Subsequent meetings with SLaM service 

managers at the Ladywell Unit have 

informed us of updates following our 

report.  

All our Enter and View reports are 

available on our website. 

 

 

 

 

Page 108



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  17 

Our plans for 2015/16  

Helathwatch Bromley & Lewisham 

 

Looking into 2015/16, one change 

presents itself before all others as 

both an opportunity and a challenge: 

having placed a winning bid, 

Healthwatch Bromley will be delivering 

Healthwatch for the London Borough 

of Lewisham from 1st April 2015. This 

presents an exciting opportunity to 

work across the two boroughs, and 

represent an even bigger patient voice 

with regards to health and social care. 

 

Each borough has of course its own 

concerns and priorities and we are 

keen to reflect the diversity of both in 

our engagement work. At the same 

time we hope to ensure we represent a 

unified patient voice that accurately 

reflects the concerns of the two 

boroughs and identifies key areas for 

improvement. Our joint work across 

the two boroughs is reflective of the 

current climate in health and social 

care and the gradual move towards co-

commissioning within the sector.  

 

The increasing movement of residents 

and service users across borough 

boundaries also means that services 

are becoming more connected than 

ever, meaning it is no longer sufficient 

or beneficial to simply observe or 

improve services in an isolated manner 

or within a single locality.  

 

Healthwatch Bromley & Lewisham will 

continue to build on its successes so 

far, including its work around Enter & 

View visits, primary care research and 

inquiry into unsafe discharge 

processes. The NHS Our Healthier 

Southeast London programme will be 

of particular importance over the 

coming months as our Community 

Engagement Officers will be working 

with a variety of different 

communities to make sure they have 

input into this.  

 

We are confident that Healthwatch 

Bromley and Lewisham will be a strong 

consumer champion for both boroughs 

and look forward to the exciting 

opportunities ahead.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 109



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  18 

Our governance and decision-
making  

Healthwatch Lewisham 

governance 

Volunteers and lay people are at the heart 

of decisions that we make. Our 

subcommittee members are volunteers, 

demonstrating our commitment to 

involving volunteers and local people in 

decisions about our priorities.  

Healthwatch Lewisham’s subcommittee 

members during 2014-2015 were: 

Rosemarie Ramsay (chair from September 

2014), Chris Freed (chair until September 

2014), Brian Fisher, Denver Garrison, 

Geraldine Richards, Taiwo Oyekan, Nigel 

Bowness, Philippe Granger and Val 

Fulcher. 

How we involve lay people and 

volunteers  

Our bimonthly subcommittee meetings in 

the past year were open to the public and 

they were therefore able to raise issues 

and help steer the work of Healthwatch 

Lewisham. 

These meetings provided a great 

opportunity for the public to find out 

about the governance of Healthwatch 

Lewisham, our work priorities, and a 

chance to hear from the providers and 

commissioners of health and social care 

services.  

 

 

 

Staffing and volunteers 

We would like to say a big thank you to all 

our subcommittee members and our 

numerous volunteers who have given many 

hours to help Healthwatch Lewisham 

achieve its goals.  

Our staff team in 2014-15 consisted of 

Miriam Long, Marzena Zoladz, Jade 

Fairfax, Simone Riddle and Gary Davis 

(until September). Throughout the year 

our volunteers assisted staff in delivering 

many of Healthwatch’s functions. A big 

thank you to:  

Annette Morgan, Avril Douglas, Ayla 

Mustapha, Denis Nkrumah, Denver 

Garison, Desmond Hodgson, Diana 

Robbins, Elsa Pascal, Havza Hussein, Jacky 

Kinnear, Jennifer Gillard, Juilet Anthony, 

Kenya Fantie, Leia Garwood-Stevenson, 

Margo Sheridan, Nnenna Nzeh, Petrona 

Grant, Saffron Worrell, Sally Niblett, Sara 

Dimtsu, Sarah McGinley and Susie Miah. 

Volunteers play an active part in a number 

of areas of our work. For instance, 

volunteers attended a number of health 

and social care services including the 

Kaleidoscope centre and GP surgeries.  

A group of trained volunteers also assisted 

staff on Enter and View visits. Volunteers 

have also played an important role 

collating and analysing data to establish 

what the public thought of aspects of 

health and social care.  

 

 

Page 110



Our governance and decision-making 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  19 

 

Page 111



 

Healthwatch Lewisham  �  20 

Financial information  

 

 INCOME £ 

Funding from local authority to deliver local 

Healthwatch statutory activities 

143,289 

 

Brought forward  29,848 

Total income 173,137 

  

EXPENDITURE  

Staffing costs 133,752 

Support costs 10,686 

Info and publicity costs 350 

Governance and fundraising costs 5,269 

Activity costs 22,476 

Total expenditure 172,533 

Surplus / Deficit 604 

 

Page 112



 

 

Contact us  

 

Get in touch 

We have moved recently. Our new contact details are: 

 

Healthwatch Bromley and Lewisham 

Community House 

South Street 

Bromley 

Kent 

BR1 1RH 

 

020 8315 1916 

  

admin@healthwatchbromley.co.uk  

www.healthwatchlewisham.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

We will be making this annual report publicly available by 30 June 2015 by publishing it on 

our website and circulating it to Healthwatch England, CQC, NHS England, Clinical 

Commissioning Groups, Healthier Communities Select Committee and Lewisham Council.  

We confirm that we are using the Healthwatch Trademark (which covers the logo and 

Healthwatch brand) when undertaking work on our statutory activities as covered by the 

licence agreement. 

 If you require this report in an alternative format please contact us at the address above.  

 

© Copyright Healthwatch Lewisham, 2015  

 

Page 113



INFORMATION ITEM C 

 

 

1. Purpose 

1.1 This report provides members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with an 

update on Lewisham Community Connections. The report also seeks 

agreement from Board members to participate in activity to increase referrals 

and participation from primary care in the project.  

2. Recommendation/s 

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

2.1  Note the Community Connections Pilot Project Evaluation report (Appendix 1). 

2.2.  Share the findings and recommendations of the evaluation with colleagues 

across community health and social care services in order to maximise the 

referrals for individual support from Community Connections. 

2.3  To take note of the learning from Community Connections when planning new 

or changing services for older people and vulnerable adults in Lewisham 

3.  Background information:  

3.1  In November 2013 Lewisham Council funded a Consortium led by Age UK 

Lewisham and Southwark (AUKLS) to deliver Community Connections (CC) 

for an 18 month programme. 

3.2  CC is a preventative community development programme aimed at supporting 

any vulnerable adult in Lewisham who may benefit from services to improve 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Report Title 
 

Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project evaluation 
report 

Contributors 
 

Lewisham Community Connections 
Adult Social Care 

Information 
Item No. 

7 C 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: 7 July 2015 

Strategic 
Context 

Community Connections contribute to the aims set out in the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy to provide integrated health and 
social care services across sectors including the voluntary and 
community sector.  
 

Pathway An interim evaluation report was considered by the Health and 

Wellbeing Board on 25 November 2014.  

Page 114



their social integration and wellbeing. Individuals are supported through 

person centred plans to identify their skills and interests as well as what is 

important to them. Individuals are then matched to relevant groups and 

organisations in their local area. The project aimed to support 1,200 

individuals in the initial 18 month period. 

3.3  CC also works with local community based organisations to assist in their 

development and capacity building. This is key to the overall success of the 

work to ensure that there are strong and sustainable organisations, networks 

and activities in place so that individual older people and vulnerable adults 

can access the support and activities they are looking for. The project aimed 

to be in contact with160 groups, forums and organisations, including planned 

development work with 40 community groups, in the initial 18 month period. 

3.4  The CC team are employed by AUKLS and Lewisham Disability Coalition, but 

are located with Adult Social Care in Lawrence House. 

3.5  Community Connections has been awarded a 3 year grant from 2015 – 2018 

from the councils Grants Programme to continue to run and develop the 

scheme. 

3.6  This evaluation of the Pilot phase of the project was commissioned to inform 

HWB, Project Steering group and consortium partners of the progress and 

achievements of the project and to identify areas for further development. 

4.   Summary of Community Connections achievements and impact during 

pilot phase 

4.1  Successful start-up with full staff team in post, co-located with council teams.  

4.2  Raised profile across borough, held launch event, established website and 

social media communications. 

4.3  Pilot has become established part of local support planning framework. 

4.4  Effective resource for social workers, health professionals and others. 

4.5  Assisted local groups to develop their offer and extend resources. 

4.6  Brought together information about community resources that were previously 

unknown to health and social care. 

4.7  Built links and contributing to range of neighbourhood forums and groups. 

4.8  Identified gaps in current provision. 

4.9  Established effective contact with number of GP practices who are making 

regular and appropriate referrals. 

Page 115



4.10  Received 700+ referrals from a range of social care, health and community 

providers. 

4.11  71% of service users sampled report an increase in their wellbeing following 

support from CC. 

4.12  Volunteer Centre Lewisham launched a new Befriending Service on 1/10/14 

in response to needs identified by CC, and further befriending schemes 

currently under development. 

4.13  192 development visits to community groups and organisations in Lewisham. 

4.14  Detailed development plans in place with 42 community groups. 

4.15  Secured further funding up to 2018. 

4.16  Plans and milestones in place for next three years. 

4.17  Work started on volunteer recruitment and development. 

4.18  Started to build in SAIL type questionnaire in CC assessments. 

5.   Strategic Context 

5.1 The aims and outcomes of Lewisham Community Connections are about 

enabling older people and vulnerable adults to sustain their independence, to 

be integrated in their community and to reduce their reliance on statutory 

service provision. Therefore the Community Connections project makes a 

strategic contribution toward Shaping our Future –Lewisham’s Sustainable 

Community Strategy and in Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

5.2 Community Connections will continue to contribute to the implementation of 

the Care Act 2014 in Lewisham. 

6. Financial implications 

6.1 None  

7. Legal implications 

7.1 None 

8. Crime and Disorder Implications 

8.1 None 

9. Equalities Implications 

9.1  There are no specific equalities implications arising from this report. 

10. Environmental Implications 

Page 116



10.1  None 

11. Conclusion 

11.1 This report sets out the progress of the Community Connections Project and 

its contribution to the development of integrated health, social care and 

community services in the borough.  

12.  Background Documents 

Community Connections Evaluation Report June 2015 is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

 

If there are any queries on this report please contact Jennifer Werner, Age UK 

(Jennifer.Werner@ageuklands.org.uk). 

 

 

Page 117



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Lewisham Community Connections –Evaluation Report 

June 2015 

Julia Shelley, Independent Consultant 

1. Introduction  

This report follows the interim Community Connections Evaluation Report which was 

presented to the Lewisham Health and Wellbeing Board in November 2014. 

Since that date the Consortium led by Age UK Lewisham and Southwark (AUKLS) has 

continued to deliver Community Connections (CC) across the borough. 

The pilot project ran from November 2013 to March 2015. From April 2015 AUKLS and its 

partners have been awarded a three year grant by Lewisham Council mainstream grant fund 

under the Communities That Care/Connecting and Supporting theme to continue to provide 

and develop Community Connections. 

This report will form the basis for a paper to Lewisham Health and Wellbeing Board to: 

i. inform the Board of Community Connections achievements during the pilot phase  

ii. inform the Community Connections Steering Group in their oversight and planning 

for the project 

iii. engage partners in discussions about the ongoing development of the project   

iv. highlight issues raised that affect Health and Wellbeing Partners in the borough 

2. Background 

Community Connections is a preventative community development programme aimed at 

supporting any vulnerable adult in Lewisham who may benefit from services to improve 

their social integration and wellbeing. Individuals are supported through person centred 

plans to identify their skills and interests as well as what is important to them. Individuals 

are then matched to relevant groups and organisations in their local area. 

Community Connections also works with local community based organisations to assist in 

their development and capacity building. This is key to the overall success of the work to 

ensure that there are strong and sustainable organisations, networks and activities in place 

so that individual older people and vulnerable adults can access the support and activities 

they are looking for. 

Community Connections is seen as playing a key role in increasing integration of health, 

social care and community based services, and in working in the borough’s four cluster 

areas. 

Page 118



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

The original consortium, which consisted of Age UK Lewisham and Southwark, Carers 

Lewisham, VAL, Lewisham Disability Coalition, Sage Educational Trust, submitted a grant 

application to Lewisham Council in June 2013. Following discussions with the Community 

Connections Consortium and with Volunteer Centre Lewisham (VCL) the project was 

established in November 2013 for an 18 month programme.  

 

VCL were responsible for the recruitment and placement of volunteers as part of the CC 

initiative during the pilot phase and reported separately on their activities and outcomes.  

 

The CC programme started in November 2013 aiming to support 1,200 individuals and 40 

community organisations over the 18 months. 

 

3. Governance, management and staffing 

Governance 

The CC Steering Group was established at the start of the project and to date has met on a 

monthly basis to review and monitor progress. The membership of the steering group 

currently includes Lewisham Council (ASC, Public Health, Culture Community Development), 

Lewisham CCG, VAL, VCL and Healthwatch Lewisham which enables the group to assist with 

extending networks, providing information on additional opportunities and identifying local 

resources and activities. 

The Steering Group has supported the team and development of systems over the past 18 

months.  

The CC Consortium members also meet monthly to monitor development and progress of 

the project. Since the start of the project several Consortium members have faced changes 

and pressures to their organisations. From April 2015 Voluntary Services Lewisham (VSL) 

and Rushey Green Time Bank have joined the Consortium, and the Volunteer Centre are no 

longer running a volunteer befriender scheme to support the project. 

Management and staffing 

The project has a team of 11 posts: a Team Leader, 4 FTE Community Facilitators (CF), 4 FTE 

Community Development Workers (CDW) and a part time Administrator. All staff are 

located within Lewisham Council offices at Lawrence House in Catford.  

The original bid envisaged that staff would be employed by different organisations in the 

Consortium. However due to the closure of one key partner since the start of the project 

(Sage Educational Trust) now AUKLS are the employer for all staff apart from one CF who is 

employed by Lewisham Disability Coalition.  

The Team Leader co-ordinates and manages the team, as well as playing a key role in liaison 

and work with Consortium partners and other agencies across the borough. There have 

been a small number of changes of staff during the pilot period but these have been 

managed so that there has not been an impact on the project delivery. 

Page 119



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

Community Development Workers are allocated to one of the four cluster areas. They work 

closely with the CFs to understand the gaps and priorities in each area as identified through 

individual plans. They are then able to work with local groups and centres to sustain and 

develop services, and assist with capacity building and creating opportunities. The aim is to 

strengthen community resources offered to local people. 

The CDW’s receive and monitor all referrals, and pass them on to the appropriate CF. The 

system identifies referrals who are looking for information or signposting so they are dealt 

with quickly. Other referrals are then passed on to the appropriate CF who will make 

contact with the clients. 

Community Facilitators work with individuals to develop a person centred plan to identify 

their skills and interests as well as what is important to them. Individuals are then matched 

to relevant groups, organisations and activities in their local area. Each CF is also allocated 

to one of the four cluster areas in the borough. Their role with individuals is time limited 

with the aim of assisting people to identify their needs, to find solutions and put in place 

ongoing activities and support. 

4.  Establishing and promoting Community Connections 

The first staff came into post in November 2013, and following a brief induction period, 

were immediately at work to promote and publicise CC, receive and assess referrals, 

develop and implement Person Centred Plans for individuals and development plans with 

community organisations. The team needed to promote and introduce the service to ensure 

a steady flow of referrals. They also set up systems and processes for referrals and delivery 

of the project, which have continued to evolve over the life of the project. It took some 

weeks for the office and IT hardware and systems to be established so the team could 

function to full capacity. 

This all meant that at first referrals came in slowly and systems and processes were 

developed gradually. There was also an issue relating to set up of monitoring systems as 

there had been no clear agreement on monitoring and evaluation at the start of the project. 

However it is clear that the team dealt effectively with these challenges. At the time of the 

interim evaluation report Council officers and others reported that the Community 

Connections service had established itself well, is widely known about in the borough, and 

has a growing reputation as a responsive and effective service.  

The team have continued to promote Community Connections effectively and it remains a 

well known service in the borough. Links have been made with different teams and sections 

within the Council and the CCG, including Public Health and the Falls Team. 

Community Connections has been included in Lewisham plans for implementation of the 

Care Act in April 2015. 

The recent consultation document on Day Care Services in the borough referred to working 

with Community Connexions (sic) to support people in identifying local services. Earlier in 

the year when there were changes to services for younger adults with learning disabilities, 

Page 120



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

the Council referred the current service users to Community Connections who held a 

meeting to talk to people about the options that were available for them. 

Community Connections uses its website to promote events and activities, as well as a 

Twitter account. At present project progress reports do not include information on how well 

the website is used, number of Twitter followers etc so it is hard to assess how successful 

this activity is in reaching new clients or organisations. 

The CC team has also benefited from being located with the Council’s Adult Social Care 

office. This has enabled closer working and an understanding of the role of CC, so council 

staff are confident in making referrals and ongoing communication is good.  

5. Support for individuals – review of activity and impact 

Referrals 

By the end of March 2015 CC had received approximately 700 referrals, which is 58% of the 

original target. 

Once the project was established the level and sources of the referrals have remained fairly 

consistent over the 18 month period. The target for the first year of the new programme is 

600 which is a more realistic and achievable target for the team, but will still require a plan 

for increasing referrals particularly from the health sector.  

The breakdown of referral sources in March 2015 was  

Adult Social Care 55.2% GP practices 6.1% 

Community Matron 0.5% Community organisations 14.8% 

NHS enablement 9.8% Self referrals 5.3% 

LINC/ LATT 2.8% Community mental health 0.9% 

Physiotherapists 4.2% Admissions avoidance 0.4% 

 

This is a similar pattern across the 18 months.  

Approximately 50% of referrals have come from Adult Social Care over the whole length of 

the pilot, demonstrating the strength of understanding of the project and the benefits of 

being co-located. However the CC team have expressed concerns that some people are 

being referred who have higher levels of needs and dependency that can be safely met by 

most community based organisations, and that they have therefore been unable to identify 

suitable support or activities for them. 

Issues raised by the CC team around higher levels of need are focussed on requirements for 

accessible and affordable transport, support for individuals with dementia, day long 

activities rather than short classes, suitable activities for individuals who need higher levels 

of care or who are not able to travel on their own, or who are housebound. Changes to 

council services and reductions on eligibility will inevitably have an impact on the referrals 

made to CC. And although many of the local community organisations are developing and 

Page 121



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

building their services they may still not be suitable for service users with a need for 

intensive or specialist support. 

The project has seen a steady increase in the numbers of people referred by Community 

Organisations, as the project becomes better known and integrated into the wider 

community sector provision. 

Health referrals have gone up and down with some months showing significant referrals 

from Community Matrons, Enablement and Physiotherapists in particular.  

The team have focused considerable effort in the past six months on building relationships 

with GP practices, and while this has resulted in regular referrals from a small number of 

practices overall there has been limited success. This issue is further addressed in the 

section 6 of this report. 

Who is being referred? 

CC is for all older and vulnerable adults in the borough. Up to the end of March 2015 the 

breakdown of referrals across the population is: 

Age  Gender  Religion  

18-30 6% Male 36.53% Christian 72% 

31-40 6% Female 63.3% Hindu 2% 

41-50 9% Transgender 0.17% Islam 4% 

51-60 12%   Buddhist 1% 

61-70 12%   Other 2% 

71-80 23%   None 15% 

81+ 32%   Refused 4% 

 

Ethnicity     

Asian or Asian British (Indian) 2.63% White British 48.34% 

Asian or Asian British (Other) 1.52% White Irish 2.35% 

Black or Black British (African) 10.11% White Mixed (White & Asian) 0.42% 

Black or Black British (Caribbean) 20.08% 
White Mixed (White & Black 

African) 

0.28% 

Black or Black British (Other) 3.32% 
White Mixed (White & Black 

Caribbean) 

0.83% 

Other Ethnic Group 1.39% White Mixed (White & Other) 0.14% 

Page 122



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

Chinese 0.42% White Other 5.12% 

Turkish Cypriot 0.83% Undisclosed 2.22% 

 

This demonstrates that CC is reaching across the different communities in the borough, 

however it would be useful to do further analysis of the data to see how this relates to area 

of need or disability. 67% of service users are over 60 so the project is reaching older people 

as planned, including a large number of the 80+ population. This is significantly higher than 

the percentage of older people in the population. 

Signposting and onward referrals 

Towards the end of the pilot project a Signposting Assessment section has been added to 

the Person Centred Plan form completed with all referrals. The aim of the new section is to 

identify additional needs for individuals and refer them on to appropriate support or advice. 

The questions cover issues such as falls, substance misuse, sensory impairments, nutrition, 

education, memory loss, mental health.  

This is a significant addition to the project and builds on the successful delivery of the SAIL 

project by AUKLS in Southwark. However at present in Lewisham further work is needed to 

build up the network of referral agencies to receive these referrals from CC. The current 

experience of the Community Facilitators is that the referrals they send on are not always 

responded to.  Experience in Southwark shows that this type of project will only be effective 

if the network of referral agencies are active members of the scheme. It is also important to 

keep a full record of referrals made and received as part of the regular monitoring. 

These issues are the subject of ongoing discussions between Community Connections and 

the council to take the work forward. 

Length of contact 

The original target was for a 30 day input by CC for each service user. However experience 

has shown that the project needs longer to develop and implement each individual’s Person 

Centred Support Plan. It was only possible to complete the work with 36% of people within 

the original target time. 

Fig 1: Length of contact 

Page 123



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

The average contact period was 56 days. 

The team have identified that there are people who need a longer period of support and 

assistance to overcome their fears about going out more, or joining clubs or activities. The 

data above confirms that service users are being offered a longer period of support and the 

team feel this is consistent with delivering a person centred approach.   

There are also a number of cases that have remained open while a suitable Befriending 

volunteer is identified and this has will impact on the length of contact time.  

The project is working on the recruitment of Community Connectors volunteers who would 

be able to provide some of the ongoing contact and support for individuals whilst they are 

waiting to be allocated a Befriender or for another activity or opportunity. The aim is for 

these volunteers to take on some work currently preventing CFs from carrying out more 

assessments. 

Impact 

The aim of CC is to help increase people’s sense of wellbeing and reduce their isolation. 

There are also more specific aims about reducing the numbers of GP visits and hospital 

admissions. At this stage the information and feedback collected from service users has 

focused on their wellbeing and isolation. 

All service users are asked to complete a wellbeing questionnaire at the start of their 

involvement with CC, and again when their case is closed. The interim evaluation reviewed 

the outcomes reported by 66 service users following their support and involvement with the 

project.  

I have looked now at another sample of 66 cases completed between October 2014 and 

May 2015. 

All participants were asked to rate their responses to the following questions: 

Page 124



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

1. Are you seeing your friends as often as you want to? 

2. Do you see your family as often as you want to? 

3. Do you feel safe in your home? 

4. Do you take part in activities you enjoy? 

 

The project is probably less able to have an impact on questions 1 and 2 about friends and 

family. The area where CC has most to offer is in offering information and access to a range 

of activities. In response to question 4 79% reported an increase in activities they enjoyed in 

the first sample and 53% in the second sample.  

In the first sample 86% reported an improvement in their overall wellbeing following their 

support from CC, 8% reported no change and 6% reported a reduction in their wellbeing. 

In the second sample 56% reported an improvement in their overall wellbeing following 

their support from CC, 39% reported no change and 4% reported a reduction in their 

wellbeing. The higher level of people reporting of no change reflects those with restricted 

mobility, or cognitive impairment where there are fewer options for increased activities and 

making new friends. It was noticeable that for many much older people that the answers to 

questions 1-3 did not vary at the different stages they completed the wellbeing 

questionnaire, and several included comments about how many friends and family had 

died. 

The wellbeing questions have been changed since May 2015 to elicit a broader and more 

useful measure of wellbeing and impact of the CC input for individuals. The new questions 

are: 

1. How content do you feel with your life at the moment? 

2. Are you able to manage your health? 

3. How socially connected do you feel? 

4. How physically active are you 

5. Do you have access to information when you need it? 

 

Participants will asked to score each response on a scale of 1-5, and these questions will 

provide a broader view of peoples sense of wellbeing as they are less tied to home, friends 

and family.  

The following case studies demonstrate the range of needs that the project is seeking to 

address, and some of the successes that they have achieved. 

Case Study 1: A Hundred And One – And Still Going Strong! 

“I first met Ivy in April. Despite being 100 years old, she was living on her own and even 

doing her own cooking. Ivy was happy with her life and had many people who supported her 

with day to day living- however she felt like something was missing……. 

It soon transpired that Ivy was missing the social elements of being with people in her own 

age group.  Ivy and I spoke about where she might like to go. We finally settled on The 

Deptford Mission that runs a day centre three days a week.  

Page 125



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

The next hurdle was transport. Ivy has very poor mobility and is not able to get on public 

transport. Although The Deptford Mission do provide transport, there was a waiting list for 

this and so we agreed on using Access Lewisham – a volunteer driving service who provide 

return journeys in the borough for a flat fee of £5.50. 

So I set about filling out all the paperwork and we arranged to visit The Deptford Mission 

using Access Lewisham as soon as possible.  

On the day of Ivy’s first visit, I escorted her and to say she was nervous was putting it mildly! 

However, Ivy could not have had a warmer welcome! From the Access Lewisham Driver to 

Erica and all the staff and members at The Deptford Mission, Ivy was treated wonderfully.  

She was first given a nice cup of tea and then shown the menu for the three course lunch. At 

this point, I bid farewell to Ivy, telling her that I didn’t want to cramp her style! 

I later called Ivy who was still on a high from her visit to the Mission. She said she has had a 

wonderful time and was especially impressed by the food! 

Ivy has since turned 101 and was delighted to receive a card from all the members of The 

Deptford Mission wishing her a happy Birthday!” 

Case study 2: Danny’s Story  

Danny, 47 years old, was referred to the Community Connections team by his 

Physiotherapist in July 2014. He suffered a debilitating back condition in 2005 when he 

“popped three spinal cords” which left him often in chronic back and leg pain and needing 

the support of a crutch to walk. He subsequently had to give up work as a skilled self-

employed carpenter, a job he loved as he was able to travel the world, building exhibition 

stands. Shortly after giving up work, Danny suffered further ill health including some 

abdominal surgery and a diagnosis of Type 1 Diabetes.  His emotional wellbeing deteriorated 

as he became isolated and lonely. Danny had no family or friends to support him. Danny also 

experienced some financial difficulties having had his Disability Living Allowance stopped. 

This caused him much stress and anxiety. He received counselling and medication for 

depression. His low self-esteem affected his lifestyle and for several months, he became a 

recluse in his own home. When I first met Danny in my role of Community Support 

Facilitator, he told me amongst other things, how much he enjoyed his past work as a 

Carpenter. Together we explored suitable day time activities that matched his interests. We 

felt that it was important that we looked locally to where Danny lived due to his difficulty in 

standing or walking for long periods of time. CC also supported him in seeking expert advice 

in completing his appeal for the reinstatement of his Disability Living Allowance 

I contacted the Lewisham Southwark College (LESOCO) and Danny was able to become a 

student in Carpentry and Brick Laying. I met up with Danny each week to help build up his 

confidence. Danny now travels alone to the college 3 days a week by bus. The best bit 

however is that he is so good at carpentry, he has ended up assisting the teacher in training 

13 students aged from 17 to 30! In his own words — Danny says “this has woken me up. It’s 

been great! I have a group of youngsters that have latched onto me. My best friend last 

night told me that he has not heard me so upbeat in years. I’ve just knitted in — all these 

youngsters have latched on to me. Community Connections have  helped me build my self-

Page 126



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

confidence back up and make me try to feel proud about myself, which is something I 

haven’t felt for a long time. 

 

6. Support for community organisations: review of activity and impact 

The targets and achievements for development work with community organisations: 

 18 months total Completed by March 2015 

Development visits 160 192 

Development plan for 

individual organisation 

40 42 

Launch event 1 1 

 

The development visits include a wide range of groups and organisations and provide the 

team with information about what is available in the community, what additional resources 

and capacity may be needed.  

The Community Development Worker role includes offering information about good 

practice, funding opportunities, making links and connections between projects, and 

maximising use of community resources. 

Community Connections held a launch event in March 2014 which was attended by 

representatives of over 30 organisations working in the borough. The team facilitated 

workshops on Reaching Vulnerable Adults; Transport options; Volunteering.  

The CDW team also attends a wide range of neighbourhood and borough wide forums and 

meetings. The purpose of attending these meetings is to:  

a) tell groups and individuals about Community Connections, including seeking referrals 

for individual support;  

b) make contact with community groups who may benefit from individual development 

work;  

c) build connections between community groups, health and social care services to 

contribute to better integrated provision. 

 

A key area of work for CDWs over the past six months has been to build links with GP 

practices across the borough to ensure that both GPs and practice staff are aware of 

Community Connections and how make referrals into the project. 

A recent Citizens Advice report
1
 finds that GPs spend almost a fifth of their time (19%) on 

social issues that are not principally about health which means they have less time for other 

patient’s health needs.  

  

The low number of GP referrals was identified as a priority in the interim evaluation report. 

Since October the CDWs have been meeting with GPs through practice meetings, 

neighbourhood meetings and currently 2 PPGs that are being set up with support from a 

                                                           
1
 A very general practice – Citizens Advice Policy Briefing May 2015 

Page 127



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

CDW. Due to the various characteristics of each GP, different strategies are being used, ie, 

training around how to engage with the local services, information through presentations.  

The CDWs have contacted all GP practices in the borough at least once, but there are still a 

number that have not responded at all, despite follow up with both GPs and Practice 

Managers. 

For example there are 7 Practices in one CDW’s patch. Six of these did not respond at all to 

the first communication in 2014, and one offered a meeting with Practice Manager and to 

display CC leaflets. Following a further round of emails and introductions in January 2015 

three of these practices still did not respond, three responded positively and each made a 

small number of referrals. The seventh invited the CDW to a practice meeting but has still 

made no referrals. The CDW has continued to make contact with all seven practices but 

there is no steady flow of referrals. 

 

There has also been discussion about the easiest ways for GPs and practices to make 

referrals and Community Connections is being flexible about this, so some use the referral 

form, others refer by fax or email without using the form. The team leader is also talking 

with the CCG about ways to enable GPs to use their existing intranet system to refer into 

Community Connections. 

 

However it would appear that further information, promotion or training is needed to reach 

a stage where GP practices are using CC as an early option when dealing with people who 

are presenting with non-health related issues. Options could include CC presence at GP 

training and information events, inviting practices or CCG members who are using the 

scheme to act as CC champions when meeting with other practices. 

 

The team has made extensive and continuous efforts to engage with GP practices and will 

continue to do so, but to further embed CC into both GPs and other health professionals 

daily practice, it would be beneficial to have further  support and active championing of the 

project from the CCG and other leaders. 

 

Identifying and filling gaps in provision 

Both CDWs and CFs have highlighted that there are some people for whom they are 

frequently unable to identify suitable activities or support. These are people with advanced 

dementia or considerable short term memory loss or who require personal care or one to 

one support. Community support services rarely have the capacity or facilities to offer such 

high levels of care to their service users. 

 

People who are housebound are restricted by lack of access to suitable transport as are 

others with other mobility or travel safety needs as there is very limited access to travel 

buddies or escorts. There have been changes and reductions to Befriending Services 

although CC is now working with VSL and others to strengthen befriending resources in the 

borough. 

 

Activities and services for adults of working age with a physical or sensory disability are also 

lacking. This is particularly difficult for male clients in this age range. Apart from Headlines, a 

Page 128



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

men's coffee morning in Catford established by Community Connections there is very little 

else for available. 

 

Outcomes and Impact 

In February 2015 the CDWs conducted a survey of organisations they had worked with 

across 3 of the 4 neighbourhoods to get feedback on their outcomes. 15 organisations 

responded and reported positively on their strength, connections and confidence in their 

own management structures. However there had been no similar survey at the point of 

starting work with each organisation so that it is not possible to judge the level of impact 

from the support and guidance offered by Community Connections. In future it would be 

useful to carry out a survey of each organisation at the start and end of their contact with 

CC.  

However the survey did provide some very positive and useful feedback: 

“Community Connections has linked AAF with over 10 other community voluntary 

organisations and services locally.” 

“We think that Community Connections has genuinely addressed a gap in information and 

knowledge of services within diverse communities in Lewisham. The ability of CC to research, 

visit and match or link organisation/services with others greatly contributes to better health 

and care outcomes for Lewisham residents.” 

“The Team add a level of support that we would not be able to offer.  They don’t just hand 

out leaflets and info, but accompany individuals when attending activities until they feel 

comfortable.” 

 

 

Some examples of impact of Community Development Work: 

The South East London Tamil Elders & Family Welfare Association is a lunch club for older 

people from the Tamil community. The group meets once a week for companionship, 

celebration of important cultural events, trips in during the summer months and a hearty 

vegetarian meal. When I first met with the group we discussed some of the challenges they 

felt they faced. The top 3 challenges were, 1) accessing funding to make the group financially 

sustainable, 2) promoting the health and wellbeing of members 3) insecurity about where 

the group will be based in light of the management of Calabash centre going to tender. 

Over the 12 month period I worked with the group, some of the key outcomes achieved 

together include: 

- Collaborating with the Community Health Improvement Service to deliver a 6 week 

wellbeing programme to members involving; health checks, functional fitness, exercise and 

healthy eating talks. One of the Tamil group members also became a Healthy Walk leader 

and now leads a walk at Ladywell Fields every Tuesday. 

- Gaining funding from SLAM to pay for continued exercise classes and recruiting a qualified 

tutor to deliver the 10 fitness sessions. 

- Accessing further funding from the Mercer’s Trust to contribute to support the general aims 

of the group e.g. for the venue hire, food costs and summer trips. 

- Finding a new residence where the group could continue to prepare a hot vegetarian meal 

each week. 

Mr Vethasuntharam, the secretary of the association commented that, 

Page 129



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

“Community Connections has done a great job for smaller organisations like us, supporting 

with getting funding and how to run the association”. 

 

Planning a “Techy Tea Party” 

“Techy Tea Parties” were being held nationally to promote older people’s engagement with 

technology. This was an opportunity to explore digital inclusion in Lewisham. I threw a 

“Techy Tea Party” at Crofton Park library, as a Time Bank member, Community Connections 

were able to use this space free of charge. I then got Lewisham Pensioners Forum involved. 

The aim of the party was to get local, older people together for a social event, whilst 

exploring technology. People were encouraged to bring along a mobile phone or tablet, that 

they wanted to learn more about. 

Moving Towards a Regular “Techy Drop In” 

I am in the process of advertising for a volunteer to lead a regular “Techy Drop In” at the 

library. From talking with older people in the community, I have found that many of them 

need help with technology, not just PC’s but tablets, mobiles and lap tops. 

 

The Darby and Joan Club is a coffee afternoon and entertainment group for older people 

based at the St Margaret’s church in Blackheath. 

In the initial meeting with the club coordinator Cilla, we looked at the strengths and needs of 

the club. For example, it was a great advantage that the club had established transport 

provision using Dial-a-Ride and Lewisham Door-2-Door. However, the number of people 

attending the club was diminishing due to poor health and members passing away. 

Cilla and I looked at how we could make the club more cost effective through attracting new 

members and utilising services within the community and voluntary sector rather than 

relying solely on paid performers. 

Community Connections helped the Darby and Joan by introducing new members to the 

group, connecting the club to new free opportunities for members, for example; London 

Wildlife Trust’s Potted History project and healthy eating and lifestyle activities with the 

Community Health Improvement Service. 

After consulting with the members, they requested a signposting and information session 

from Community Connections to explore the different advice services in Lewisham. I have 

also offered to deliver this for them as well as to provide a Dementia Friends awareness 

session for the club to support the volunteers with concerns they may have when accepting 

new members with higher support needs. 

I have also supported the group to access funding to provide summer trips for the group 

which will also be open to other older people in the area. 

 

 

7. Volunteers and Community Connections 

 

At the start of the project Lewisham Volunteer Centre was funded separately to develop 

and provide a volunteer Befriending Services that would enable CFs to refer on people 

looking for this type of support. The Befriending Service was slow to get off the ground but 

once up but the CFs report that this became an effective and helpful service once started, 

and service users were quickly matched with a volunteer. 

 

Page 130



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

Local volunteers were also recruited as Befrienders as part of the Winter Warmth 

campaigns and again some successful partnerships were set up, that have continued beyond 

the end of the Winter funding. 

 

There are other Befriending schemes available, particularly the one run by Voluntary 

Services Lewisham, where the CFs can refer but they have experienced long waiting lists. 

 

The two new members of the Consortium (VSL, RGB) both have a strong focus on 

volunteers. CC is also establishing its own volunteer team of Community Connectors as part 

of the plan for the year ahead. Completed support plans will be passed on to the 

Community Connectors who will work with the individuals for up to three months to 

support the implementation of the plan. Acting as a companion, they will befriend the 

individual and support them to access the activities and groups outlined in the support plan 

and build their confidence to take part in the community. 

The volunteer recruitment process will start in summer 2015 the aim of recruiting at least 

10 volunteers in the next year. 

 

8. Progress on areas for further work and development identified in interim 

evaluation report: 

1) Impact monitoring – The team have worked on developing the questions and model 

used to assess impact on wellbeing. Having tested the approach over the pilot period 

a new format has been introduced from May 2015. This will need ongoing review, 

and the system developed to ensure that data is entered and monitored on an 

ongoing basis 

2) Monitoring longer term impact for service users – the team have introduced a follow 

up questionnaire to be completed six months after a case is closed. 

3) Clarify overall monitoring system so consistent information is collected over the 

remainder of the project life – A revised monitoring framework is being presented to 

the Steering group in June 2015. 

4) Continue to identify gaps in resources and services – this is ongoing work, but having 

longer term funding secured will enable CDWs to continue to develop and trial 

groups and activities.  

5) Balance of expectations, targets and resources – This is part of the ongoing project 

development and reflected in the plans submitted as part of the funding application. 

The team has responded to changes and adapted as necessary, for example: Fast 

track signposting service, development of Community Connector volunteers, 

establishing new groups on trial basis, reviewing and adapting monitoring and other 

systems 

6) Working with Health and GP practices to increase level of referrals from health 

services – the CDWs have continued to build contacts with GPs and other health 

professionals and this has had some success. Despite their persistence the response 

has remained limited, and therefore the Steering Group should consider other ways 

to encourage and support GPs to refer to the project. It may be that the scheme 

needs to be publicly promoted and championed by GP leaders and the CCG to have a 

greater impact on changing current practice 

Page 131



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

7) Explore possibilities for the introduction of Social Prescribing in Lewisham – this is 

currently subject to discussions with CCG and Public Health and is ongoing work for 

Community Connections 

8) Consider development of SAIL (Safe and Independent Living) checklist in Lewisham – 

the initial checklist has been added to the individual planning form but there is 

further work required to fully establish this as an effective service, with a greater 

input and buy in from the agencies who would receive referrals 

9) Continue to develop work with Falls Prevention Service – this is ongoing work 

10) Review role and membership of the Consortium – the Consortium membership has 

been changed to reflect the development needs of the project, and the needs of 

older and vulnerable adults in the borough. 

11) Look at how CC can contribute to the introduction of the Care Act 2014 in Lewisham 

– the work around wellbeing, early intervention and prevention is contributing to 

this, together with the development of the council website 

12) Continue to develop and streamline the referrals and assessment process to enable 

the team to respond within agreed timeframes – This is ongoing work, in response to 

changing needs and resources. The development of the volunteer Community 

Connector role is one example. 

13) Review outputs and outcomes from Community Development Work to ensure a 

consistent approach across all neighbourhoods – the council has fed back that they 

feel this is now the case as the project has become established. To some extent 

different approaches across the neighbourhoods reflect the nature of those 

communities and the differing extent of community organisations in each area. 

 

9. Community Connections - Summary of achievements and impact: 

1) Successful start-up with full staff team in post, co-located with council teams  

2) Raised profile across borough, held launch event, established website and social 

media communications 

3) Pilot has become established part of local support planning framework 

4) Effective resource for social workers, health professionals and others. 

5) Assisted local groups to develop their offer and extend resources. 

6) Brought together information about community resources that were previously 

unknown to health and social care 

7) Built links and contributing to range of neighbourhood forums and groups. 

8) Identified gaps in current provision 

9) Established effective contact with number of GP practices who are making regular 

and appropriate referrals 

10) Received 700+ referrals from a range of social care, health and community providers 

11) 71% of service users sampled report an increase in their wellbeing following support 

from CC 

12) Volunteer Centre Lewisham launched a new Befriending Service on 1/10/14 in 

response to needs identified by CC, and further befriending schemes currently under 

development 

13) 192 development visits to  community groups and organisations in Lewisham 

14) Detailed development plans in place with 42 community groups 

Page 132



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

15) Secured further funding up to 2018 

16) Plans and milestones in place for next three years 

17) Work started on volunteer recruitment and development 

18) Started to build in SAIL type questionnaire in CC assessments. 

 

10. Community Connections – areas for further development 

1) Further work to continuously refine and develop monitoring to understand impact 

for individuals and organisations 

2) Feed learning and knowledge into local developments and planning of services and 

feedback on impact of changes for older people and vulnerable adults 

3) Support development and expansion of volunteering opportunities in the borough 

4) Contribute to strengthening joint working and information sharing between 

community organisations and statutory services 

5) Continue to strengthen working links with health services, and particularly GP 

practices 

6) Develop signposting and referrals by building network of referral agencies. 

7) Continue to support implementation of Care Act 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133



Health and Wellbeing Board: 7 July 2015 

INFORMATION ITEM 7C: Lewisham Community Connections – Pilot Project Evaluation 

APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lewisham Community Connections Pilot Project Evaluation Report commissioned by Age UK 

Lewisham and Southwark. 

Researched and written by Julia Shelley, Independent Consultant, 

julia.shelley@btinternet.com  

Thanks to the Community Connections team and Council officers for their assistance and 

input 

June 2015 

Page 134



INFORMATION ITEM D 

 

 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1 To update members on progress of the Lewisham NHS Health Check 

programme. 
 
2. Recommendation/s 
 

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 
 
2.1 Note the progress made in the delivery of health checks in Lewisham. 
  
3. Policy Context 
 
3.1 The NHS Health Check programme aims to prevent heart disease, 

stroke, diabetes and kidney disease, and raise awareness of dementia 
both across the population and within high risk and vulnerable groups. 

 
3.2    In April 2013 the NHS Health Check became a mandated public health 

service in England. Local authorities are responsible for making 
provision to offer an NHS Health Check to eligible individuals aged 40-
74 years once every five years. 

 
3.3   Legal duties exist for local authorities to make arrangements:  
 

• For each eligible person aged 40-74 to be offered a NHS Health 
Check once in every five years and for each person to be recalled 
every five years if they remain eligible.  

• For the risk assessment to include specific tests and 
measurements.  

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 
Report Title 
 

An update on the NHS Health Checks Programme in Lewisham 

Contributors 
 

Frances Fuller, CVD Programme 
Manager 

Information 
Item No. 

7 D 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: 7th July 2015 

Strategic 
Context 

Whilst cardiovascular disease prevention has not been identified 
as a specific priority outcome within the Lewisham Health and 
Well Being Strategy, it is addressed by several of the priority 
outcomes.  
 

Pathway A report on Reducing Cardiovascular Disease in Lewisham to 
the January 2015 Board included information about NHS Health 
Checks  
 

Page 135



• To ensure the person having their NHS Health Check is told their 
cardiovascular risk score, and other results are communicated to 
them.  

• For specific information and data to be recorded and, where the risk 
assessment is conducted outside the person’s GP practice, for that 
information to be forwarded to the person’s GP  

 
3.4 Local authorities are also required to continuously improve the 

percentage of  eligible people taking up the offer of a health check. 
 

4. Background   
 

4.1   Diabetes, heart and kidney disease and stroke make up a third of the 
difference in life expectancy between the most deprived areas and the 
rest of the country. Additionally, the cost of social and health care from 
the rise in levels of obesity, type 2 diabetes and dementia makes the 
prevention and risk reduction of these conditions key drivers of the 
programme.  

 
4.2 Lewisham has high premature mortality rates from circulatory disease 

compared with London and England and CVD is a major contributor to 
the life expectancy gap between Lewisham and England. However, 
Lewisham has lower levels of detected disease. In 2013 there were 
32,709 people diagnosed with hypertension in Lewisham. This was 
lower than expected and 10.3% of adults (an estimated 20,000) could 
have hypertension who have not been diagnosed. 

 

4.3  The Lewisham NHS Health Check programme was launched in March 
2011 and is now a well-established programme. Health Checks are 
provided by general practices, community pharmacies and a 
community outreach health check team provided by Lewisham and 
Greenwich Healthcare Trust. 

 

4.4 The total eligible population for the Lewisham programme is 67,250 
Twenty percent of the eligible population are invited for a health check 
annually. 

 

5. Progress of the programme since it was launched: 
 

5.1 A comprehensive call and recall system is in place and over 29,000                      
health checks have been undertaken 
 

5.2   3,000 people have been identified to be at high risk of developing    
cardiovascular disease.  5.2Everyone with increased CVD risk factors 
are also screened for diabetes 
 

5.3 The Lewisham NHS Health Check programme was nationally          
recognised in November 2014 and was awarded the Heart UK “Team 
of the Year” award for the Community Pharmacy Health Check Service.  

Page 136



Twenty five percent of all health checks have been undertaken by 
community pharmacies  
 

5.4 The health check programme is increasingly reaching more men     
(44% in 2014/15).  The majority of people attending are in the younger 
age group (40-55 years) 

 
5.5 The Lifestyle Referral Hub service was launched in 2012. The service 

offers a “one-stop shop” for people who have received a health check 
and identified at increased risk of developing cardiovascular disease. 
The Lifestyle Hub service offers one to one support using behavioural 
change techniques as well as onward referral to local lifestyle services. 
These include stop smoking services, weight management 
programmes, alcohol services and physical activity programmes. Client 
follow up takes place at 3, 6 and 12 months 

 

 

6. Performance 
 

6.1 At least 20 per cent of the eligible population have been offered a 
health check annually. The annual % uptake rate is increasing and in 
2014/15 uptake was 47% in line with the London at 46.6% uptake  and 
England 46.4% uptake. 

 

 2013/14 2014/15 

Number of Health 
Checks offered 

15,543 13,450 

Number of health 
checks received 

7075 6346 

% uptake 45% 47% 

 
6.2  The health check programme has been very successful at identifying 

people with a high risk of developing cardiovascular disease.  
 
 

CVD Risk Scores 
2011-15 (JBS2) 

Number Percentage 

Very high risk 
(>30%) 

842 3% 

High Risk (>20%) 2114 7% 

Moderate Risk 
(>10%) 

6407 22% 

Low Risk (<10%) 19,739 68% 

Total numbers of 
health checks 

29,102  

 
 
 

Page 137



 
6.3 Community pharmacies and the community outreach service have 

been successful at identifying a greater number of people at risk of 
developing CVD. Health Checks 
different locations in Lewisham and pharmacy appointments are 
offered at evenings and weekends

 

 

 

6.4 The health check programme has identified large numbers of 
individuals at high risk of developing diabetes and 
established disease. Early identification and diagnosis will lead to 
better clinical management and long term outcomes.

 

 

Community pharmacies and the community outreach service have 
been successful at identifying a greater number of people at risk of 
developing CVD. Health Checks have been offered opportunistically at 
different locations in Lewisham and pharmacy appointments are 
offered at evenings and weekends. 

The health check programme has identified large numbers of 
individuals at high risk of developing diabetes and over 6% with 
established disease. Early identification and diagnosis will lead to 
better clinical management and long term outcomes. 

 

Community pharmacies and the community outreach service have 
been successful at identifying a greater number of people at risk of 

have been offered opportunistically at 
different locations in Lewisham and pharmacy appointments are 

 

The health check programme has identified large numbers of 
over 6% with 

established disease. Early identification and diagnosis will lead to 

Page 138



 
6.5 Referrals to lifestyle services has steadily increased since the launch of 

the Lifestyle Hub Service in 2013.
 

 
 
7. Financial implications

 
7.1 There are no specific financial implications in this report, however, it 

will be important for the board to be aware of the possible impact of 
any savings made in the future on the programmes associated with 
improved CVD outcomes.

 
 
 
 
 

Referrals to lifestyle services has steadily increased since the launch of 
the Lifestyle Hub Service in 2013. 

Financial implications 

There are no specific financial implications in this report, however, it 
will be important for the board to be aware of the possible impact of 
any savings made in the future on the programmes associated with 

outcomes. 

 

Referrals to lifestyle services has steadily increased since the launch of 

 

There are no specific financial implications in this report, however, it 
will be important for the board to be aware of the possible impact of 
any savings made in the future on the programmes associated with 

Page 139



8. Legal implications
 

8.1 Legal duties exist for local au
 

• For each eligible person aged 40
once in every five years if they remain eligible
 

• For the risk assessment to inc
 

• To ensure the person having their NHS Health Check is told their 
cardiovascular risk score, and other results are communicated to them  
 

• For specific information and data to be recorded and, and where the 
risk assessment is conducted outside the person’s GP practice, for that 
information to be forwarded to the person’s GP

 
9. Crime and Disorder Implications

 
9.1 There are no Crime and Disorder implications arising from this report.

 
10. Equalities Implications

 
10.1 The health check programme is successful at reaching the black and 

minority population. Black African, Black other, Asian or Asian British 
and other ethnic groups all used the service more than would be 
expected looking at the demographic make

 

 

10.2   The programme reaches a broad range of ages between 40
As the programme has become more established the age profile of 
those having health checks has become younger. 

 
10.3  The health check programme has increasingly reached mo

the programme has become more established in Lewisham.
 

 

Legal implications 

Legal duties exist for local authorities to make arrangements

For each eligible person aged 40-74 to be offered a NHS Health Check 
once in every five years if they remain eligible 

For the risk assessment to include specific tests and measurements

To ensure the person having their NHS Health Check is told their 
cardiovascular risk score, and other results are communicated to them  

For specific information and data to be recorded and, and where the 
ent is conducted outside the person’s GP practice, for that 

information to be forwarded to the person’s GP 

Crime and Disorder Implications 

There are no Crime and Disorder implications arising from this report.

Equalities Implications 

The health check programme is successful at reaching the black and 
minority population. Black African, Black other, Asian or Asian British 
and other ethnic groups all used the service more than would be 
expected looking at the demographic make-up of Lewisham. 

 

The programme reaches a broad range of ages between 40
As the programme has become more established the age profile of 
those having health checks has become younger.  

The health check programme has increasingly reached mo
programme has become more established in Lewisham.

thorities to make arrangements:- 

74 to be offered a NHS Health Check 

lude specific tests and measurements 

To ensure the person having their NHS Health Check is told their 
cardiovascular risk score, and other results are communicated to them   

For specific information and data to be recorded and, and where the 
ent is conducted outside the person’s GP practice, for that 

There are no Crime and Disorder implications arising from this report. 

The health check programme is successful at reaching the black and 
minority population. Black African, Black other, Asian or Asian British 
and other ethnic groups all used the service more than would be 

am.  

The programme reaches a broad range of ages between 40-74.years.  
As the programme has become more established the age profile of 

The health check programme has increasingly reached more men as 
programme has become more established in Lewisham. 

Page 140



 
 

11. Environmental Implications
 

11.1 There are no Environmental Implications arising from this report.
 
12. Conclusion 
 
12.1 The NHS Health Check is a mandated public health service.
 
12.2  The Lewisham NHS Health Check service is now a well

programme. 
 
12.3   The programme has been successful at identifying people at high risk 

of developing cardiovascular disease.
 
12.4   The programme has identified high numbers of Lewisham 

high  risk of developing diabetes and over six per cent with established 
disease. 

 
12.5  There are plans in place to increase the uptake of health checks in 

Lewisham and increase the numbers of referrals to lifestyle services.
 
 
If there are any queries on this report please contact Frances Fuller
Health, Lewisham Council, on
frances.fuller@lewisham.gov.uk
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Environmental Implications 

There are no Environmental Implications arising from this report.

The NHS Health Check is a mandated public health service.

.2  The Lewisham NHS Health Check service is now a well

.3   The programme has been successful at identifying people at high risk 
of developing cardiovascular disease. 

.4   The programme has identified high numbers of Lewisham 
high  risk of developing diabetes and over six per cent with established 

There are plans in place to increase the uptake of health checks in 
Lewisham and increase the numbers of referrals to lifestyle services.

ny queries on this report please contact Frances Fuller
Health, Lewisham Council, on 0208 314 7543, or by email at:
frances.fuller@lewisham.gov.uk 

There are no Environmental Implications arising from this report. 

The NHS Health Check is a mandated public health service. 

.2  The Lewisham NHS Health Check service is now a well-established 

.3   The programme has been successful at identifying people at high risk 

.4   The programme has identified high numbers of Lewisham residents at 
high  risk of developing diabetes and over six per cent with established 

There are plans in place to increase the uptake of health checks in 
Lewisham and increase the numbers of referrals to lifestyle services. 

ny queries on this report please contact Frances Fuller, Public 
or by email at: 

Page 141



 

 

INFORMATION ITEM E 

 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 This report advises Board members of the definitions and types of Female 

Genital Mutilation (FGM), and the borough approach to tackling FGM.  
 
1.2 The Chair of the Safer Lewisham Board, Cllr Janet Daby, recommended 

after the 23rd March 2015 Board meeting that this report be shared with 
members of this Board. 
 

2. Recommendation/s 
 

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 
 
2.1 Note the definitions, types and prevalence of FGM in Lewisham and 

across London, and the support agencies that are available for support. 
 

3. Policy Context 
 
3.1 FGM has been a specific criminal offence since 1985, under the 

Prohibition of Female Circumcision Act (1985), which was replaced by the 
Female Genital Mutilation Act (2003) (in England, Wales and Northern 
Ireland) with similar terms ratified in the Prohibition of Female Genital 
Mutilation Act (2005) in Scotland. Both Acts carry a maximum penalty of 
14 years imprisonment. 

 
3.2 Under the 2003 Act, a person is guilty of an offence if they excise, 

infibulate or otherwise mutilate the whole or any part of a girl’s or woman’s 
labia majora, labia minora or clitoris, except for necessary operations 
performed by a registered medical practitioner on physical and mental 
health grounds; or an operation performed by a registered medical 
practitioner or midwife – or a person undergoing training with a view to 
becoming a medical practitioner or midwife – on a girl who is in labour or 
has just given birth for purposes connected with the labour or birth . 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Report Title 
 

Lewisham’s Approach to tackling Female Genital Mutilation 

Contributors 
 

Ade Solarin Information 
Item No. 

7E 

Class 
 

Part 1 / Part 2  Date:  07 July 2015 

Strategic 
Context 

Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy has improving 
sexual health as one of its main priority areas.  This report 
advises members on the correlation between sexual health and 
FGM. 

Pathway Safer Lewisham Partnership Board (23rd March 2015). 

Page 142



 

 

3.3 The FGM Act (2003) (and the 2005 Act in Scotland) extended the offence 
to enable prosecution of those who assist a non-UK person to mutilate a 
girl’s genitalia overseas.  

 
3.4 For instance, parents who procured FGM for their daughters outside of the 

UK would be committing a criminal offence, even if they have not carried 
out the procedure themselves, but have made the relevant arrangements. 

 
3.5 Tackling FGM directly contributes to Shaping our future, Lewisham’s 

Sustainable Community Strategy which sets out the vision for Lewisham 
and the priority areas for action between 2008 and 2020.  Addressing this 
public health issue contributes to four of the six of Lewisham’s priority 
outcomes. The four priority outcomes are: 

 

• Safer – where people feel safe and live free from crime, anti-social 
behaviour and abuse 

• Empowered and Responsible – where people are actively involved in their 
local area and contribute to supportive communities 

• Healthy, active and enjoyable – where people can actively participate in 
maintaining and improving their health and well-being. 

• Dynamic and Prosperous – where people are part of vibrant communities 
 
3.6 Tackling FGM in Lewisham also contributes to two of the three aims of the 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy which are; 
 

• To improve health 

• To improve care 
 
4. Background and definitions   
 
4.1 Female genital mutilation (FGM) is the collective term used to describe a 

range of procedures that include the partial or almost total removal of the 
external female genital organs for cultural or other non-therapeutic 
reasons.   

 
4.2  The department of Health, the Home Office, and other government 

agencies collectively acknowledge this definition. It is usually carried out 
on girls between the age of 0 and 15 years old.  

 
4.3  The World Health Organisation (WHO) defines female genital mutilation 

as: “all procedures which involve partial or total removal of the external 
female genitalia or injury to the female genital organs whether for cultural 
or other non-therapeutic reasons” as highlighted below;  

 

World Health Organisation (WHO) classification of female genital 
mutilation: 

Type I: Clitoridectomy: partial or total removal of the clitoris 
(clitoridectomy). 

Type II: Excision: partial or total removal of the clitoris and the labia 
minora, with or without excision of the labia majora. 

Page 143



 

 

Type III: Infibulation: narrowing of the vaginal orifice with creation of a 
covering seal by cutting and appositioning the labia minora and/or 
labia majora with or without excision of the clitoris (infibulation).  

Type IV: All other harmful procedures to the female genitalia for non-
medical purposes, for example: pricking, piercing, incising, scraping 
and cauterisation. 

 
4.4 The Mayor’s Office for Police and Crime (MOPAC) describes FGM as 

involving the complete or partial removal or alteration of external genitalia 
for non-medical reasons. Unlike male circumcision, which is legal in many 
countries, it is now illegal across much of the globe, and its extensive 
harmful health consequences are widely recognised1.   

 
5. Legal and statutory requirements 
 
5.1 Since the 1985 Act on the Prohibition of Female Circumcision, there have 

been no prosecutions for FGM in the UK, though three doctors found to 
have committed serious professional misconduct by the General and the 
Dental Medical Council in relation to FGM were subsequently struck off.  

 
5.2 The link between prosecutions and prevention has been increasingly 

recognised, and concerted action is needed to directly address the 
barriers to prosecution. 

 
5.3 On 6th February, 2014, the government announced a declaration to end 

FGM in the UK and around, and marked International Day of Zero 
Tolerance to Female Genital Mutilation. 

 
5.4 This declaration also brought about changes in statutory agency practice, 

with NHS Hospitals being required from April 2014 to record; if a patient 
has had FGM, if there is a family history of FGM, or if an FGM-related 
procedure has been carried out on a woman - (deinfibulation) 

 
5.5 Since September 2014, all acute hospitals – including Lewisham Hospital 

– are required to report data on FGM centrally to the Department of Health 
on a monthly basis.  

 
5.6 Data collected by Lewisham Hospital and sent to DoH started in 

November 2014. 
 
6. Lewisham context 
 
6.1 Local service provision 
 
6.2 Although the routine collation of data on FGM has commenced via 

Hospitals, and national support services and helplines are prominent, 
however, local service provision in the borough has not always been 
available.  

                                                 
1
 MOPAC VAWG Strategy Refresh 2013 

Page 144



 

 

 
6.3 Africa Advocacy Foundation (AAF), a local charity based in Catford 

helping to promote better health, education and other life opportunities for 
disadvantaged people through practical support, advocacy, information, 
advice, guidance and training , also work to support women and girls 
affected by FGM through advice, counselling and support.  

 
6.4 AAF creates awareness on FGM – with support from council officers – 

through community campaigns, training and outreach utilising the support 
of trained community volunteers as champions. 

 
6.5 All individuals accessing AAF services go through an induction process 

that includes; initial assessments to determine level of need and support 
requires, supported through counselling sessions with a qualified 
counsellor,  given an opportunity to participate in group activities with 
peers allowing them to learn as well as share their experiences on the 
personal journeys as victims/survivors of FGM. 

 
6.6 Those attending for support also access opportunities such as 

volunteering and training and access to employment depending on the 
level of interest and enthusiasm. 

 
6.7 Lewisham conference recognising International Day of Zero Tolerance to 

FGM 
 
6.8 There is a multi-agency FGM Awareness Sub Group which has 

representation across the voluntary and statutory sector agreeing actions 
to raise awareness about FGM with residents and professionals in the 
borough.  

 
6.9 One successful action has been the coordination of Lewisham’s first FGM 

conference specifically focusing on brining community and faith leaders 
together for a progressive dialogue on FGM.  

 
6.10 6th February has been identified by the United Nations as the International 

Day of Zero Tolerance to Female Genital Mutilation and is a UN-
sponsored awareness day that takes place on this day each year. 

 
6.11 It is an effort to make the world aware of female genital mutilation (also 

called FGM) and to promote its eradication.  
 
6.12 Lewisham Council hosted its first conference on 5th February 2015 to 

mark Zero Tolerance to FGM day.  
 
6.13 The Faith Leaders FGM Conference was jointly organised by AAF and 

Lewisham Council to bring together professionals, community members, 
organisations and particularly faith leaders to explore strategies for 
working together to end FGM in Lewisham. 

 

Page 145



 

 

6.14 The event, which was held the Civic Suite in Catford was chaired by 
Councillor Janet Daby and featured a range of presentation and 
discussion topics as follows; 

• FGM Services in Lewisham 
• FGM Impact and Implication 
• Faith Perspectives of FGM 
• Why Say No To FGM  
• Personal Perspectives FGM survivors 
• Suggestions of Future Strategies 
 
6.15 97 participants attended the conference including teachers, health 

workers, social workers, police, and people from the community as well as 
organisations that work with families from practicing communities. 

 
6.16 Feedback from the conference, which included a survivor’s testimony, was 

hugely positive, with several requests for more workshops to be delivered 
within the borough.  

 
6.17 A summary of the feedback from the event is available as Appendix 1 at 

the end of this report. 
 
7. Lewisham context 
 
7.1    International prevalence 

7.2    Globally it is estimated that 140 million women and girls have undergone 
FGM to date and that an additional 3 million women undergo it each year2. 
   

7.3     This estimate is derived from large national surveys, predominantly 
Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS, published by Macro) and Multiple 
Cluster Indicator Surveys (MCIS, published by UNICEF).  

 
7.4    The practice is most common in the western, eastern, and north-eastern 

regions of Africa, in some countries in Asia and the Middle East, and 
amongst migrants from these areas.   

 
7.5    The prevalence and type of FGM practiced vary within some countries 

which may be hidden in country-wide data.   
 
7.6     The table below – from UNICEF – shows a global database based on data 

from Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey, Demographic and Health Survey 
and other national surveys, 1997–2012. 

 

                                                 
2
 World Health Organisation 2013 Female genital mutilation Fact sheet N°241 

(http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs241/en/ Accessed 8
th
 April 2013) 

 
Page 146



 

 

 

7.7    Prevalence in Lewisham 
 

7.8     Lewisham, with a large migrant community from Africa, has residents who 
have undergone or may be at risk of FGM; however the actual number of 
residents affected is not known.   
 

7.9     There are a variety of sources of data and methods for estimating the 
prevalence of FGM, all have limitations and only some are feasible or likely 
to be reliable in Lewisham. 
 

7.10   Primary data 
 
7.11   There are a number of possible routes for collecting primary data on 

women and girls who have undergone FGM when they access healthcare 
services; including cervical screening programmes, family planning and 
sexual health services, abortion services, urology and gynaecology clinics 
and GP registration.   
 

7.12   Cervical screening, urology and gynaecology clinics are not widely 
accessed by women from immigrant communities. 
 

7.13    All Hospitals (including Lewisham Hospital) are now required to routinely 
Page 147



 

 

report monthly data on FGM to NHS England and Department of Health 
(DoH). In Lewisham, this has been occurring since November 2014, 
meaning the data is not extensive.  
 

7.14   However, Midwifery staff performs routine questioning on FGM as part of 
the safeguarding assessment on medical history.  
 

7.15   AAF report supporting 53 women in 2014/2015 who contacted the service 
for support.  
 

7.16   The table below shows the number of contacts for FGM support in 
Lewisham supported by AAF in 2014/2015, ranging from victim care to 
volunteering.  
 

Type of support                                        Age group  Total 

 16 - 24 25 - 44 45 over 60  

One to one (victims) 15 24 14 53* 

Support group 11 19 7 37 

Education support/ 

ESOL 

6 14 9 29 

Volunteering/champions  9 4 2 15 

     

 

7.17   The type of services received above is an indication of the progression of 
support accessed at AAF. After the initial assessment all individuals are 
offered one to one* counselling support depending on their needs. The 
total number amounts to 53. 

 
7.18   They then progress to participate in group sessions with peers to share 

different experiences. Support with education and employability skills are 
also provided. 

 
7.19   The table below shows onward referrals by AAF to specialist clinics.  

 

Reason for referral                                   Age group Total  

 16 - 24          25 - 44  45 and 

over  

 

Deinfibulation/reversal  2 5 0 7 

Page 148



 

 

Repeat infection  3 9 7 19 

FGM type 

confirmation  

2 1 0 3 

Total     29 

 

7.20   Since 1st April 2014, there have been 15 referrals sent as a CAF referral to      
Children Social Care by Lewisham Midwifery Service.  
 

7.21   However, data on the number of CSC contacts in relation to FGM was not 
available at the time of the availability of this report.  

 
8. Financial implications 

 
8.1 There are no direct financial implications.  
 
9. Legal implications 

 
9.1 FGM has been a specific criminal offence since 1985, under the 

Prohibition of Female Circumcision Act (1985), which was replaced by the 
Female Genital Mutilation Act (2003) (in England, Wales and Northern 
Ireland) with similar terms ratified in the Prohibition of Female Genital 
Mutilation Act (2005) in Scotland.  

 
9.2 Both Acts carry a maximum penalty of 14 years imprisonment. 
 
9.3 Under the 2003 Act, a person is guilty of an offence if they excise, 

infibulate or otherwise mutilate the whole or any part of a girl’s or woman’s 
labia majora, labia minora or clitoris, except for necessary operations 
performed by a registered medical practitioner on physical and mental 
health grounds; or an operation performed by a registered medical 
practitioner or midwife – or a person undergoing training with a view to 
becoming a medical practitioner or midwife – on a girl who is in labour or 
has just given birth for purposes connected with the labour or birth . 

 
9.4 The FGM Act (2003) (and the 2005 Act in Scotland) extended the offence 

to enable prosecution of those who assist a non-UK person to mutilate a 
girl’s genitalia overseas. 

 
9.5 Members of the Board are reminded that under Section 195 Health and 

Social Care Act 2012, health and wellbeing boards are under a duty to 
encourage integrated working between the persons who arrange for health 
and social care services in the area. 

 
10. Crime and Disorder Implications 

 
10.1 There are no direct crime and disorder implications. 

 
Page 149



 

 

11. Equalities Implications 
 

11.1 The Council’s Comprehensive Equality Scheme for 2012-2016 provides 
an overarching framework and focus for the Council’s work on equalities 
and help ensure compliance with the Equality Act 2010.  

 
11.2 An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) will be undertaken in the event a 

specialist service is commissioned in the borough to support victims of 
FGM. One of the key quality criteria measured during any framework 
commissioning process is “Processes for addressing equality and 
diversity”. This criterion will continue to be measured for all future 
commissioning. 

 
11.3 An EIA was completed in August 2014 in respect of the newly 

commissioned violence against women and girls (VAWG) service in 
Lewisham using the methodology and approach set out in Lewisham’s 
Equalities Impact Assessment. This assessment has been reviewed, in 
line with updated Equalities Analysis Assessment guidelines, as part of the 
preparation for this report. It has assessed the proposals in line with the 
Equality Act 2010 and considered the potential impact on all nine 
protected characteristics. 
 

12. Environmental Implications 
 

12.1 There are no direct environmental implications. 
 
13. Conclusion 
 
13.1 There is good evidence that there are women and girls in Lewisham who 

have undergone (or are at risk of) FGM.  It is estimated that there are 
about 2000 girls and young women who have or are at risk of undergoing 
FGM in the borough.   

 
13.2 Although there are significant limitations with this estimate it is useful to 

have some idea of the numbers of women affected to guide strategy, 
interventions and services to tackle FGM in the borough. 

 
Any queries on this report please contact Ade Solarin, on 
Adeolu.solarin@lewisham.gov.uk  
 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

Comments from the feedback forms; FGM Conference 

Number of feedback forms received 47. 

Page 150



 

 

Really well organised and facilitated afternoon, great variety of speakers. 

Dr Edwin Mapara presentation was excellent I now have a better understanding of the severity 

of FGM. 

The survivor testimony was hugely powerful.  

I had no doubt that this conference was going to be successful right from the outset but I never 

anticipated that I along with several other attendees were going to be left in tears.... sharing 

tissues. 

Very efficiently run and organised – well done. 

2 very courageous women/survivors here today who spoke very emotional and moving- Thank 

you 

Suggestions from feedback forms  

More workshops to be done around the Borough of Lewisham 

Excellent: clear to the point. Have conferences like this more often in as many settings, boroughs 

and services as possible  

More information on local services 

Sex education, longer sessions  

Have some readymade questions  

Give information to schools for the teachers to attend and more workshops to raise awareness  

Inviting education representative to inform us about is any raising awareness/education is taking 

place in schools about FGM 

Most useful 

Majority of people noted that Dr Mapara presentation and the survivor story brought out the 

seriousness of FGM. All topics were  informative and useful 

Least useful 

Noise and hard to hear everyone 

No parking facilities  

 

Appendix 2 

 

Estimate of FGM Prevalence in Lewisham 

 

1) Number of women girls and women who have undergone or are at risk of FGM 
Page 151



 

 

As with the national estimate of FGM prevalence it is possible to estimate the number of 

girls and women who have either undergone or are at risk of the practice.  The most 

recent available information on FGM prevalence in practising countries can be applied to 

the Lewisham population of that nationality.  

 

Country 

Lewisham 

Female 

Population 

2011 

(all ages) 

FGM 

Prevalence 

(aged 15-49)  

(%) 

Number of 

Women & 

Girls Affected 

or At Risk 

Kenya 344 27.1 93 

Somalia 549 97.9 537 

Ghana 1423 3.8 54 

Nigeria 4777 29.6 1414 

North Africa 590 0-91  

Other Southern and Eastern Africa 1988 0-93  

Other Western and Central Africa 2181 0-95  

Total   2099 

 

The age-specific (15-19) prevalence of the country where each language is spoken was 

applied to the number of female pupils speaking the language in Lewisham to estimate 

the number of girls of school age affected.  As expected from the large Nigerian 

population in Lewisham a number of the languages spoken are Nigerian in origin.  Two 

of the languages are only spoken in specific regions of the country.  The prevalence of 

FGM varies markedly between different regions of Nigeria, from zero to, mainly in the 

north, almost universal coverage.  Therefore it was possible to apply region-specific 

prevalence rates for several Nigerian languages.  Using this method it is estimated that 

374 girls in school in Lewisham have undergone or are at risk of FGM. 

 

 

Page 152



 

12 

 

Appendix 3 

No. Recommendation Action to take 

 

Lead Contact Timescales Cost Action 

Completed? 

 

1 Link in with Childrens Centres and 

Lewisham College 

 

• Make contact with Children Ctrs 

(including Senior SW attached to each 

CC) and LeSoCo safeguarding lead 

around FGM awareness.  

Charlene Noel, 

LBL Crime 

Reduction 

November 

2014 

Nil Childrens Centres Lead 

contacted, waiting on up to 

date list. 

LeSoCo Safeguarding Lead 

David Travis Contacted. 

2 Link in with Red book health checks  • Implement FGM awareness info within 

red books(?) 

Ruth Hutt, LBL 

Public Health 

November  

2014 

Nil Incomplete 

3 Health Visitors to consider providing 

FGM info when completing 6-8 week 

checks.  

• Health visitors to ask questions during 

6-8 week check   

Teresa Ross November 

2014 

Nil Incomplete 

4 Distributing FGM info to Citizens 

Advice Bureau  

• Share FGM resources with CAB Charlene Noel 08 Aug 2014 Nil Complete  

Meeting scheduled with CAB 

on 1/10/2014 

5 Raise FGM awareness on Lewisham 

website 

• FGM info to appear on main banner 

• FGM info to be included in the health 

and wellbeing section of Lewisham 

website 

Liz Fowler, LBL 

NCSS 

 

Ruth Hutt 

29 Aug 2014 

 

29 Aug 2014  

Nil FGM page on the Lewisham 

website  

6 FGM posters • Consideration into FGM info at bus 

stops and shelters 

Natasha 

Shepherd, 

Comms Unit 

November  

2014 

Unkno

wn 

Incomplete 

7 FGM info included with monthly 

online version of Lewisham Life  

• Look into carrying out a case study for 

inclusion in Lewisham Life 

Ruth Hutt and 

Shani Hassan, 

29 Aug 2014 Nil News item on FGM for the 

next Lewisham Life 

P
age 153



 

13 

 

  AAF magazine (Winter 2014).  

Completed and Checked by 

AAF. 

8 FGM pack of information 

 

• Children’s Social Care letter and pack 

that goes out to families when in touch 

created by CSC 

Lisa-Marie 

Alexander, CSC 

November 

2014 

Unkno

wn 

Incomplete 

9 FGM conference with Faith Leaders • Possible conference working with faith 

leaders where other relevant partners 

such as police can attend. 

• To be hosted by Lewisham Libraries  

Shani Hassan 

Charlene Noel 

 

Joan Redding 

September 

2014 

Unkno

wn 

Successful meeting, 

However after much 

discussion The Faith Leader 

conference will take place on 

6/02/2015 as that is National 

FGM Day  it will be held in 

the Civic Suite. 

10 School nurse awareness on FGM • Work with school nurses around raising 

awareness on FGM with school aged 

girls 

Beulah Lewis  November 

2014 

Nil Incomplete 

11 Work with all Senior SW attached to 

every Childrens Centre  

• Check for senior social worker contact 

at every children centre and work with 

them to raise FGM profile.  

Lisa-Marie 

Alexander 

November 

2014 

Nil Incomplete 

12 Midwives and FGM • Explore training for Specialist FGM 

midwives at Lewisham Hospital 

Aine Gallagher November 

2014 

Unkno

wn 

Incomplete 

13 FGM and Maternity/Scans • Pregnant mothers to sign agreement to 

state that they will not carry out FGM 

on their daughters, utilising a similar 

approach at Guys Hospital.  

 

Aine Gallagher November 

2014 

Nil incomplete 

14 FGM and abortions • Discussion before procedure as to 

whether FGM has been experienced. 

Aine Gallagher 29 Aug 2014 Nil Completed 

See email dated 23/09/2014 

P
age 154



 

14 

 

For future info.  

15 Child protection training with school 

 

• Work with schools when they’re doing 

their CP training to include FGM 

resources as part of training 

Marinda Beaton 

 

November 

2014 

Unkno

wn 

Incomplete 

16 FGM education with LeSoCo • Meeting with LeSoCo on safeguarding 

to include FGM and LeSoCo fair. 

•  

Liz Fowler 22 Aug 2014 Nil Completed 

17 Education • Work with primary schools who have 

accepted DV training to also include 

FGM training by AAF.  

• Pilot primary school to be explored and 

identified for September training. 

Charlene Noel 

Shani Hassan 

 

Lisa Fannon 

November 

2014 

Unkno

wn 

Incomplete, I will discuss this 

at the meeting on the 

30/09/2014 

18 Third Party Reporting • Consider using current TPR sites for 

FGM reporting  

Liz Fowler November 

2014 

Nil Incomplete 

19 FGM action plan coordinator • Consider application to graduate 

trainee scheme to allow for a graduate 

trainee allocation 

Charlene Noel 

and Joe 

Badman 

14
th
 August 

2014 

Nil  

 

20 Resources • Ordering resources from the home 

office website 

Charlotte Smith 8
TH

 August 

2014 

Nil Complete, and some more 

material on the way 

21 To raise awareness of FGM with 

staff in sexual health and early 

medical abortion service. 

• To provide training for all sexual health 

and EMA staff around FGM. 

Vivienne 

Johnstone 

September 

2014 

 Complete 

Presentation and discussion 

given to Sexual health nurses 

and Doctors at Waldron 

Clinic 17/09/2014 

22 To raise awareness of FGM amongst 

secondary school age children in 

SRE 

• To incorporate awareness of FGM in 

Year 10 lessons, 6th Form sessions 

and College lessons as part of sex and 

the law. 

Vivienne 

Johnstone 

November  

2014 

 Incomplete 

P
age 155



 

15 

 

 

 

23 To raise awareness of FGM in all 

libraries in the London Borough of 

Lewisham  

• To work in Conjunction with AAF and 

Joan Reading. 

• To provide awareness displays in all 

libraries across Lewisham. 

• To have copies of Possessing The 

Secret of Joy by Alice Walker available 

on all displays.  

Charlene Noel 

Shani Hassan 

Joan Redding 

October  

2014 

Nil Complete  

Libraries booked for October, 

Awareness Material’s 

Ordered and received. 

24 To Organise FGM Sub Group 

Meeting  

To review Action Plan and to create new actions 

if needed. 

Charlene Noel October  

2014 

Nil Complete 

P
age 156



INFORMATION ITEM F 

 
 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1. This report is intended to provide members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with 

an update on Lewisham’s strategic plan for the effective Management of the 
Dementia agenda and the review of the integrated dementia care pathway.  The 
report also seeks agreement to support the further development of the Dementia 
Pathway and subsequent initiatives which will enable a stronger focus on 
prevention, improved experience, outcomes and quality of life for Lewisham service 
users and their carers. 
 

2. Recommendations 

 

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

2.1. Note the content of this update on the Lewisham Dementia Action Plan and 
Pathway Review 
 

3. Policy Context 
 
3.1. Over the last few years the overall development and delivery of dementia services in 

Lewisham has been guided by national policies such as the National Dementia 
Strategy 2009 ‘Living Well with Dementia’, The Prime Minister’s Dementia Challenge 
on Dementia 2015 and 2020.  
 
In August 2007, the Government announced a programme to develop the first 
National Dementia Strategy and implementation plan for England. Following public 
consultation the National Dementia Strategy 2009 ‘Living Well with Dementia’ was 
released. This Strategy outlines three key steps to improve the quality of life for 
people with dementia and their carers: 
 

• Improved awareness 

• Earlier diagnosis and intervention 

• A higher quality of care 
 

The Strategy identifies 17 key objectives which, when implemented at largely local 
level, should result:  
 

• Improvements in the quality of services provided to people with dementia  

• Promote a greater understanding of the causes and consequences of dementia 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Report Title 
 

The Lewisham Dementia Action Plan and Integrated Care Pathway  

 

Contributors 
 

Karin Barthel – Joint Commissioning 
Manager Dementia and MHOA 

Information 
Item No. 

7F 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: 7 July 2015 

Strategic 
Context 

Please see body of the report  

Page 157



 
The Prime Minister’s Dementia Challenge continues to aim to deliver major 
improvements on dementia care and research by 2020. This includes: 
 

• Improved public awareness 

• Understanding of risk factors and prevention 

• Equal access to diagnosis 

• GPs playing a leading role in care-coordination and continuity of care 

• Access to appropriate and meaningful post-diagnostic support 

• Training of NHS-staff 

• And making communities more dementia friendly (including businesses and 
employers) 

• Continuing in conducting research in dementia 
 

4. Background 
 

4.1. It is estimated that there are currently around 2100 people living with dementia in 
Lewisham. National statistics suggest that about two-thirds of these are living in the 
community and the other third are living in care and nursing homes.  

4.2. The JSNA 2010 for Lewisham suggests a significant increase of BME elders in 
Lewisham over the next 20 years requiring dementia services.  

4.3. Lewisham’s goal is for people with dementia and their carers to be supported to live 
well with dementia, no matter what the stage of their illness or where they are in the 
health and social care system. The vision to achieve this is to: 
 

• encourage help-seeking and help-offering (referral for diagnosis) by changing 
public and professional attitudes, understanding and behaviour through training 
and awareness raising 

• make early diagnosis and treatment the rule rather than the exception 

• provide individuals with immediate treatment, care and peer and professional 
support as needed to enable people with dementia and their carers to live well 
with dementia from diagnosis to the end of life 

• making Lewisham a dementia-friendly community where people living with 
dementia and their carers feel part of, understood and valued 

 
5. Progress Update 

 
5.1. Improving Dementia Diagnosis Rate 
 
5.1.1. The basis of the national target for the Dementia Diagnosis Rate is that 67% 

 of the estimated population living with dementia in any one area should have 
 a formal diagnosis of dementia recorded.  

5.1.2. In April 2014 the Lewisham dementia diagnosis rate was 53.5%, which was 
 below the National Target and below the locally agreed  CCG target of 
 58%.  It also put Lewisham in the lower performance quartile compared to 
 other London Boroughs.  

5.1.3. Through a data cleansing exercise and encouragement of GPs to sign up to 
 the Enhanced Service Incentive Scheme for Dementia the dementia 
 diagnosis rate in Lewisham rose to 61.5% in March 2015. 

5.1.4. The rate of 61.5% has put Lewisham above the Lewisham CCG agreed 
 target of 58% but this still remains below the National Target of 67%. 
 Further work needs to be undertaken to achieve the National Target 
 during in 2015/16. This work includes: 
 

Page 158



• An innovative approach identifying patients with dementia in all care-
homes is currently being developed in conjunction with the Health 
Innovation Network (HIN) and their development of the Care-Home-Case-
Finding-Tool. The aim  of this project is not only to increase dementia 
diagnosis rate but also to provide local care-home staff with more skills 
around dementia, improving communication between care-homes and 
primary care as well as promoting the Lewisham Care-Home-
Intervention-Team.   

• All Lewisham GP-practices have been invited to sign up to the new 
Enhanced Service Incentive Scheme for Dementia 15/16.  

 
5.2. Awareness Raising 

   
5.2.1. Lewisham CCG, the London Borough of Lewisham and the Alzheimer’s 

 Society are currently working collaboratively to raise awareness through the 
 Dementia Friends Initiative.  
 

• All CCG-staff are now Dementia Friends 

• 26 lead pharmacists of the Local Pharmacy Committee are now Dementia 
Friends and individual pharmacies have agreed to organise dementia 
friend sessions for their front-line staff.  

• All non-clinical staff at GP practices have been encouraged to become 
Dementia Friends. 

• The Alzheimer’s Society is currently running Dementia Friends sessions 
for local library staff and leisure centre staff.  
 

5.2.2. There are plans to include Dementia Friends sessions in the induction 
 mandatory training for all new council staff. 

5.2.3. There are further plans to run Dementia Friends sessions for all existing 
 council staff. 
 

5.3. Training 
 

5.3.1. Lewisham MindCare services are running well subscribed and attended 
 training days for carers, professionals and interested people on Dementia in 
 Lewisham.  

5.3.2. Council staff have access to Lewisham MindCare training days and are 
 encouraged to attend. All members of staff within the Contracts and 
 Brokerage Team have attended the MindCare training so far.  

5.3.3. An extensive training proposal is being drafted for GPs, Practice Nurses and 
 District Nurses to equip them with a better clinical understanding of dementia 
 to support early diagnosis and treatment as well as appropriate post-
 diagnostic support. 

5.3.4. In line with the Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust’s (LGHT) Dementia 
 Strategy, trust staff are receiving Dementia Awareness training. In  2014/15 
 521 members of staff attended the formal Dementia Awareness Course and a 
 further 99 attended sessions during the induction training  for Band 5 staff 
 nurses and HCAs.  

 
5.4. Lewisham Dementia Action Alliance (DAA) 

 
5.4.1. The Lewisham DAA was founded in December 2014 as a local vehicle to 

 drive the development of a more dementia friendly community. It was officially 
 launched on the 18th May 2015.  

Page 159



5.4.2. At the Launch Event the DAA received the support of Lewisham’s Mayor, Sir 
 Steven Bullock, who  supports the development of a dementia friendly 
 community in Lewisham and  encouraged local businesses to join the 
 Lewisham DAA. 

5.4.3. The event was well attended and received very positive feedback from 
 delegates. It revealed that Lewisham residents from different communities, 
 but in particular from BME-communities, have a real interest in dementia and 
 the services and support available locally. 

5.4.4. Following the successful launch, the Lewisham DAA is currently recruiting 
 new  members to support the DAA’s ambition to make Lewisham a more 
 dementia friendly community where local residents living with dementia  and 
 their carers  feel understood and valued and continue to be active 
 members of our community.   

5.4.5. The DAA is currently working very closely  with a variety of organisations to 
 join the local DAA; these include  Lewisham  and Greenwich NHS 
 Trust and the Local Pharmacy Committee. 

 
5.5. Pathway Review 

 
5.5.1. In 2012 the Lewisham Integrated Memory Service was launched. At the time 

 it was cited across the national dementia literature and considered a 
 gold standard model. 
 

5.5.2. Since 2012 demands on the services and national focus have changed:  
 

• Through rising awareness, demands on the system have risen with 
increasing numbers of patients being referred to the Memory Service every 
year.   

• In 2012 the national focus has been very much on increasing and 
improving  dementia diagnostic rates and diagnostic services. The 
national focus has since widened and now includes the post-
diagnostic support available to service users and their carers. 

• Primary Care will also be expected to take a leading role in the diagnosis, 
care-co-ordination of dementia and therefore treating dementia much more 
as a long-term condition going forward.  

• Locally, performance data for the Memory Service is showing that there 
are long waiting times for patients to be assessed and diagnosed.  

• Meeting GPs at the neighbourhood meetings highlighted that there is a 
requirement to improve communication between primary and secondary 
care. GPs have also indicated that there is a training need to support 
primary care practitioners to confidently diagnose and  support dementia 
patients.  

• The focus of the Lewisham Dementia Pathway is mainly on diagnosis  and 
post-diagnostic support. It currently does not include prevention.    

 
5.5.3. To develop the pathway to more appropriately meet the local needs the Joint 

 Commissioning Unit decided to undertake a pathway mapping exercise for 
 dementia in conjunction with SLaM, LGHT, GP Lead and MindCare 
 (Voluntary sector agency) to ensure that we develop and deliver holistic  
 integrated care packages to service users and their carers. 

5.5.4. The pathway mapping exercise for the current dementia pathway was 
 conducted on the 9th June 2015. The following developmental issues were 
 highlighted for action: 

 

Page 160



• A previously existing Dementia Pathway Operational Group had been 
discontinued due to staff changes. This will now be re- instated to further 
develop, review and inform the pathway. 

• The pathway requires further  integration between health, social care and 
the voluntary sector in order to appropriately support operation of 
integrated care packages  

• Communication between different stakeholders at the most significant 
points of transfer within the pathway needs to improve.  

• The development of preventative and early identification initiatives need to 
be an integral part of the pathway.  
 

5.5.5. The Joint Commissioning Unit will be working with the Dementia  Pathway 
 Operational Group to review and develop a fully Integrated Dementia 
 Pathway. This includes working together with stakeholders around the 
 integration agenda. This includes establishing links with other pathways such 
 as the falls prevention pathway 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1. The dementia services and pathway review are funded by the dementia budget held 

by the CCG, but are managed via the Joint Commissioning Team based in the local 
authority Community Services Department. 
 

6.2. There are no specific financial implications for Lewisham Council as a result of the 
delivery of the current dementia services and the pathway review. 

 
7. Legal Implications 

 
7.1. There are no specific implications 

 
7.2.  Members of the Board are reminded that under Section 195 of the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012, health and wellbeing boards are under a duty to encourage 
integrated working between the persons who arrange for health and social care 
services in the area. 
 

8. Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
8.1. There are no specific implications   

 
9. Equalities Implication 

 
9.1. Any potential service development or significant service change as part of the 

pathway review will require Equality Analysis Assessment to be undertaken by the 
service providers and/or commissioning lead.  
 

9.2. The improvements of the Dementia Diagnosis Rate is intended to increase the 
numbers of patients in treatment and support, all services will need to consider the 
increase in service access by those with protected characteristics to ensure that 
services are suited to meet their needs. 

 
10. Environmental Implication 

 
10.1. There are no specific implications 

 

Page 161



11. Conclusion  
 
11.1. The Dementia Action Plan and Pathway Review are focused on improving the 

 experience of service provision and the quality of life of Lewisham residents 
 with dementia. 

11.2. It is integral for the Pathway Development to be working alongside the 
 Integration Agenda. The Joint Commissioning Unit has already been working 
 alongside the GPs in Neighbourhood Forums but representatives of the 
 dementia pathway are expected to have a presence in all neighbourhoods. 

11.3. Innovative approaches are being developed to further increase the dementia 
 diagnosis rate in Lewisham in particular in the care home population. This 
 works is conducted in conjunction with the Health Innovation Network (HIN) 
 and their research around the development of the Care-Home-Case-Finding-
 Tool. 
 

• By working with Care- and Nursing-Home staff it is hoped that staff will be 
supported to develop more skills around dementia, improve communication 
between care-homes and primary care as well as promote the Lewisham 
Care-Home-Intervention-Team as well as other services and training 
facilitators (such as MindCare) available to Care-Home staff and their 
residents.  

11.4. Additional training needs to be provided to Home Care Providers in particular 

 around end-of-life care for people with dementia.  

11.5. New members are being recruited for the Lewisham DAA to ensure the 
 development of a more dementia friendly community. 

11.6. Specific emphasis is given on reviewing, updating and promoting the 
 Lewisham dementia pathway. The application of a wider public health 
 approach is to be considered to inform the dementia  pathway further on 
 preventative measures. This should include work around health checks. 
 Working alongside  the Integration Agenda is imperative to ensure the 
 involvement of the wider  services providers in the pathway. 

11.7. It is proposed that an update on the progress of the 2015/16 Dementia Plan 
 and Pathway Review be submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board in 
 October 2015. 

 
12. Background Documents 

 
Prime Minister’s Dementia Challenge 2020 

The National Dementia Strategy 

Improving care for people with dementia 

Lewisham’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

Dementia Prevalence Calculator  
 

 

 

 

If you would like further information on this report, please contact Karin Barthel, Joint 

Commissioning Manager Dementia and MHOA, Tel. 020 8314 3877, 

Karin.barthel@nhs.net 

Page 162


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of last meeting and matters arising / Action Tracker
	HWB 7 July 15 Action Tracker

	2 Declarations of interest
	3 South East London Consolidated Strategy: Our Healthier South East London
	Appendix 1 - SEL Issues Paper

	4 Adult Integrated Care Programme, Better Care Fund and Joint Commissioning
	5 Behaviour Change through Brief Interventions
	6 Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme
	Item 6 HWB 7 July 15 Work Programme Report - Appendix 1

	7 Information items
	Information Item 7A HWB 7 July 15 Dashboard Annex A
	Information Item 7B HWB 7 July 15 Healthwatch Annual Report 2014-15
	Information Item 7C - HWB 7 July 15 Community Connections HWB report
	Information Item 7C - HWB 7 July 15  Community Connections Evaluation Report APPENDIX 1
	Information Item 7D HWB 7 July 15 NHS Health Checks
	Information Item 7E HWB 7 July 15 Approach to Tackling FGM
	Information Item 7F HWB 7 July 15 Dementia Action Plan


